Problemas Variacionales Geométricos en Grupos de Lie Nilpotentes



UNIVERSIDAD DE GRANADA

Tesis doctoral

Julián Pozuelo Domínguez Departamento de Geometría y topología Universidad de Granada

Editor: Universidad de Granada. Tesis Doctorales Autor: Julián Pozuelo Domínguez ISBN: 978-84-1117-623-1 URI: <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10481/79143</u>

Problemas Variacionales Geométricos en Grupos de Lie Nilpotentes

Memoria presentada para optar al título de Doctor Programa de doctorado de física y matemáticas

Dirigida por Manuel María Ritoré Cortés

Departamento de Geometría y topología Universidad de Granada

Agradecimientos

Quiero empezar agradeciendo a mi familia, y particularmente a mis padres, que siempre hayan estado para apoyarme y aconsejarme.

Me siento afortunado de haber tenido como tutor a Manuel Ritoré, de quien he podido aprender mucho durante estos años, y le agradezco sinceramente su ayuda y su consejo.

Como no podía ser de otra manera, agradezco a mis compañeros de doctorado del IMAG. Recuerdo llegar al IMAG y encontrarme únicamente con Fidel, quien rápidamente se mudó al despacho de la segunda planta y así empazamos nuestra amistad. Posteriormente llegó David, con quien he pasado tanto tiempo en el despacho y con quien sigo pasando tiempo en él. He tenido la suerte de compartir despacho con los 'veteranos' Antonio y Jesús, así como con lo nuevos compañeros como Diego, y aunque no estén presentes en la misma sala, también incluiré a Daniel, Jorge y José pues se sienten como parte de él. Gracias a todos por los momentos que hemos pasado tanto en el despacho, compartiendo dudas, como fuera de él.

Empecé el doctorado junto con Manuel y lo acabaremos a la par, aunque para mí es una amistad con la que desde el primer día siempre he podido contar. También me gustaría agradecer a Jesús, Víctor y Mauri esos ratos que pasamos juntos. Me habría gustado haber podido estar mas tiempo con vosotros.

Las estancias en Pittsburgh, y especialmente, en Trento no habrían podido ser igual de no ser por Gianmarco y Simone, siempre dispuestos a echar un café, hablar de matemáticas o echar una tarde jugando al ping pong. Gracias por las grandes amistades que me llevo.

Agradezco a Juan Manfredi y Andrea Pinamonti por haberme acogido durante las estancias en el extranjero y por toda la ayuda que me brindaron.

Me gustaría dar las gracias a todos los compañeros del departamento de

geometría y topología por su apoyo.

Finalmente, agradezco a Rocío por haber estado siempre ahí para apoyarme durante esta etapa, a pesar de que no siempre ha sido fácil, pues no siempre ha sido posible entender bien los problemas que a veces me surgían, siempre has hecho el mayor de los esfuerzos.

Contents

List of Symbols ix					
Resumen xi					
1	Inti	roduction	1		
	1.1	State of the art	1		
	1.2	Summary and conclusions	8		
2	Nil	potent groups and sub-Finsler perimeter	19		
	2.1	Carnot-Carathéodory spaces	19		
		2.1.1 Minkowski norms	20		
		2.1.2 Sub-Finsler Carnot-Carathéodory spaces	22		
	2.2	Nilpotent groups	22		
		2.2.1 Sub-Finsler Carnot groups	25		
		2.2.2 The Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^n	28		
	2.3	(X, K)-variation and (X, K) -Caccioppoli sets	29		
		2.3.1 Representations of the (X, K) -variation	32		
3	Exi	stence of isoperimetric regions in sub-Finsler nilpotent			
	gro		35		
	3.1	Preliminaries	37		
		3.1.1 Isoperimetric inequality for small volumes	38		
	3.2	Properties of isoperimetric regions	39		
	3.3	Existence of isoperimetric regions	43		
4	The	e Brunn-Minkowski inequality in nilpotent groups	47		
	4.1	The Brunn-Minkowski inequality	48		
		4.1.1 A sufficient condition for strict inequality in the Heisen-			
		berg group	53		
	4.2	Consequences	54		
5	Par	su-Wulff shapes in \mathbb{H}^1	59		

	5.1	The pseudo-hermitian connection	61
	5.2	First variation of sub-Finsler area	62
	5.3	Pansu-Wulff spheres and examples	70
	5.4	Geometric properties of the Pansu-Wulff spheres	77
	5.5	Minimization property of the Pansu-Wulff shapes	85
		5.5.1 A uniqueness result in $rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}$	90
6	Area	a-minimizing graphs in \mathbb{H}^1	97
	6.1	The first variation formula and a stationary condition \ldots .	97
	6.2	Examples of minimizing graphs with one singular line	99
	6.3	Area-Minimizing Cones in \mathbb{H}^1	106
7	The	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n	109
7	The 7.1	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries	109 111
7	The 7.1	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries7.1.1Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space	109 111 111
7	The 7.1	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries7.1.1Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space7.1.2Sub-Finsler area	109 111 111 117
7	The 7.1	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries7.1.1Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space7.1.2Sub-Finsler area7.1.3The sub-Finsler PMC equation	109 111 111 117 118
7	The 7.1 7.2	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries7.1.1Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space7.1.2Sub-Finsler area7.1.3The sub-Finsler PMC equationThe Finsler approximation problem	 109 111 111 117 118 119
7	The 7.1 7.2	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries	 109 111 111 117 118 119 122
7	The 7.1 7.2 7.3	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries7.1.1Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space7.1.2Sub-Finsler area7.1.3The sub-Finsler PMC equationThe Finsler approximation problem7.2.1The Finsler PMC equationA priori estimates for the Finsler PMC equation	 109 111 111 117 118 119 122 123
7	The 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	PMC equation in \mathbb{H}^n Preliminaries7.1.1Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space7.1.2Sub-Finsler area7.1.3The sub-Finsler PMC equationThe Finsler approximation problem7.2.1The Finsler PMC equationA priori estimates for the Finsler PMC equationExistence of minimizer for the sub-Finsler functional	 109 111 111 117 118 119 122 123 136

List of Symbols

\mathbb{R}^{d}	d-dimensional Euclidean space
\mathbb{C}^n	<i>n</i> -dimensional Complex space
\mathbb{H}^n	<i>n</i> -dimensional Heisenberg group
\mathbb{S}^n	<i>n</i> -dimensional Euclidean sphere
\mathbb{B}_K	Pansu-Wulff shape related to K
\mathbb{S}_K	Pansu-Wulff sphere related to K
g	Lie algebra of a Lie group G
TM, T_pM	tangent bundle and tangent space at p
$\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_p$	horizontal distribution and horizontal subspace at \boldsymbol{p}
d	Carnot-Carathéodory distance
d_K	sub-Finsler distance
$d_{K,\Sigma}$	Finsler distance from a hypersurface Σ
$B_{eu}(p,r)$	Euclidean open ball centered at p of radius r
B(p,r)	sub-Riemannian open ball centered at p of radius r
$B_K(p,r)$	Finsler open ball centered at p of radius r
$ar{F}$	closure of a set F
#F	cardinal of a set F
χ_F	characteristic function of a set F
∂F	topological boundary of a set F
F_s	set of points with density s with respect to F
$P(F; \cdot), \partial F $	sub-Riemannian perimeter measure of a set F
$P_K(F; \cdot), \partial F _K$	sub-Finsler perimeter measure of a set F
$ F _n$	n-dimensional Lebesgue measure of a set F
F	<i>d</i> -dimensional Lebesgue measure of a set F in \mathbb{R}^d
\mathcal{H}^{s}	s-dimensional Hausdorff measure
μ	Haar measure on a Lie group

C	compactly contained
Δ	symmetric difference of sets
\oplus	direct sum of vector spaces
×	Cartesian product of sets
$\operatorname{span}(A)$	subspace spanned by A
[p,q]	segment joining p and q
$p \cdot q$	group product between p and q in a group G
ℓ_n	left-translation in G by p
δ_r	dilation in a Carnot group G of factor r
p	Euclidean norm of p
$ p _{K}, p _{*}$	Minkowski norm and dual norm of p associated to K
$\dot{\gamma}, \gamma'$	time derivative of a curve γ
$v^{ op}$	tangential part of v
$\frac{\partial f}{\partial v}, \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \partial_v f$	partial derivative of f with respect to v
$g,\langle\cdot,\cdot angle$	Riemannian metric
D	Levi-Civita connection
$\frac{D}{ds}$	covariant derivative related to D
∇	pseudo-hermitian connection
$\frac{\nabla}{ds}$	covariant derivative related to $ abla$
$\exp(U)$	exponential of a vector field U in a Lie group
[U,V]	Lie bracket of the vector fields U and V
$ U _{\infty,K}$	infinity norm related to $ \cdot _{K}$
U_h	horizontal projection of U
N	unit normal vector
$ u_h$	horizontal unit normal vector
$ u_K$	horizontal unit normal vector related to K
\mathcal{N}_K	Gauss map of K
π_K,π	projection over K
h_K	support function of K
$H_{K,\Sigma}$	Finsler mean curvature of Σ
C^n_+	set of C^n convex bodies whose boundary
	has strictly positive curvature

Resumen

En 1982, Pierre Pansu terminó su tesis doctoral [136], centrada en la geometría de los grupos de Heisenberg. Estos grupos, denotados por \mathbb{H}^n , se pueden ver como $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ junto con el producto de grupo dado por

$$(z,t) * (w,s) = \left(z + w, t + s + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{Im}(z_i \bar{w}_i)\right),$$

y una base global de campos vectoriales invariantes a izquierdas dados por

$$X_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \quad Y_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} - x_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \quad T = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}.$$

El grupo de Heisenberg riemanniano se obtiene al considerar una métrica riemanniana invariante a izquierda haciendo $X_1, Y_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_n, T$ ortonormales. Remarcamos que $X_1, Y_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_n$ satisfacen la llamada condición de Hörmander. En su trabajo, Pansu probó que la dimensión de Hausdorff de \mathbb{H}^1 con la métrica de Carnot-Carathéodory es 4, y obtuvo la desigualdad isoperimétrica para conjuntos abiertos con frontera C^1 dada por

$$\mathcal{H}^4(D) \leqslant \left(\frac{12}{\pi}\right)^{1/3} \mathcal{H}^3(D)^{3/4},$$

donde \mathcal{H}^s es la medida de Hausdorff *s*-dimensional con respecto a la distancia de Carnot-Carathéodory. Además, Pansu probó que el exponente 3/4 es óptimo mientras que la constante $12/\pi$ no lo es. Observó que, tomando una geodésica conectando el origen con un punto (0, 0, p), todas las rotaciones de γ sobre el eje vertical son también geodésicas conectando el origen y (0, 0, p)y la unión de γ y todas sus rotaciones forman una esfera con curvatura media constante. Pansu conjeturó que dichas esferas, posteriormente denominadas esferas de Pansu, son las únicas regiones isoperimétricas en \mathbb{H}^1 , conjetura que sigue abierta en este momento.

El objetivo de esta tesis es el estudio de problemas variacionales geométricos en grupos de Lie nilpotentes con una estructura sub-finsleriana. Este ambiente extiende la geometría de finsleriana al ámbito de la geometría sub-riemanniana de los grupos de nilpotentes considerando una norma invariante a izquierda en la distribución horizontal del grupo.

En el capítulo 2 expondremos las principales características de los espacios de Carnot-Carathéodory y de los grupos de Lie nilpotentes. Diremos que una distribución \mathcal{H} en un grupo de Lie nilpotente G es horizontal si al tomar sucesivos corchetes de Lie de campos en \mathcal{H} se obtiene el álgebra de Lie \mathfrak{g} de G. Fijada una distribución horizontal invariante a izquierda \mathcal{H} , dotaremos a G de estructura sub-finsleriana tomando una norma en \mathcal{H}_0 . En el caso de tomar una norma euclídea se obtiene un a estructura sub-riemanniana. Estructuras sub-finslerianas simétricas han sido estudiadas recientemente, especialmente relacionadas con el estudio de las geodésicas, en los trabajos de Ardentov, Le Donne y Sachkov [8], y por Barilari, Boscain, Le Donne v Sigalotti [12]. Pueden verse algunas propiedades de las distancias asociadas a estructuras sub-finslerianas asimétricas en [119; 120] y [40]. Tomando una base X de \mathcal{H} formada por campos invariantes a izquierda, daremos una noción de (X, K)-perímetro relacionado con la estructura sub-finsleriana mediante la variación de su función característica, siguiendo el procedimiento establecido con Ritoré en [142] (véase también [69]). La noción de contenido de Minkowski asociado a una estructura sub-finsleriana fue introducida por Sánchez [154]. Obtendremos una relación entre el (X, K)-perímetro con el perímetro sub-riemanniano en el teorema 2.3.3.

En el capítulo 3 consideraremos un grupo de Lie nilpotente G con una familia de campos vectoriales invariantes a izquierda X generando una distribución horizontal, y una norma $|\cdot|_{K}$ invariante a izquierda asociada a un cuerpo convexo K. Como parte de un trabajo en desarrollo, estudiaremos la existencia de regiones isoperimétricas para cualquier volumen siguiendo los argumentos de Galli y Ritoré en [77]. Además, se obtendrán propiedades geométricas de dichas regiones como su acotación o que su frontera topológica y esencial coinciden.

Algunos resultados en geometría sub-riemanniana sobre la existencia de dichas regiones isoperimétricas son los obtenidos por Galli y Ritoré en variedades de contacto sub-riemannianas [77] y el resultado de Rigot y Leonardi en grupos de Carnot [109]. De especial importancia es el lema de deformación, el cual aparece en una gran variedad de referencias en la literatura, algunas de ellas en [6; 7; 77; 114; 122; 131; 134].

En el capítulo 4 expondremos los resultados obtenidos en [141]. Generalizaremos la desigualdad de Brunn-Minkowski clásica sustituyendo la suma de Minkowski de conjuntos por un producto $*: \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ de la forma

$$z * w = z + w + (F_1, F_2(z, w), \dots, F_d(z, w)) = z + w + F(z, w), \quad (*)$$

donde F_1 es una constante y F_i son funciones continuas que dependen solo de $z_1, \ldots, z_{i-1}, w_1, \ldots, w_{i-1} \quad \forall i = 2, \ldots, d$. Aquí entendemos por un producto cualquier operación binaria sin asumir más propiedades como la asociatividad. Probaremos que para cada $A, B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ conjuntos medibles tales que

A * B es medible, se tiene que

$$|A * B|^{1/d} \ge |A|^{1/d} + |B|^{1/d}.$$

El producto de cualquier grupo de Lie nilpotente es de la forma (*) debido a la expresión del producto del grupo en coordenadas exponenciales de primer tipo. Este resultado generaliza al obtenido por Leonardi y Masnou [108] en grupos de Heisenberg.

La desigualdad de Brunn-Minkowski tiene especial relevancia en la geometría convexa [156; 81]. Algunas de sus consecuencias más relevantes están ligadas a las propiedades de las medidas de tipo gaussianas [21; 17], así como en la teoría de transporte óptimo [102; 9; 13; 121]. Algunas pruebas conocidas pueden verse en [81; 94; 104].

En geometría sub-riemanniana, Monti [124] probó que la generalización de la desigualdad de Brunn-Minkowski multiplicativa en \mathbb{H}^n no puede tener exponente $(2n + 2)^{-1}$, hecho que fue mejorado posteriormente por Juillet [102], quien probó que no puede darse la desigualdad usando exponente menor que $(2n+1)^{-1}$. Leonardi y Masnou [108] probaron que la desigualdad se da con exponente $(2n + 1)^{-1}$, correspondiente a la dimensión topológica de \mathbb{H}^n , y finalmente Tao [160; 161] explicó en una entrada en su blog como producir una desigualdad de Prékopa-Leindler en cualquier grupo nilpotente, desigualdad equivalente a la de Brunn-Minkowski. Posteriormente a la escritura del artículo [141], el autor fue informado de que Bobkov probó idéntico resultado en [16].

En el capítulo 5 incluiremos los resultados obtenidos con Ritoré en [142]. Consideraremos puntos críticos del perímetro asociado a una estructura subfinsleriana en el primer grupo de Heisenberg \mathbb{H}^1 . En el caso de que la frontera S de E sea una superficie C^1 o lipschitziana, el perímetro de E viene dado por el funcional de área sub-finsleriana

$$A_K(S) = \int_S |N_h|_{K,*} \, dS,$$

donde $|\cdot|_{K,*}$ es la norma dual de $|\cdot|_K$, N_h es la proyección ortogonal sobre la distribución horizontal del vector unitario riemanniano N, y dS es la medida riemanniana de S.

Si consideramos un cuerpo convexo K con frontera de clase C^2 con curvatura geodésica positiva, podemos calcular la primera variación del funcional de área asociado a un campo vectorial U con soporte compacto en la parte regular de S como

$$A'_K(0) = \int_S u\left(\operatorname{div}_S \eta_K\right) dS.$$

La función $H_K = \operatorname{div}_S \eta_K$ se denomina la curvatura media de S. Comprobaremos que la curvatura media está localizada en las curvas horizontales de S. Probaremos que dichas curvas satisfacen una ecuación diferencial, por lo que podremos clasificar superficies de curvatura media prescrita clasificando soluciones de una ecuación diferencial ordinaria y mirando la interacción de dichas curvas con el conjunto singular S_0 de S, compuesto por aquellos puntos donde el plano tangente es horizontal, como se hizo en [151] en el caso del perímetro sub-riemanniano.

Un observación clave es que las rectas horizontales son soluciones de $H_K = 0$ mientras que los levantamientos horizontales de ∂K son soluciones de $H_K = 1$. La convexidad estricta de K junto a la invarianza de la ecuación por traslaciones a izquierda y dilataciones implica que todas las soluciones son de dicho tipo.

De ésta manera, construiremos el conjunto \mathbb{B}_K obtenido como el conjunto encerrado por los levantamientos horizontales de todas las traslaciones de la curva ∂K que contienen a 0. Comprobaremos que de esta manera se obtiene una esfera topológica \mathbb{S}_K con dos polos sobre la misma recta vertical, que es la unión de dos grafos. Además, la frontera de \mathbb{B}_K es C^2 fuera de los polos, mientras que tiene regularidad C^2 sobre los polos. Cuando K = Des el disco unidad, estos conjuntos fueron construidos por P. Pansu [137] y son comúnmente denominadas esferas de Pansu. Dichas esferas son de clase C^2 pero no C^3 cerca de los puntos singulares, como se puede ver en la proposición 3.15 en [46].



Figure 1: El conjunto \mathbb{B}_K cuando K es la bola unidad de la r-norma $||(x,y)||_r = (|x|^r + |y|^r)^{1/r}, r = 1.5$

Observamos que estas esferas tienen curvatura media constante. Por tanto, son puntos críticos del funcional de área sub-finsleriano bajo una restricción de volumen. En la sección 5.5 probaremos que, bajo una condición geométrica, todo conjunto de perímetro finito con el mismo volumen que \mathbb{B}_K tiene mayor perímetro o igual que dicho conjunto \mathbb{B}_K . Resumen



Figure 2: El conjunto \mathbb{B}_K cuando K es una aproximación regular de la norma triangular

Algunos resultados parciales sobre la conjetura de Pansu pueden verse en [125; 126; 124; 151; 34; 147; 31; 33; 68; 108], asumiendo que los candidatos pertenecen a una cierta familia de conjuntos. La monografía [27] proporciona un estudio bastante completo de los resultados conocidos.

El capítulo 6 está dedicado a los resultados obtenidos con Giovannardi y Ritoré en [87]. En dicho capítulo, estudiaremos grafos horizontales enteros que sean area-minimizantes en \mathbb{H}^1 con una estructura sub-finsleriana invariante a izquierda. Dichos ejemplos están basados en los correspondientes en el caso sub-riemanniano obtenidos en [146], y la mayoría de ellos tienen una regularidad únicamente lipschitziana. Además se expondrán ejemplos de conos area-minimizantes, en el espíritu de [91].

El capítulo 7 está dedicado a algunos de los resultados obtenidos durante la estancia en la Università di Trento en colaboración con Giovannardi, Pinamonti y Verzellesi. Estudiaremos la ecuación de curvatura media prescrita para t-grafos en un grupo de Heisenberg \mathbb{H}^n con una estructura sub-finsleriana invariante a izquierda. Consideraremos el funcional

$$\mathcal{I}(u) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u + F|_{K_{0},*} \, dx \, dy + \int_{\Omega} H u \, dx \, dy, \tag{i}$$

donde $|\cdot|_{K_{0},*}$ denota la norma dual de $|\cdot|_{K_{0}}$. En particular, cuando F(x, y) = (-y, x) el primer término de (i) coincide con el área sub-finsleriana del t-grafo de u. Además, si K_{0} es la bola euclídea centrada en el origen y H = 0 entonces (i) expresa el funcional de área sub-riemanniano para t-grafos en el grupo de Heisenberg, como se puede ver en [33; 99] y las referencias contenidas. Decimos que el grafo de u tiene K_{0} -curvatura media prescrita H en Ω si u es un minimizante de \mathcal{I} . La ecuación de Euler-Lagrange asociada a

fuera del conjunto singular, ésto es, los puntos donde $\nabla u + F$ se anula, viene dada por

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi_{K_0}(\nabla u + F)) = H,\tag{ii}$$

donde π_{K_0} es una cierta función 0-homogénea definida en (2.1.5). Nuestro resultado más importante es el teorema 7.4.1, donde probamos que, bajo ciertas condiciones de regularidad en el dato al borde, existe una solución lipschitziana al problema de Dirichlet para la ecuación de curvatura media prescrita siempre que H sea constante y verifique que

$$|H| < H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) \tag{iii}$$

para cada z_0 en $\partial\Omega$, donde $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ denota la curvatura media finsleriana a la frontera $\partial\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$. La acotación (iii) de H en términos de la curvatura media finsleriana del borde del dominio es la condición análoga a la condición clásica de solución del problema de Dirichlet para la ecuación de curvatura media en el espacio euclídeo, como puede verse en [158], [84] o [83] (véase también [85, Theorem 16.11]). Éste problema ha sido estudiado en el primer grupo de Heisenberg riemanniano en [2] bajo la misma condición de H. En el caso sub-riemanniano, dicho problema de Dirichlet con H = 0 ha sido estudiado en [138; 35; 33; 32; 58; 139].

La demostración del teorema 7.4.1 sigue el esquema desarrollado en [2]. Estudiaremos la familia de ecuaciones elípticas

div
$$\left(\pi_{K_0}(\nabla u + F) \frac{|\nabla u + F|_*^2}{(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|_*^3)^{\frac{3}{2}}}\right) = H,$$
 (iv)

donde $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. Dicha familia de ecuaciones se obtienen considerando una sucesión de cuerpos convexos K_{ε} en \mathbb{R}^{2n+1} conteniendo el origen y convergiendo a K_0 con la distancia de Hausdorff. La elección de K_{ε} no es arbitraria. Consideramos para cada $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ la norma invariante a izquierda en $T\mathbb{H}^n$ asociada a K_{ε} , cuyo funcional del área finsleriana viene dado por

$$\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|^3_{K_0,*} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} dx dy + \int_{\Omega} H u \, dx dy.$$

Dado un dato al borde $\varphi \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$, la resolución del problema de Dirichlet asociado a la ecuación res:I se reduce a probar estimaciones $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ a priori. Dichas estimaciones se reducen de forma habitual a probar tres pasos: estimar el supremo de |u|, estimar el gradiente de u la frontera y estimar el gradiente de u en el interior. Las dos primeras estimaciones se siguen usando un argumento de barreras, las cuales dependen de la distancia finsleriana desde la frontera $\partial\Omega$. Remarcamos que dichas estimaciones se siguen en el caso de considerar la curvatura H no constante y lipschitziana. En el caso de que H no sea constante, para obtener la estimación de |u| asumiremos que existe $\delta \in (0, 1]$ tal que

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} Hv \, dx dy \right| \leqslant (1-\delta) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|_{K_{0},*} \, dx dy \tag{v}$$

para cada $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. La condición (v) con $\delta = 0$ puede verse que es necesaria al integrar por partes la ecuación (iv). Además, en el espacio euclídeo, Giusti [90] probó que es también suficiente para la existencia de soluciones para la ecuación de curvatura media prescrita. Además, probamos que para el caso $\delta > 0$, la condición (v) es redundante cuando H = 0es constante. El único paso en el que usaremos de manera crucial que Hes constante es al usar un principio del máximo para el gradiente de una solución que permite reducir la estimación del gradiente en el interior a su estimación en la frontera. Una observación clave es que las estimaciones C^1 obtenidas son independientes de ε , por lo que podremos usar el teorema de Arzelà-Ascoli para obtener la existencia de un minimizante lipschitziano del problema de Dirichlet para la curvatura media.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 State of the art

The decade of 50 saw the dawn of the branch in mathematics known nowadays as Geometric Measure Theory. In 1952, Renato Caccioppoli published his work Misura e integrazione sugli insiemi dimensionalmente orientati [23], where among other results, he studied the family of sets approximable by polyhedral domains of finite perimeter and called a set F of finite perimeter whenever the minimum limit of the perimeters of the polyhedra approximating F in media is finite. Caccioppoli also defined the perimeter using the notion of function of bounded variation on several variables developed by Lamberto Cesari [29] in 1936. Thus a set F has finite perimeter if, and only if, its characteristic function has bounded variation. In 1954 Ennio de Giorgi published Su una teoria generale della misura (r-1)-dimensionale in uno spazio ad r dimensioni [50], where he proved that smoothing the characteristic function of a set F, the limit of the variation of the approximations is precisely the perimeter of F. Moreover, he established a divergence theorem for F as a limit in the divergence formula of the approximations. In the following years, De Giorgi developed the theory of finite perimeter sets in [51; 52], proving that the perimeter is supported in the so called reduced boundary. In 1958, after the death of Caccioppoli, he started to use the name Caccioppoli sets for finite perimeter sets.

Later on in the 60s, another keystone on Geometric Measure Theory was developed, the introduction of rectifiable and integral currents. In the paper Normal and Integral Currents [63], Federer and Fleming used the definition of currents given by Rham in 1955, to show that Plateau's problem has solution in the class of integral currents. The name Geometric Measure Theory was probably first used by Federer, and in 1969, he published his famous book Geometric Measure Theory [61], one of the most cited text books in mathematics, devoted to rectifiability and integral currents. Federer showed that Caccioppoli sets are normal currents of dimension n in n-dimensional

space. It is worth mentioning that, although the theory of Caccioppoli sets can be studied as part of the theory of currents, it is usual to use the approach of functions of bounded variation.

Soon after these results, contemporary authors encountered the difficult problem of regularity. This problem consists in proving that Caccioppoli sets or k-dimensional currents satisfying an area minimizing condition are necessarily locally smooth manifolds of dimension k, except for a set of singular points with small Hausdorff dimension. The first important results on this problem are due to Reifenberg [144] and De Giorgi [53], who proved that the singular set of a locally area minimizing set has k-dimensional Hausdorff measure 0. Almgren proved [3] in the decade of the 60s almost everywhere regularity for Plateau's problem and a broader class of geometric variational problems. In the particular case of k = n - 1, the existence of singular points is closely related to the question of whether hyperplanes are the only n-1-dimensional cones in \mathbb{R}^n which are locally minimal. It is natural to think that the answer is positive, and Fleming proved in [65] that it is true in dimension n = 3, a result later generalized by De Giorgi, Almgren and Simons to dimension $n \leq 7$, so that area minimizer Caccioppoli sets have no singular points in dimension $n \leq 7$. However, in dimension 8 Bombieri, De Giorgi and Giusti provided a counterexample in [18], the Simons' cone. This cone is given in $\mathbb{R}^8 = \mathbb{R}^4 \times \mathbb{R}^4$ by |x| = |y|, where x and y are in \mathbb{R}^4 . As it was showed in [18], Simons' cone is locally area minimizing with a singular point at its vertex 0. This result also implies a negative answer for the Bernstein problem in dimension 8. By these contributions to the Bernstein problem, and contributions on number theory, Enrico Bombieri was awarded the Fields medal in 1974. Federer generalized this result to dimension > 8in [62], proving that the singular set has Hausdorff dimension at most n-8.

At the same time of the advances in the problem of regularity, Lars Hörmander started his study on hypoelliptic operators. In 1967, he published Hypoelliptic second order differential equations [98], where he proved that, given a family of vector fields X_1, \ldots, X_k under the so called Hörmander's condition, then the following Cauchy problem has a fundamental solution

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t,x) = F(u(t,x)), \quad t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ u(0,\cdot) = f(\cdot), \end{array} \right.$$

where $F = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i^2 + X_0$ and X_0 is a vector field. The main goal of [98] is that, even when this operator is not elliptic, there exists a fundamental solution under the weaker Hörmander's condition. His contributions on partial differential equations and, in particular, hypoelliptic operators, led him to win the Fields Medal in 1962. It was in the year 1985 when Hörmander's condition regained interest due to the work of Nagel, Stein and Wainger Balls and metrics defined by vector fields I: Basic properties [133]. In this paper, they consider a family of vector fields X_1, \ldots, X_k in \mathbb{R}^n satisfying Hörman-

der's condition. Due to the previous results of Carathéodory [28], Chow [37] and Rashevskii [143], it is possible to connect any pair of points p and q by a curve moving in the directions of the distribution generated by X_1, \ldots, X_k . Thus, taking the infimum of the length of unit-speed curves joining two given points we obtain a distance, called the Carnot-Carathéodory distance. The relevance of this distance is exposed by the property that, for any compact set K, there exists two constants $C_1 > 0$, $C_2 > 0$ and m > 1 such that for any two points p and q in K, there holds

$$C_1|q-p| \leqslant d(p,q) \leqslant C_2|q-p|^m,$$

where $|\cdot|$ stands for the Euclidean norm. In particular, Carnot-Carathéodory distance does not come from any Riemannian metric on \mathbb{R}^n .

We stop the timeline to introduce some isoperimetric problems, central in this thesis. The classical isoperimetric problem in Euclidean space consists on proving existence and characterizing those sets E in \mathbb{R}^n such that $P(E) \leq P(F)$ for all F in \mathbb{R}^n with finite perimeter and the same volume as E. Those sets satisfying the previous condition are called isoperimetric regions. The problem is harder when we choose a more general definition of perimeter. Some of the best known proofs of the solution are the proofs of Steiner [159] and Schwarz [157] by means of symmetrization procedures and the direct proof based on the Brunn-Minkowski inequality with the notion of perimeter given by the Minkowski content. Two classical proofs of the Brunn-Minkowski inequality, are the one by Hadwiger and Ohman [94] and the one by Knothe [104]. This inequality was used by Borell in [19] to solve this isoperimetric problem in \mathbb{R}^n with the Gaussian area. A function related to isoperimetric problems in a Riemannian manifold M is the isoperimetric profile in M, defined as the function $I_M : (0, |M|) \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$I_M(v) = \inf\{P(F) : F \subseteq M, |F| = v\}.$$

A lower bound on the isoperimetric profile is called an isoperimetric inequality. Throughout analytic properties of I_M it is possible to obtain information on isoperimetric regions, as stated by Chavel [30] and Gallot [80] (see also [148]). We remark this relation stating a result proven by Christophe Bavard and Pierre Pansu in 1986 [15]: in a Riemannian manifold M, of volume vwith $\Omega \subset M$ isoperimetric region of volume 0 < t < v, then the isoperimetric profile I_M has left and right derivatives everywhere. Moreover, if H is the mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$, then

$$I'_+(t) \leqslant 2H \leqslant I'_-(t).$$

The Wulff problem constitutes another problem closely related to the classical isoperimetric problem. Considering a norm $\|\cdot\|$ in Euclidean space with dual norm $\|\cdot\|_*$ and a C^1 surface S, we consider the integral

$$\int_{S} \|N\|_* dS$$

where N is a unit normal vector to S and dS is the Riemannian area element. This Functional represents the Gibbs free energy, which is proportional to the area of the surface of contact and the surface tension of an anisotropic interface separating two fluids or gases. Minimizing the free energy for a drop of given volume it is obtained an equilibrium state. Solutions of this problem where described by G. Wulff in 1895: they are translations and dilations of the unit ball related to the norm $\|\cdot\|$, known as Wulff shapes of the free energy. The first proof of this fact was given by Dinghas in [56] and, later on, by Busemann [22] and Taylor [162]. More recent proofs are due to Fonseca [66] and Fonseca and Müller [67].

In 1982, Pansu completed his Ph.D. [136], focused on the geometry of Heisenberg groups. These groups, denoted by \mathbb{H}^n , can be seen as $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ together with the group product * given by

$$(z,t) * (w,s) = \left(z + w, t + s + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{Im}(z_i \bar{w}_i)\right),$$

where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ and $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n)$, and a global basis of leftinvariant vector fields is given by

$$X_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \quad Y_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} - x_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \quad T = \frac{\partial}{\partial t},$$

where i = 1, ..., n. The Riemannian Heisenberg group is obtained by taking a left-invariant Riemannian metric g making $X_1, Y_1, ..., X_n, Y_n, T$ orthonormal. Notice that the vector fields $X_1, Y_1, ..., X_n, Y_n$ satisfy Hörmander's condition. On this work [136], Pansu proved that the Hausdorff dimension of \mathbb{H}^1 with the Carnot-Caratheodory metric is 4, and obtained an isoperimetric inequality for open sets D with C^1 boundary

$$\mathcal{H}^4(D) \leqslant \left(\frac{12}{\pi}\right)^{1/3} \mathcal{H}^3(D)^{3/4},$$

where \mathcal{H}^s is the *s*-dimensional Hausdorff measure with respect to the Carnot Carathéodory distance. Pansu also proved that the exponent 3/4 is optimal but the constant $(12/\pi)^{1/3}$ is not. He noticed that, taking a geodesic conecting the origin in the first Heisenberg group with a point (0, 0, p), all the rotations of γ about the vertical axis are also geodesics conecting the origin and (0, 0, p) and the union of γ and all its rotations forms a ball with constant mean curvature. Pansu conjetured that this balls, later called Pansu balls, are the only isoperimetric regions in \mathbb{H}^1 , a conjeture that remains open at this moment.

The decade of the 90s was marked by the blossom of Differential Geometry. Using their tools, new proofs of classical isoperimetric inequalities were provided. By means of the regularity results obtained by Almgren [3], Federer [62], and Gonzalez, Massari and Tamanini [92; 117], the isoperimetric problem can be restricted to sets with smooth boundary up to dimension $n \leq 7$, which makes it a problem more suited to study in Riemannian manifolds. The study of the first and second variation of perimeter can be used to characterize minima of perimeter with smooth boundary under a volume constraint up to second order. This pathway was first used by Do Carmo and Barbosa [10] to solved the isoperimetric problem in Euclidean space, and in the sphere and hyperbolic space by Barbosa, Do Carmo and Eschenburg in [11]. Ritoré and Ros studied stable surfaces in Space forms in [149], obtaining a classification of isoperimetric sets in the 3-dimensional projective space. These advances continued in the 2000s, and among the results we remark the characterization of isoperimetric regions on rotationally symmetric surfaces by Ritoré [145], existence and characterization of isoperimetric regions in Euclidean cones by Ritoré and Rosales in [150] and the general proof by Frank Morgan in [131] of existence of isoperimetric regions of any volume in Riemannian manifolds which have compact quotient under the action of the isometry group. The monograph [148] presents a quite complete collection of different existence results.

At the same time, Bruno Franchi, Raul Serapioni and Francesco Serra Cassano started their work on the theory of BV functions depending on vector fields. In [70], they proposed a notion of the space BV depending on a family of vector fields, not necessarily satisfying a ellipticity condition as Hörmander's condition, and prove that any function in this space can be approximated by smooth functions. In [71], they studied the Heisenberg group with the Carnot-Carathéodory metric and the intrinsic perimeter, and dealt with the difficult problem of rectifiability of Caccioppoli sets from an intrinsic perspective. Later on, they continued working in Carnot groups [72], that is, Lie groups with a family of vector fields X_1, \ldots, X_k forming a stratification on the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , that is, a decomposition as a direct sum of subspaces

$$\mathfrak{g} = V_0 \oplus \ldots \oplus V_r.$$

where $V_0 = \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_k\}$ and $V_{i+1} = [V_0, V_i]$. Carnot groups can be seen as \mathbb{R}^n with a family of polynomial vector fields satisfying a Hörmander condition, those that can be equipped with a family of dilations. An isoperimetric inequality for BV spaces related to a family of vector fields satisfying a Hörmander condition was proven in [82] by Garofalo and Nhieu.

The Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 has regained relevance in the context of Riemannian geometry. It is one of the model spaces of the classification up to isometries of 3-dimensional homogeneous manifolds with isometry group of dimension 4, the so called $E(\kappa, \tau)$ -spaces. An intense work is been developed on this spaces to clasify constant mean curvature surfaces (CMC) and minimal surfaces since the work of Daniel [43] and Abresch and Rosenberg [1]. For 3-dimensional homogeneous manifolds with 3-dimensional isometry group, Meeks, Mira, Pérez and Ros in [118] proved uniqueness of CMC spheres and studied the values of the curvature for this sphere to exist.

The sub-Riemannian Plateau's problem was first considered by Pauls [138]. Under given Dirichlet conditions on *p*-convex domains, Cheng, Hwang and Yang [35] proved existence and uniqueness of t-graphs which are Lipschitz continuous weak solutions of the minimal surface equation in \mathbb{H}^1 . Later on, Pinamonti, Serra Cassano, Treu and Vittone [140] obtained existence and uniqueness of t-graphs on domains with boundary data satisfying a bounded slope condition, thus showing that Lipschitz regularity is optimal at least in the first Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 . Capogna, Citti and Manfredini [24] established that intrinsic graphs of a Lipschitz continuous function which are viscosity solutions of the sub-Riemannian minimal surface equation in \mathbb{H}^1 are of class $C^{1,\alpha}$, with higher regularity in the case of \mathbb{H}^n , n > 1, see [25]. It was shown in [36] that the regular part of a t-graph of class C^1 with continuous prescribed Sub-Riemannian mean curvature in \mathbb{H}^1 is foliated by C^2 characteristic curves. Furthermore, in [79] the authors generalized the previous result when the boundary S is a general C^1 surface in a three-dimensional contact sub-Riemannian manifold. Later on, Galli in [76] improved the result in [79] only assuming that the boundary S is Euclidean Lipschitz and \mathbb{H} -regular in the sense of [71]. Recently, in [88] the authors extended the result in [76] to the sub-Finsler Heisenberg group.

Bernstein type problems for surfaces in \mathbb{H}^1 have also received a special attention. The nature of the sub-Riemannian Bernstein's problem in the Heisenberg group is completely different from the Euclidean one even for graphs. On the one hand the area functional for t-graphs is convex as in the Euclidean setting. Therefore the critical points of the area are automatically minimizers for the area functional. However, since t-graphs admit singular points where the horizontal gradient vanishing their classification is not an easy task. Thanks to a deep study of the singular set for C^2 surfaces in \mathbb{H}^1 , Cheng, Hwang, Malchiodi, and Yang [33] showed that minimal t-graphs of class C^2 are congruent to the hyperbolic paraboloid u(x,y) = xy or to Euclidean planes. The same result was also obtained by Ritoré and Rosales in [151]. If we consider the huge class of Euclidean Lipschitz t-graphs, the previous classification does not hold true since there are several examples of area-minimizing surfaces of low regularity, see [146]. The complete classification for C^2 surfaces was established by Hurtado, Ritoré and Rosales in [99] where they showed that a complete, orientable, connected, stable areastationary surface is congruent to u(x,y) = xy or to a Euclidean plane. As well as in the Euclidean setting the stability condition is crucial in order to discard some minimal surfaces such as helicoids and catenoids.

On the other hand, the situation for intrinsic graphs is completely different since their associated area functional is not convex. Indeed Danielli, Garofalo, Nhieu in [45] discovered that the family of graphs $u_{\alpha}(x,t) = \frac{\alpha xt}{1+2\alpha x^2}$ for $\alpha > 0$ are area-stationary but *unstable*. In [128], Monti, Serra Cassano and Vittone provided an example of an area-minimizing intrinsic graph of regularity $C^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ that is an intrinsic cone. Therefore the Euclidean threshold of dimension n = 8 fails in the sub-Riemannian setting. In [14], Barone Adesi, Serra Cassano and Vittone classified complete C^2 area-stationary intrinsic graphs. Later Danielli, Garofalo, Nhieu and Pauls in [48] showed that a C^2 complete stable embedded minimal surface in \mathbb{H}^1 with empty characteristic set must be a plane. In [78] Galli and Ritoré proved that a complete, oriented and stable area-stationary C^1 surface without singular points is a vertical plane. Later, Nicolussi Golo and Serra Cassano [135] showed that Euclidean Lipschitz stable area-stationary intrinsic graphs are vertical planes. Recently, Giovannardi and Ritoré [89] showed that in the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 with a sub-Finsler structure, a complete, stable, Euclidean Lipschitz surface without singular points is a vertical plane and Young [167] proved that a ruled area-minimizing entire intrinsic graph in \mathbb{H}^1 is a vertical plane by introducing a family of deformations of graphical strips based on variations of a vertical curve. See also [24; 47; 128].

For minimal surfaces in sub-Riemannian geometry, existence was proved by Garofalo and Nhieu [82] while Ritoré [146] gave examples in \mathbb{H}^1 of areaminimizers of the perimeter with low regularity. Nevertheless, for sets with boundaries with prescribed curvature and C^1 regularity, Cheng, Hwang and Yang [36] proved that they are indeed C^2 . This result was extended by Galli and Ritoré in [79] to contact manifolds, while Galli [76] improved it assuming only Euclidean Lipschitz regularity of the boundary.

Area-stationary surfaces in sub-Riemannian spaces are usually classified assuming a priori some regularity of the surface. In \mathbb{H}^1 it was studied by Ritoré and Rosales [151] for C^2 surfaces and completed by Hurtado, Ritoré and Rosales in [99] while, later on, Galli and Ritoré gave the classification assuming C^1 regularity in [78]. More classification of area-stationary stable surfaces in different sub-Riemannian spaces are in [75; 100]. Rosales [153] studied CMC surfaces with empty singular set in sub-Riemannian Sasakian 3-manifolds. Closely related to the study of minimal and stable surfaces is the computation of variational formulas for the area, some of them can be found in [38; 97; 74]. The works [44] and [5] present several results on sub-Riemannian calculus for hypersurfaces in Carnot groups and intrinsic hypersurfaces in Heisenberg groups respectively.

Regarding Pansu's conjeture, the boundaries of the conjectured solutions to the isoperimetric problem in \mathbb{H}^1 are of class C^2 . While the characterization of isoperimetric regions is still open, there are several partial results assuming that the candidates are in a given family. The monograph [27] provides a quite complete survey of progress on the subject. We remark the works of Monti, where in [125] he solved the conjeture assuming the candidates are radially symmetric, in [126] and together with Rickly, under the condition of convexity, and in [124], where he proved that it is not possible to expect a Brunn-Minkowski inequality to hold with the exponent of the homogeneous dimension, 4, otherwise geodesic balls would be isoperimetric regions, and it is easy to check that it is false. A major advance in the conjeture was the work by Ritoré and Rosales [151], where they solve the conjeture among sets with C^2 boundary. This proof, supported in the works of Cheng, Hwang, Malchiodi and Yang [34] about the singular set of C^1 , would constitute a complete proof if it were not for the difficult problem of regularity in sub-Riemannian geometry. We also remark the proof of Ritoré [147] that constitutes the only known proof of Pansu's conjeture that does not restrict to a particular family of sets, but to be enclosed on a vertical circular cylinder and containing the disk at the base. See also the works [31; 33; 68; 108]. For isoperimetric inequalities, or the equivalent Sobolev inequalities, we remark the articles by Garofalo and Nhieu [82] and Capogna, Danielli and Garofalo [26].

Finally, we mention that sub-Riemannian geometry has been applied in the study of the perceptual completion and formation of subjective surfaces [39; 155].

1.2 Summary and conclusions

The aim of this thesis is to study variational geometric problems in nilpotent Lie groups with a sub-Finsler structure. This setting extends Finsler geometry to the sub-Riemannian nilpotent groups by considering a leftinfariant norm in the horizontal distribution. We will give a notion of (X, K)perimeter related to a sub-Finsler structure and provide examples of areaminimizing surfaces in \mathbb{H}^1 with low regularity, construct CMC spheres in \mathbb{H}^1 and prove a minimizing property together with regularity of such spheres, and study the existence of solutions to the prescribed curvature equation with Dirichlet conditions.

The structure of the manuscript is the following.

In Chapter 2 we state the main features of Carnot-Carathéodory spaces (CC) and nilpotent groups. A sub-Finsler structure in a Carnot-Carathéodory manifold with a completely non-integrable distribution \mathcal{H} is defined by a smooth norm on \mathcal{H} . The case of a Euclidean norm is that of sub-Riemannian geometry. Symmetric sub-Finsler structures in \mathbb{H}^1 have received intense interest recently, specially the study of geodesics by Ardentov, Le Donne and Sachkov [8] and by Barilari, Boscain, Le Donne and Sigalotti [12], see [123] for the classical sub-Riemannian case. General asymmetric sub-Finsler structures have an associated asymmetric distance and might have different metric properties, see [119; 120] and [40].

In Section 2.3 we shall define a notion of (X, K)-perimeter as the by

means of the variation of its characteristic function, following the procedure established with Ritoré in [142]. The perimeter associated to the Euclidean norm $|\cdot|$ is the sub-Riemannian perimeter as it is defined in [82; 71; 70]. A set has finite perimeter for a given norm if and only if it has finite perimeter for the standard sub-Riemannian perimeter. Hence all known results in the standard case apply to the sub-Finsler perimeter. We prove in 2.3.1 a representation of the (X, K)- perimeter in terms of the sub-Riemannian one as the dual norm of the horizontal unit normal. The notion of sub-Finsler Minkowski content was introduced by Sánchez [154] in his Ph.D. thesis, while the perimeter as the variation of the characteristic function in \mathbb{H}^1 was defined by Pozuelo and Ritoré [142] and Franceschi et al. [69].

Different notion of perimeter of a submanifold of fixed degree immersed in a graded manifold, can be found in [38; 86; 115].

In Chapter 3 we shall consider a nilpotent group G with a set of leftinvariant vector fields X satisfying a Hörmander condition, and an asymmetric left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$ associated to a convex body K, without the assumption of been equipped with a family of dilations. The main result of the chapter is the existence of isoperimetric regions for any given volume. Moreover, any isoperimetric region has a finite number of connected components.

This result is an extension of the existence result of Leonardi and Rigot for nilpotent groups with no dilations and a sub-Finsler norm. The proof follows the arguments in [77].

In sub-Riemannian geometry, apart from the compact case, there are only two known results. Galli and Ritoré proved in [77] an existence result in contact sub-Riemannian manifolds. The argument followed Morgan's structure and can be seen in [148]: they pick a minimizing sequence of sets of volume v whose perimeters approach the infimum of the perimeters of sets of volume v. This sequence can be splitted into two subsequences. The first subsequence is converging to a set, and it is proved that is isoperimetric for its volume and bounded. Nevertheless, it might be a loss of mass at infinity. In this case, they use isometries to translate the second subsequence, which is diverging, to recover some of the lost volume. An essential point is that they always recover a fixed fraction of the volume. In Carnot groups, existence of isoperimetric regions was proven by Leonardi and Rigot in [109]. Dilations in a Carnot group \mathbb{G} plays a key role, since from them it is direct that the isoperimetric profile has the form $I_{\mathbb{G}}(v) = Cv^q$, where C is a positive constant and $q \in (0,1)$. In particular, the function $I_{\mathbb{G}}$ is concave, a crucial property to deduce that there is no loss of mass at infinity.

At this point, we shall assume that given a finite perimeter $F \subseteq G$ with finite volume with nonempty interior, there exist $C_3 > 0$ and a family of finite perimeter sets $\{F^{\lambda}\}$ such that $|F^{\lambda}| \ge |F| + \lambda C_3$ and

$$P_K(F^{\lambda}) - P_K(F) \leqslant C_3 \lambda.$$

This result, called deformation lemma, can be seen in a variety of references in literature, some of them in [6; 7; 77; 114; 122; 131; 134]. The proof of this result usually relies on taking a vector field U and use the formulas for the first variation of the volume and the area. In [77], Galli and Ritoré used a calibration argument, exploiting that Pansu spheres in \mathbb{H}^1 have constant mean curvature to construct, in a neighborhood of a given point, a horizontal vector field with bounded divergence.

By a calibration argument, we obtain in Proposition 3.2.1 that the isoperimetric profile is non-decreasing. The sub-additiveness is proven in Corollary 3.3.3. We shall also extend the properties obtained in Carnot groups by Leonardi and Rigot in [109], that isoperimetric regions are bounded and its topological boundary and the essential boundary coincide.

In Chapter 4, we show the results obtained in [141]. We have generalized the classical Brunn-Minkowski inequality to be suited to nilpotent groups. The classical Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Euclidean space asserts that, given $A, B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ measurable sets such that A + B is also measurable, we have

$$|A+B|^{1/d} \ge |A|^{1/d} + |B|^{1/d},$$

where $|\cdot|$ indicates the volume of a set, and $A + B = \{a + b : a \in A, b \in B\}$ is the classical Minkowski addition of sets. Taking $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, and replacing A by λA and B by $(1 - \lambda)B$, we get the equivalent inequality

$$|\lambda A + (1 - \lambda)B|^{1/d} \ge \lambda |A|^{1/d} + (1 - \lambda)|B|^{1/d}.$$

First connected to the isoperimetric theorem, this inequality is a cornerstone in convex geometry [156; 81]. Through the equivalent functional formulation of the Brunn-Minkowski inequality, the Prékopa-Leindler inequality, we can see some of the implications in the preservation of logarithmic concavity under convolutions noticed by Brascamp and Lieb [21], as well as in the work of Bobkov and Ledoux [17] where it is derived the concentration of measure of Gaussian-like measures, Brascamp-Lieb and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities.

There are several ways of generalizing the Brunn-Minkowski inequality. In Lie groups we can define the Minkowski addition of sets using the group product and take as volume the Haar measure of the group. The Brunn-Minkowski inequality obtained this way is called the *multiplicative* Brunn-Minkowski inequality. In general metric measure spaces the notion of *s*intermediate points can be used to replace the convex combination of points in Euclidean space, see [152]. This leads to the geodesic Brunn-Minkowski inequality.

A large number of proofs for the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Euclidean space are known, some of them can be found in [81; 94; 104]. Ritoré and Yepes [152] proved the geodesic Brunn-Minkowski inequality for products of metric measures spaces. For Riemannian manifolds with a lower bound on the Ricci curvature this inequality is proven in [41] employing techniques of optimal transport. This techniques where latter applied to prove this inequality for CD spaces (see [64]). While Juillet [102] proved that no CD condition holds in sub-Riemannian Heisenberg groups \mathbb{H}^n , the optimal transport approach was followed by Balogh, Kristály and Sipos [9] and by Barilari and Rizzi [13] to prove geodesic Brunn-Minkowski inequalities in the sub-Riemannian setting (see also [121]).

In 2003, Monti [124] observed that the multiplicative Brunn-Minkowski inequality in \mathbb{H}^n cannot hold with exponent $(2n+2)^{-1}$, corresponding to the homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{H}^n , since otherwise Carnot-Carathéodory balls would be isoperimetric sets.

Leonardi and Masnou [108] proved in 2005 that this inequality holds with exponent $(2n + 1)^{-1}$, corresponding to the topological dimension of \mathbb{H}^n . Their proof was based on Hadwiger-Ohmann's proof of the classical Brunn-Minkowski inequality given in [94].

Later on, Tao [160; 161] posted an entry in his blog in 2011 explaining how to produce a Prékopa-Leindler inequality in any nilpotent Lie group of topological dimension d, which provides a natural way to prove the multiplicative Brunn-Minkowski inequality with exponent d^{-1} .

Juillet [102] gave examples of sets for which the multiplicative Brunn-Minkowski inequality in \mathbb{H}^n does not hold with exponent smaller than $(2n + 1)^{-1}$.

In this chapter, we prove a generalization of the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Euclidean space where the Minkowski addition of sets is replaced by any product $* : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ of the form

$$z * w = z + w + (F_1, F_2(z, w), \dots, F_d(z, w)) = z + w + F(z, w), \quad (*)$$

where F_1 is a constant and F_i are continuous functions that depend only on $z_1, \ldots, z_{i-1}, w_1, \ldots, w_{i-1} \quad \forall i = 2, \ldots, d$. By a product here we mean a binary operation without assuming any further properties such as associativity. We prove that for any $A, B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be measurable sets such that A * Bis measurable, we have

$$|A * B|^{1/d} \ge |A|^{1/d} + |B|^{1/d}.$$

The product in any nilpotent Lie group is of the form * because of the expression of the group product in exponential coordinates of the first kind.

This result is an extension of the result obtained by Leonardi and Masnou [108] in Heisenberg groups. While the proof of Leonardi and Masnou only works in Heisenberg groups, their arguments can be seen as the first step of an induction argument developed in this chapter. In this chapter, we shall consider a product * of the form (*), that not necessarily comes from a group product, and change * for another one $*_{z_1,w_1}$ of the form (*), depending on the sets A and B, that allows us to compare the volume of the Minkowski addition of sets for the products * and $*_{z_1,w_1}$, as a consequence of Lemma 4.1.1. When the product * comes from a nilpotent group it is not true that $*_{z_1,w_1}$ can define a group product. Then, by an induction argument, we will compare the volume of the Minkowski addition of sets A and B with the volume of the Euclidean Minkowski addition of A and B, and establish in Proposition 4.1.5 a sufficient condition in \mathbb{H}^1 for the strict inequality in (4.0.1).

At the end of the chapter, we state several classical variations of inequality (4.0.1) in the case of Carnot groups, where dilations can be defined.

After [141] was completed, the author was informed that Theorem 4.0.1 was also proven by Bobkov [16] in 2011, where he used Knothe's map to get the Brunn-Minkowski inequality for convex sets and obtained the general result after proving the equivalent analytic version of the theorem, the Prékopa-Leindler inequality.

In Chapter 5, we gather the results obtained with Ritoré in [142]. We consider critical points of the perimeter associated to an asymmetric sub-Finsler structure in the first Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 . Such a structure is defined by means of an asymmetric left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$ associated to a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ containing 0 in its interior.

In case the boundary S of E is a C^1 or Euclidean lipschitz surface, the perimeter of E is given by the sub-Finsler area functional

$$A_K(S) = \int_S |N_h|_{K,*} \, dS, \tag{*}$$

where $|\cdot|_{K,*}$ is the dual norm of $|\cdot|_K$, N_h is the orthogonal projection to the horizontal distribution of the Riemannian unit normal N, and dS is the Riemannian measure on S.

If we consider a convex set K with boundary of class C^2_+ (i.e., so that ∂K is of class C^2 and ∂K has positive geodesic curvature everywhere), we may compute the first variation of the area functional associated to a vector field U with compact support in the regular part of S to get

$$A'_K(0) = \int_S u\left(\operatorname{div}_S \eta_K\right) dS.$$

In this formula $u = \langle U, N \rangle$ is the normal component of the variation and $\operatorname{div}_S \eta_K$ is the divergence on S of the vector field $\eta_K = \pi_K(\nu_h)$, where $\nu_h =$



Figure 1.1: The set \mathbb{B}_K when K is the unit ball of the r-norm $||(x,y)||_r = (|x|^r + |y|^r)^{1/r}, r = 1.5$

 $N_h/|N_h|$ is the horizontal unit normal and π_K is the map projecting any vector $v \neq 0$ to the intersection of the supporting line in the direction of v with $|\cdot|_K = 1$ (the boundary of K). The strict convexity of $|\cdot|_K$ implies that this map is well-defined.

The function $H_K = \operatorname{div}_S \eta_K$ appearing in the first variation of perimeter is called the mean curvature of S. Further calculations imply that H_K is equal to $\langle D_Z \eta_K, Z \rangle$, where $Z = -J(\nu_h)$ is the horizontal direction on the regular part of S. Hence the mean curvature function is localized on the horizontal curves of S. It is not difficult to check that a horizontal curve in a surface with mean curvature H_K must satisfy a differential equation depending on H_K . Hence we can reconstruct the regular part of a surface with prescribed mean curvature by taking solutions of this differential equation. Furthermore, we might be able classify surfaces with prescribed mean curvature by classifying solutions of this ordinary differential equation and by looking at the interaction of these curves with the singular set S_0 of Scomposed of the points where the tangent plane is horizontal, as was done in [151] for the standard sub-Riemannian perimeter.

Key observations are that horizontal straight lines are solutions of the differential equation for $H_K = 0$ and that horizontal liftings of ∂K are solutions for $H_K = 1$. The strict convexity of K together with the invariance of the equation by left-translations and dilations imply that all solutions are of this type.

Hence, given a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ containing 0 in its interior and its associated left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$, we consider the set \mathbb{B}_K obtained as the ball enclosed by the horizontal liftings of all translations of the curve ∂K containing 0. It is not difficult to prove that this way we obtain a topological



Figure 1.2: The set \mathbb{B}_K when K is a smooth approximation of the triangular norm

sphere \mathbb{S}_K with two poles on the same vertical line, that is the union of two graphs. Moreover the boundary of \mathbb{B}_K is C^2 outside the poles (indeed C^{ℓ} if the boundary of K is of class C^{ℓ} , $\ell \ge 2$) and of regularity C^2 around the poles. When K = D, these sets were build by Pansu [137] and are frequently referred to as Pansu spheres. We remark that Pansu spheres' \mathbb{B}_D are of class C^2 but not C^3 near the singular points, see Proposition 3.15 in [46] and Example 3.3 in [151].

We observe that these objects have constant mean curvature. Hence they are critical points of the sub-Finsler area functional under a volume constraint. Further evidence that they have stronger minimization properties is given in Section 5.5, where it is proven that, under a geometric condition, a set of finite perimeter E with volume equal to the volume of \mathbb{B}_K has perimeter larger than or equal to the one of the ball \mathbb{B}_K . A slightly weaker result for the Euclidean norm was proven in [147].

Chapter 6 is devoted to the results obtained with Giovannardi and Ritoré given in [87]. In this note, we provide examples of entire perimeterminimizing horizontal graphs for a fixed but arbitrary left-invariant sub-Finsler structure in the first Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 . Our examples are inspired by the corresponding sub-Riemannian ones in [146]. Of particular interest are the conical examples invariant by the non-isotropic dilations of \mathbb{H}^1 . In the sub-Riemannian case these examples were investigated in [91] and [146]. In Theorem 5.2.1 of Section 6.1 we obtain a necessary and sufficient condition, based on Theorem 3.1 in [142], for a surface to be a critical point of the sub-Finsler area. We assume that the surface is piecewise C^2 , composed of pieces meeting in a C^1 way along C^1 curves. This condition will allow us to construct area-minimizing examples in Proposition 6.2.3 of Section 6.2, and examples with low regularity in Proposition 6.2.4. The same construction, keeping fixed the angle at one side of the singular line, provides examples of area-minimizing cones, see Corollary 6.2.5. Finally, in Section 6.3 we provide examples of area-minimizing cones in the spirit of [91]. These examples are obtained in Theorem 6.3.2 from circular sectors of the area-minimizing cones with one singular line obtained in Corollary 6.2.5.

Chapter 7 exposes some of the results obtained during the stay at Università di Trento in colaboration with Giovannardi, Pinamonti and Verzellesi. We study the prescribed mean curvature equation for t-graphs in the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^n with an asymmetric left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_{K_0}$ on the horizontal distribution of \mathbb{H}^n associated to a convex body $K_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ containing the origin in its interior. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded open set, $H \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, $F \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ and $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. We consider the functional

$$\mathcal{I}(u) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u + F|_{K_{0,*}} \, dx \, dy + \int_{\Omega} H u \, dx \, dy, \tag{i}$$

where $|\cdot|_{K_0,*}$ denotes the dual norm of $|\cdot|_{K_0}$. In particular, when F(x, y) = (-y, x) the first term in (i) coincides with the sub-Finsler area of the *t*-graph of *u*. Moreover, if K_0 is the Euclidean unit ball centered at the origin and H = 0 then (i) boils down to the classical area functional for *t*-graphs in Heisenberg group, see [33; 99] and references therein. We say that the graph of *u* has prescribed K_0 -mean curvature *H* in Ω if *u* is a minimizer of \mathcal{I} . Indeed, the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to \mathcal{I} out of the singular set Ω_0 , i.e. the set of points where $\nabla u + F$ vanishes, is given by

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi_{K_0}(\nabla u + F)) = H,\tag{ii}$$

where π_{K_0} is a suitable 0-homogeneous function defined in (2.1.5). When we fix a boundary datum $\varphi \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, a solution to the *Dirichlet problem* for the prescribed K_0 -mean curvature equation is a minimizer u of \mathcal{I} such that $u - \varphi$ belongs to the Sobolev space $W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Our main result is Theorem 7.4.1, where we prove, under suitable regularity assumptions on the data, that there exists a Lipschitz solution to the Dirichlet problem for the prescribed K_0 -mean curvature equation when H is *constant* and satisfies

$$|H| < H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) \tag{iii}$$

for each $z_0 = (x_0, y_0) \in \partial\Omega$, where $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ denotes the Finsler mean curvature of the boundary $\partial\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$. Notice that the mean curvature of the graph of u is computed with respect to the downward pointing unit normal and the Finsler mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$ is computed with respect to the inner unit normal. The upper bound (iii) of H in terms of the Finsler

mean curvature of the boundary is the Finsler analogous of the standard assumption for the solution to the Dirichlet problem for the classical mean curvature equation in the Euclidean setting as stated in [158], [84] or [83] (see also [85, Theorem 16.11]). The Dirichlet problem for constant mean curvature in the first Riemannian Heisenberg group has been studied in [2] under the same condition on the mean curvature. It is worth mentioning that this is the first time that the existence of solutions to the sub-Finsler Dirichlet problem has been studied when $H \neq 0$, even in the particular case in which K_0 is the unit disk centered at 0, where the sub-Finsler and the sub-Riemannian frameworks coincide. Indeed, as far as we know, the sub-Riemannian Dirichlet problem has been studied in [138; 35; 33; 32; 58; 139] only in the case of minimal surface under the bounded slope condition or the p-convexity assumption on Ω . In particular, we point out that when n=1our assumption (iii) implies that $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is strictly convex, see Remark 7.3.7. It is easy to check that our sub-Finsler functional \mathcal{I} for H = 0 satisfies the hypothesis of the area functional considered in [58]. Thus, assuming the bounded slope condition we directly obtain the existence of Euclidean Lipschitz minimizer for Plateau's problem. The approach of the present chapter, based on the Schauder fixed-point theory, follows the scheme developed in [35] and extends its results both to the case of prescribed constant mean curvature $H \neq 0$ and to the sub-Finsler setting. In Theorem 7.4.1 we can not expect better regularity than Lipschitz.

Since equation (ii) is sub-elliptic degenerate and it is singular next the singular set, inspired by [35; 138], we introduce a family of elliptic approximating equations given by

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\pi_{K_0}(\nabla u + F)\frac{|\nabla u + F|_*^2}{(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|_*^3)^{\frac{2}{3}}}\right) = H \qquad (iv)$$

for each $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. A similar approximation scheme was considered in the sub-Riemannian setting by [25; 24] to study the Lipschitz regularity for non-characteristic minimal surfaces. To obtain this family of equations we consider a 2n + 1 dimensional convex body K_{ε} containing the origin in its interior, that converges in the Hausdorff sense to the 2n dimensional convex body K_0 as ε tends to 0. The choice of the convex body K_{ε} is not arbitrary. Indeed, we need a specific shape in order to obtain an approximating equation well defined in the classical sense in the singular set. It is interesting to point out that the Riemannian approximation of [35; 138; 25; 24] produces an approximation of the unit disk $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ by ellipsoids in the sub-Riemannian setting, and this approximation does not work in the sub-Finsler context. For $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, the convex body K_{ε} defines a Finsler norm on $T\mathbb{H}^n$ whose associated Finsler area functional is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|^3_{K_0,*} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} dx dy + \int_{\Omega} Hu \, dx dy.$$

It is easy to see that the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to this functional is elliptic and avoids singularities. Given a boundary datum $\varphi \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$, the solvability of the Dirichlet problem associated to (iv) is reduced by [85, Theorem 13.8] to a priori estimates in $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ of a related family of problems. As usual the *a priori* estimates in $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ consist of three parts: estimates of the supremum of |u|, boundary estimates of the gradient of u and interior estimates of the gradient of u. Both the estimates of the supremum and the boundary estimates of the gradient are obtained by a barriers argument that depends on the Finsler distance from the boundary $\partial\Omega$. Due to technical reasons in the construction of the barriers we need to assume the strict inequality in (iii), avoiding the optimal case when Hcoincides with $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0)$ at a given point $z_0 \in \partial\Omega$. We emphasize that these results hold even if the prescribed curvature H is non-constant and Lipschitz. When H is non-constant, in order to obtain the estimates of the supremum we assume that there exists $\delta \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} Hv \, dx dy \right| \leq (1-\delta) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|_{K_{0},*} \, dx dy \tag{v}$$

for each $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Assumption (v) is a standard sufficient condition for the estimates of the supremum of |u| (see [83] or [85]). Notice that (v) with $\delta = 0$ is a necessary condition obtained integrating by parts the elliptic equation (iv). In the Euclidean space, Giusti [90] proved that (v) with $\delta = 0$ is also a sufficient condition for the existence of solutions to the prescribed mean curvature equation. This result was later generalized to weakly regular domains in [111]. Moreover, in analogy with the Euclidean case, we show that the sufficient condition (v) with $\delta > 0$, which is a priori stronger than the necessary condition with $\delta = 0$, is redundant when H is constant. The only crucial step where we need that H is constant is the maximum principle for the gradient of the solution that allows us to reduce the interior estimates of the gradient to its boundary estimates. Finally, once we realize that C^1 estimates are independent of the approximation parameter ε , passing to the limit as ε tends to 0 and using Arzelà-Ascoli Theorem we get the existence of a Lispchitz minimizer for the sub-Finsler Dirichlet problem.

The analysis of the Dirichlet problem with $H \neq 0$ constant for *t*-graphs is essential since it is strictly related to the isoperimetric problem in \mathbb{H}^n . Recently, similar results concerning CMC graphs and surfaces in the Euclidean setting with an anisotropic norm have been obtained by [55; 54].

Appendix A contains an alternative proof of the representation of the perimeter given in Theorem 2.3.3.
Chapter 2

Nilpotent groups and sub-Finsler perimeter

The aim of this chapter is twofold. The first one is to introduce some background and notation that will be used throughout the thesis. The second is to give different notions of the (X, K)-perimeter as introduced in [142] and [69].

In Section 2.1 it will be introduced the Carnot-Carathéodory spaces (CC) and, with the notion of Minkowski norms of Subsection 2.1.1, the sub-Finsler Carnot-Carathéodory spaces in Subsection 2.1.2. Relevant cases of sub-Finsler CC spaces are sub-Finsler nilpotent groups, where X is taken left-invariant and left-translations are isometries that preserves the perimeter. This groups are introduced in Section 2.2, while in Subsection 2.2.1 we study sub-Finsler nilpotent groups with a suitable family of dilations.

In the second part of the chapter we introduce in Section 2.3 the notion of (X, K)-variation of a function and proof the Divergence's theorem 2.3.2. In Subsection 2.3.1 we give a proof of the representation of the (X, K)-perimeter given in Theorem 2.3.3.

2.1 Carnot-Carathéodory spaces

Given a family of smooth vector fields $X = \{X_1, \ldots, X_k\}$ in \mathbb{R}^d , we consider the distribution generated by X, called the horizontal distribution \mathcal{H} , defined in a point p of \mathbb{R}^d as

$$\mathcal{H}_p = \operatorname{span}\{X_1(p), \dots, X_k(p)\}.$$

A smooth curve $\gamma : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is called *horizontal* if $\dot{\gamma}(t) \in \mathcal{H}_{\gamma(t)}$ for all t. In that case, we can write

$$\dot{\gamma}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \dot{\gamma}_i(t) X_i.$$

Given p and q in \mathbb{R}^d , we consider the quantity

$$d(p,q) = \inf \left\{ \int_0^T |\dot{\gamma}(t)| dt : \gamma \text{ is horizontal, } \gamma(0) = p, \ \gamma(T) = q \right\}.$$

If there is no horizontal curve joining p and q, we define $d(p,q) = +\infty$.

In case that d is finite for every p and q in \mathbb{R}^d , it defines a distance [93; 123] called the *Carnot-Carathéodory* distance. A standard condition on X that guarantees that d_X is finite is *Hörmander's condition*, also called the *bracket generating condition* or *Chow's condition* [37; 143]. We denote by [U, V] the Lie bracket of two C^1 vector fields U, V on \mathbb{H}^n . We consider

$$\mathcal{H}^{1}(p) := \mathcal{H}(p) + [\mathcal{H}(p), \mathcal{H}(p)],$$

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(p) := \mathcal{H}^{1}(p) + [\mathcal{H}^{1}(p), \mathcal{H}(p)],$$

$$\dots,$$

$$(2.1.1)$$

then X satisfies Hörmander's condition if there exists r(p) > 0 such that $\mathcal{H}_p^{r-1} \neq T_p \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\mathcal{H}_p^r = T_p \mathbb{R}^d$.

2.1.1 Minkowski norms

We say that $|\cdot| : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is a norm if verifies

- 1. $|x| = 0 \Leftrightarrow x = 0$.
- 2. $|sx| = s|x| \ \forall s > 0 \text{ and } \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.
- 3. $|x+y| \leq |x|+|y| \quad \forall x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

We stress the fact that we are not assuming the symmetry property |-v| = |v|.

The unit ball $K = \{x : |x| \leq 1\}$ is a convex, compact set such that $0 \in int(K)$. Reciprocally, given a convex compact set K such that $0 \in K$, we can define the Minkowski norm associated to K as

$$|x|_K := \min\{t : x \in tK\}.$$

It is immediate that $|\cdot|_{K}$ verifies (1) and (2). Let us show that (3) is also verified. Given x and y in \mathbb{R}^{d} we denote $t_{1} = |x|_{K}$ and $t_{2} = |y|_{K}$. Let us see that $\frac{x+y}{t_{1}+t_{2}}$ is in K, and hence $|x+y|_{K} \leq t_{1}+t_{2}$ which is equivalent to (3).

$$\frac{x}{t_1+t_2} + \frac{y}{t_1+t_2} = \frac{t_1}{t_1+t_2}\frac{x}{t_1} + \frac{t_2}{t_1+t_2}\frac{y}{t_2}.$$

Since $\frac{x}{t_1}$ and $\frac{y}{t_2}$ are in K and $\frac{t_1}{t_1+t_2} + \frac{t_2}{t_2+t_1} = 1$, we have that $\frac{x+y}{t_1+t_2}$ is a convex combination of elements of K and thus $\frac{x+y}{t_1+t_2}$ is in K.

We write $|\cdot|_{K}$ to indicate the dependence of the norm on K. The case of a symmetric norm corresponds to a centrally symmetric convex body. The norm associated to the closed unit disc D centered at 0 coincides with the Euclidean norm and is denoted by $|\cdot|$.

We say that a set K is a convex body if it is convex, compact and has non-empty interior. We say that a convex body K is in $C^{k,\alpha}_+$, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha \in [0, 1]$, if ∂K is of class $C^{k,\alpha}$ with strictly positive principal curvatures.

It is well known that any norm is equivalent to the Euclidean norm $|\cdot|$, that is, given a norm $|\cdot|_K$ in \mathbb{R}^d there exist constants 0 < c < C such that

$$c |\cdot| \leqslant |\cdot|_K \leqslant C |\cdot|. \tag{2.1.2}$$

Given a norm $|\cdot|_K$ and a scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ in \mathbb{R}^d , we consider the dual norm $|\cdot|_{K,*}$ of $|\cdot|_K$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, defined by

$$|u|_{K,*} = \sup_{v \in K} \langle u, v \rangle.$$
(2.1.3)

The dual norm is the support function of the unit ball F with respect to the scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. Moreover, thanks to the above definitions the following Cauchy-Schwarz formula holds:

$$\langle u, v \rangle \leqslant |u|_{K,*} |v|_K \tag{2.1.4}$$

for any $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^d$. If in addition we assume K to be strictly convex and $u \neq 0$, then the compactness and strict convexity of K guarantee the existence of a unique vector $\pi_K(u)$ in ∂K where the supremum in (2.1.3) is attained, i.e.

$$|u|_{K,*} = \langle u, \pi_K(u) \rangle. \tag{2.1.5}$$

It is easy to see that π_K is a positively 0-homogeneous map, i.e. $\pi_K(\lambda u) = \pi_K(u)$ for any $\lambda > 0$ and $u \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$, and that $|\pi_K(u)|_K = 1$ for any $u \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$. Moreover, if we assume that K is C^2_+ , then $\pi_K|_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} : \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to \partial K$ is a C^1 diffeomorphism whose inverse is the Gauss map \mathcal{N}_K of ∂K with respect to the outer unit normal. Furthermore, we have that the norms $|\cdot|_K$ and $|\cdot|_{K,*}$ belongs to $C^{k,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\})$ if and only if ∂K is $C^{k,\alpha}$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$. For further details see [156, Section 2.5]. The relation between the dual norm and the map π_K is given by

$$\nabla |u|_{K,*} = \pi_K(u). \tag{2.1.6}$$

Indeed, for any $u \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$

$$\nabla |u|_{K,*} = \nabla \langle u, \pi_K(u) \rangle = \pi_k(u) + u \cdot D\pi_K(u) = \pi_K(u),$$

where the last equality follows from the fact that 0-homogeneous functions are radial.

2.1.2 Sub-Finsler Carnot-Carathéodory spaces

Let X be a family of k linearly-independent vector fields in \mathbb{R}^d and K a convex body in \mathbb{R}^k with $0 \in int(K)$.

We extend the Minkowski norm $|\cdot|_{K}$ to each fiber of \mathcal{H}_{0} as

$$\left(\left|\sum_{i=1}^{k} f_i(p) X_i(p)\right|_K\right)_p = \left|\left(f_1(p), \dots, f_k(p)\right)\right|_K.$$

Similarly, we extend $|\cdot|_{K,*}$ and π_K to \mathcal{H}_0 . When $|\cdot|_{K_0}$ is C^l with $l \ge 2$, all norms $(|\cdot|_{K_0})_p$ are C^l .

We define the sub-Finsler length of a piecewise smooth horizontal curve $\gamma:I\to\mathbb{R}^d$ by the formula

$$L(\gamma) = \int_{I} |\gamma'(s)|_{K} \, ds.$$

Under the assumption that any two given points $p, q \in \mathbb{R}^d$ can be joined by a horizontal curve, we can define the (asymmetric) distance $d_K(p,q)$ between pand q as the infimum of the length of horizontal piecewise C^1 curves joining p and q. This distance satisfies the properties

1. $d_K(p,q) \leq d_K(p,r) + d_K(r,q)$, for all $p,q,r \in \mathbb{H}^1$, and

2.
$$d_K(p,q) = 0$$
 if and only if $p = q$.

The second property follows from comparison with the standard Carnot-Carathéodory distance. This asymmetric distance does not satisfy the property $d_K(p,q) = d_K(q,p)$. We refer the reader to [119; 120] for properties of asymmetric distances and their geodesics.

2.2 Nilpotent groups

We recall some results on nilpotent groups. For a quite complete description of nilpotent Lie groups the reader is referred to Section 1.13 in [103].

The exponential map in a Lie group G of a left-invariant vector field X will be denoted by $\exp(X)$, writing \exp_G if specifying the group is needed. Unless otherwise specified, we shall write \cdot for the group product of G. The left-translation in G by q is the map $\ell_q(p) = q \cdot p$.

Let \mathfrak{g} be a Lie algebra. We define recursively $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{g}, \ \mathfrak{g}_{i+1} = [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}_i] =$ span $\{[X, Y] : X \in \mathfrak{g}, Y \in \mathfrak{g}_i\}$. The decreasing series

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_0 \supseteq \mathfrak{g}_1 \supseteq \mathfrak{g}_2 \supseteq \ldots$$

is called the *lower central series of* \mathfrak{g} . If $\mathfrak{g}_r = 0$ and $\mathfrak{g}_{r-1} \neq 0$ for some r, we say that \mathfrak{g} is *nilpotent* of step r. A connected Lie group is said to be *nilpotent* if its Lie algebra is nilpotent.

The following Lemma will be used in the sequel.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let \mathfrak{g} be a nilpotent Lie algebra. Then there exists a basis $\{Y_1, \ldots, Y_d\}$ of \mathfrak{g} such that

- 1. for each $1 \leq n \leq d$, $\mathfrak{h}_n = span\{Y_{d-n+1}, \ldots, Y_d\}$ is an ideal of \mathfrak{g} ,
- 2. for each $0 \leq i \leq r-1$, $\mathfrak{h}_{n_i} = \mathfrak{g}_i$.

A basis verifying this is called a *Malcev basis*. This construction is adapted from § 1.2 in [42]. Fixed a Malcev basis, the exponential map centered at 0 provides a diffeomorphism between \mathbb{R}^d and G, given by the map

$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_d) \mapsto \exp(x_1 Y_1 + \dots + x_d Y_d)$$

This result can be found as Theorem 1.127 in [103]. The inverse of this map provides coordinates called *canonical coordinates of the first kind*. The group product can be recovered by the Hausdorff-Campbell-Baker formula as

$$(x_1, \dots, x_d) \cdot (y_1, \dots, y_d) = \exp^{-1}(X + Y + \frac{1}{2}[X, Y] + \frac{1}{12}[X, [X, Y]] + \dots),$$

where $X = \sum x_i Y_i$, $Y = \sum y_i Y_i$, $(x_1, ..., x_d) = \exp(X)$ and $(y_1, ..., y_d) = \exp(Y)$.

The structure of this product is given by the following theorem. It was first proved by Malcev in 1949 [116], and a proof can be found as Theorem 4.1 in [165], or with some modification as Proposition 1.2.7 in [42].

Theorem 2.2.2. Let G be a simply connected nilpotent group. Then the multiplication map takes the following form:

$$z * w = z + w + (P_1(z, w), \dots, P_d(z, w)), \qquad (2.2.1)$$

where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_d)$, $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_d)$, P_1 is a constant and P_i is a polynomial in the variables $z_1, \ldots, z_{i-1}, w_1, \ldots, w_{i-1} \forall i = d - n_1 + 1, \ldots, d$.

The next result we show that, slightly refining Theorem 2.2.2, the multiplication map acts as a sum in the coordinates corresponding to the complement of \mathfrak{g}_1 . This arguments can be seen also in [107], Proposition 6.0.16.

Theorem 2.2.3. Let G be a simply connected nilpotent group and let $n_1 = \dim(\mathfrak{g}_1)$. Then the multiplication map takes the following form:

$$z * w = z + w + (0, \dots, 0, P_{d-n_1+1}(z, w), \dots, P_d(z, w))$$

where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_d)$, $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_d)$ and P_i is a polynomial in the variables $z_1, \ldots, z_{i-1}, w_1, \ldots, w_{i-1} \forall i = d - n_1 + 1, \ldots, d$.

Proof. Let $Z = \sum_{i=1}^{d} z_i X_i$, $W = \sum_{i=1}^{d} w_i X_i$. Since \mathfrak{g}_1 is an ideal in \mathfrak{g} , there is a normal Lie subgroup $G_1 \subseteq G$ whose Lie algebra is \mathfrak{g}_1 . Let $q : G \to G/G_1$ denote the projection over the quotient, $\tilde{z} = q(z)$, $\tilde{w} = q(w)$,

 $\tilde{Z} = (dq)_0(Z), \ \tilde{W} = (dq)_0(W)$. Notice that ker $(dq)_0 = \mathfrak{g}_1$ and $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{g}_1$ is a trivial Lie algebra with the induced product. Therefore, by the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula,

$$\tilde{z} * \tilde{w} = \tilde{z} + \tilde{w}. \tag{2.2.2}$$

On the other hand, by Theorem 2.2.2 it holds that

$$\exp_{G/G_1}(\tilde{Z}) \exp_{G/G_1}(\tilde{W}) = q(\exp_G(Z) \exp_G(W)) = q(\exp_G(Z + W + \sum_{i=1}^d P_i(z, w)X_i)) = \exp_{G/G_1}(\tilde{Z} + \tilde{W} + \sum_{i=1}^{d-n_1} P_i(z, w)X_i).$$
(2.2.3)

Taking \log_{G/G_1} in (2.2.3), we obtain

$$\tilde{z} * \tilde{w} = \tilde{z} + \tilde{w} + (P_1(z, w), \dots, P_{d-n_1}(z, w), 0, \dots, 0).$$
 (2.2.4)

From (2.2.2) and (2.2.4), we obtain that $P_i = 0 \,\forall i = 1, ..., d - n_1$.

From Theorem 2.2.3 it can be proved that right translations are maps whose Jacobian determinant is equal to 1 at any point, and the change of variables gives us the following theorem. The interested reader can find the details as Theorem 1.2.9 and Theorem 1.2.10 in [42].

Proposition 2.2.4. Let G be a simply connected nilpotent group. Then, after having chosen a strong Malcev basis on \mathfrak{g} , the exponential takes the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d to a Haar measure μ on G, that is, for any $A \subset G$ measurable and any $f: G \to \mathbb{R}$ integrable, one has

$$\mu(A) = |\log(A)| \quad and \quad \int_G f d\mu = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f \circ \exp)(x) dx.$$

The Lebesgue measure of \mathbb{R}^d will be denoted as $|\cdot|$ and, as we can see Theorem 1.2.10 in [42], it coincides with the Haar measure on \mathbb{R}^d with this product.

From now on, we shall denote a simply connected nilpotent group as (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) .

The dimension at infinity D of a simply connected nilpotent group (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) is defined by

$$D = \sum i m_i,$$

where $m_i := \dim(\mathfrak{g}_{i-1}) - \dim(\mathfrak{g}_i)$.

Given a simply connected nilpotent group (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) and a system of linearlyindependent left-invariant vector fields $X = \{X_1, \ldots, X_k\}$, we define the distributions

$$\mathcal{H} := \operatorname{span}(X) \qquad \mathcal{H}^n := \mathcal{H}^{n-1} + [\mathcal{H}^{n-1}, \mathcal{H}^0]$$

where $\mathcal{H}^0 = \mathcal{H}$. A vector field U is said to be *horizontal* if $U(x) \in \mathcal{H}_x$ for all x in \mathbb{R}^d . The *local dimension* of \mathbb{R}^d and X, denoted by l, is defined as

$$l=\sum im_i',$$

where $m'_i := \dim(\mathcal{H}^{i-1}) - \dim(\mathcal{H}^{i-2})$ and $m'_1 := \dim(\mathcal{H})$.

We consider a left-invariant Riemannian metric $g := \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ forming X an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} , and making orthogonal the subbundles \mathcal{H} and V, where V is a complementary subbundle of \mathcal{H} .

The following result can be seen in Section IV.5 of [164].

Theorem 2.2.5 (Proposition IV.5.6 and Proposition IV.5.7 in [164]). Let (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) be a simply connected nilpotent group with X a bracket-generating system and D and l the dimension at infinity and the local dimension respectively. There exist positive constants α and β such that

$$\alpha^{-1}t^{l} \leq |B(0,t)| \leq \alpha t^{l} \quad 0 \leq t \leq 1,$$

$$\beta^{-1}t^{D} \leq |B(0,t)| \leq \beta t^{D} \quad t > 1.$$
(2.2.5)

In particular, we obtain the following inequality.

$$\mu(B(x,s)) \leqslant C\left(\frac{s}{r}\right)^l \mu(B(x,r)), \qquad (2.2.6)$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $0 < r \leq s \leq 1$.

We shall denote by $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ a simply connected sub-Finsler nilpotent group, where \cdot is the group product, X is a family of k linearly-independent vector fields and $K \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ is a convex body with $0 \in int(K)$.

2.2.1 Sub-Finsler Carnot groups

We refer the reader to [106] for the details on the rest of this section.

A stratification of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is a direct-sum decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g} = V_0 \oplus \ldots \oplus V_r,$$

for some integer $r \ge 1$, where $V_r \ne \{0\}$, $[V_0, V_i] = V_{i+1}$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ and $V_{r+1} = \{0\}$. We say that a Lie algebra is *stratifiable* if there exists a stratification on it. We say that a Lie algebra is *stratified* when it is stratifiable and endowed with a fixed stratification. We say that a Lie group is *stratifiable* if it is connected and simply connected and its Lie algebra is stratifiable.

The following lemma assures that any stratifiable group is a nilpotent group.

Lemma 2.2.6. Let $\mathfrak{g} = V_0 \oplus \ldots \oplus V_r$ be a stratified Lie algebra. Then

 $\mathfrak{g}_{k-1} = V_k \oplus \ldots \oplus V_r.$

In particular, \mathfrak{g} is a simply connected nilpotent Lie algebra of step r, and $\mathfrak{g} = V_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1$.

It is worth noting that Theorem 2.2.3 manifests that the multiplication map acts as a sum in the coordinates corresponding to V_0 .

Remark 2.2.7. In a stratifiable group, not every subspace V_0 such that $\mathfrak{g} = V_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1$ generates a stratification. Moreover, not every nilpotent group is stratifiable (see Example 1.8 and 1.9 [106]).

Proposition 2.2.8. Let g be a stratifiable Lie algebra with stratifications

 $\mathfrak{g} = V_0 \oplus \ldots \oplus V_r = W_0 \oplus \ldots \oplus W_s.$

Then r = s and there exists a Lie algebra automorphism $A : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ such that $A(V_i) = W_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r$.

Proposition 2.2.8 guarantees that for a stratifiable group (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) , the natural number

$$Q = \sum_{i=1}^{r} i \dim(V_i),$$

does not depends on the particular stratification. Q is called the *homogeneous dimension* of (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) .

Remark 2.2.9. Given a simply connected nilpotent group (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) with a system of left-invariant vector fields X, dimension at infinity D and local dimension l, it is clear that $D \ge l$. Moreover, D = l if and only if (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) is stratifiable and X generates a stratification on \mathfrak{g} . Moreover, D = l = Q.

For $\lambda > 0$ we define the *dilation on* \mathfrak{g} *of factor* λ as the unique linear map $\delta_{\lambda} : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ such that

$$\delta_{\lambda}(X) = \lambda^{t} X \quad \forall X \in V_{t} \; \forall t \in \{1, \dots, r\}.$$

Remark 2.2.10. Dilations $\delta_{\lambda} : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ are Lie algebra isomorphisms.

The fact that (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) is simply connected certifies that there exists a unique Lie groups automorphism $\delta_{\lambda} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ (denoted as the dilation on the Lie algebra) whose differential at 0 is the dilation on \mathfrak{g} of factor λ . This automorphism is called *dilation on* (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) of factor λ .

Proposition 2.2.11. Let (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) be a stratified group and let $\lambda > 0$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f dx = \lambda^Q \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f \circ \delta_\lambda) dx,$$

where Q is the homogeneous dimension of (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) .

Let (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) be a stratified group with stratification

$$\mathfrak{g}=V_0\oplus V_2\oplus\ldots\oplus V_r$$

We take the Malcev basis $\{Y_1, \ldots, Y_d\}$ given by Lemma 2.2.1. In particular,

$$\operatorname{span}\{Y_1\ldots,Y_k\}=V_0$$

where $k = d - \dim(\mathfrak{g}_1)$.

We can extend Y_1, \ldots, Y_k to a family of linearly-independent left-invariant vector fields, also denoted by Y_1, \ldots, Y_k . A stratified group (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot) with $X = \{Y_1, \ldots, Y_k\}$ and a convex body K in \mathbb{R}^k with $0 \in \operatorname{int}(K)$ is called *sub-Finsler Carnot group*, and is denoted by (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, K) . The sub-Finsler CC distance is denoted by d_K .

It is easy to check that d_K is homogeneous with respect to δ_{λ} , that is,

$$d_K(\delta_\lambda(p), \delta_\lambda(q)) = \lambda d_K(p, q) \qquad \forall \lambda > 0 \ \forall p, q \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.2.7)

Moreover, the sub-Finsler CC distance of two given points p and p' is preserved by left translations. That is, for any q in \mathbb{R}^d , we have

$$d_K(\ell_q(p), \ell_q(p')) = d_K(p, p'),$$

where $\ell_q(p) = q \cdot p$.

Given $0 < L \leq 1$, we denote g_L the Riemannian metric making orthonormal the basis

$$\tilde{Y}_i = L^{\frac{j}{2}} Y_i,$$

where $Y_i \in V_j$. When L is 1 we shall omit the subindex L.

Thanks to Theorem 2.2.3, the projection over the first k coordinates q_1 of the product is given by

$$q_1\left(p\exp(t\sum_{i=1}^k v_i Y_i)\right) = p_1 + tv,$$

where $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_k) \in \mathbb{R}^k$, $p = (p_1, p_2) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{d-k}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$. In particular, it is easy to check that the projection of $(d\ell_p)_0(v)$ over $V = \operatorname{span}\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}, \ldots, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}\}, q_V$, is given by

$$q_V\Big((d\ell_p)_0(\sum_{i=1}^k v_i Y_i)\Big) = \sum_{i=1}^k v_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}.$$

In particular, we get

$$Y_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + \sum_{j=k+1}^d f_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$

for some smooth functions $f_{i,j}$.

2.2.2 The Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^n

In this subsection we follow the notation and background given in [151]. We define the product * in $\mathbb{R}^{2n+1} \equiv \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$(z,t)\cdot(z',t'):=(z+z',t+t'+\sum_{i=1}^{n}\operatorname{Im}(z_{i}\overline{z_{i}}')),$$

where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ and $z' = (z'_1, \ldots, z'_n)$. The Lie group $(\mathbb{R}^{2n+1}, \cdot)$ is referred to as the *n* Heisenberg group and denoted by \mathbb{H}^n . For $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$, the left translation by p is the diffeomorphism $\ell_p(q) = p \cdot q$. A basis of left-invariant vector fields is given by

$$X_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \qquad Y_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} - x_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \qquad T = \frac{\partial}{\partial t},$$

where i = 1..., n and $z_i = (x_i, y_i) \in \mathbb{C}$. The horizontal distribution \mathcal{H} in \mathbb{H}^n is the smooth planar distribution generated by $X_1, Y_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_n$. The horizontal projection of a vector U onto \mathcal{H} will be denoted by U_h . A vector field U is called horizontal if $U = U_h$. A horizontal curve is a C^1 curve whose tangent vector lies in the horizontal distribution.

Note that $[X_i, T] = [Y_i, T] = 0$, while $[X_i, Y_i] = -2T$. The last equality implies that \mathcal{H} is a bracket generating distribution. Moreover, by Frobenius Theorem we have that \mathcal{H} is nonintegrable. The horizontal distribution \mathcal{H} is the kernel of the (contact) 1-form $\omega := \sum_{i=1}^n -y_i \, dx_i + x_i \, dy_i + dt$.

We shall consider on \mathbb{H}^n the (left invariant) Riemannian metric $g = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ so that $\{X_1, Y_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_n, T\}$ is an orthonormal basis at every point, and the associated Levi-Civitá connection D. The modulus of a vector field Uwith respect to this Riemannian metric will be denoted by |U|. The following derivatives can be easily computed

$$D_{X_{i}}X_{j} = 0, \qquad D_{Y_{i}}Y_{i} = 0, \qquad D_{T}T = 0,$$

$$D_{X_{i}}Y_{j} = -\delta_{i,j}T, \qquad D_{X_{i}}T = Y_{i}, \qquad D_{Y_{i}}T = -X_{i},$$

$$D_{Y_{i}}X_{j} = \delta_{i,j}T, \qquad D_{T}X = Y, \qquad D_{T}Y_{i} = -X_{i}$$
(2.2.8)

for any $1 \leq i, j \leq n$, where $\delta_{i,j}$ is the Kronecker delta. Setting $J(U) = D_U T$ for any vector field U in \mathbb{H}^n we get $J(X_i) = Y_i, J(Y_i) = -X_i$ and J(T) = 0. Therefore $-J^2$ coincides with the identity when restricted to the horizontal distribution.

The Riemannian volume of a set E is, up to a constant, the Haar measure of the group and is denoted by |E|. The integral of a function f with respect to the Riemannian measure by $\int f d\mathbb{H}^n$.

2.2.2.1 Immersed surfaces in \mathbb{H}^1

We consider oriented surfaces of class C^2 immersed in \mathbb{H}^1 and we shall choose a unit normal to S. In case S is the boundary of a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{H}^1$, we always choose the *outer* unit normal. The *singular set* of S is denoted by S_0 and it is composed of the points in $p \in S$ where the tangent space T_pS coincides with the horizontal distribution \mathcal{H}_p . The *horizontal* unit normal ν_h is defined in $S \setminus S_0$ by

$$\nu_h = \frac{N_h}{|N_h|}$$

The vector field Z is defined by

$$Z = -J(\nu_h).$$

The vector field Z is defined on $S \setminus S_0$ and it is tangent to S and horizontal. It generates at every point $p \in S \setminus S_0$ the subspace $T_p S \cap \mathcal{H}_p$.

2.3 (X, K)-variation and (X, K)-Caccioppoli sets

Let $X = \{X_1, \ldots, X_k\}$ in \mathbb{R}^d be a family of linearly-independent smooth vector fields and $|\cdot|_K$ the norm associated to a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ with $0 \in int(K)$.

Given a horizontal vector field U in an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is said *horizontal* if $U(p) \in \mathcal{H}_p$ for all $p \in \Omega$. The set of horizontal vector fields in Ω of class $C_c^1(\Omega)$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}_c^1(\Omega)$.

Taking X' a family of d linearly-independent smooth vector fields that extends X, we consider the Riemannian metric g making X' an orthonormal basis. We write the divergence of $U = \sum_{i=1}^{k} u_i X_i \in \mathcal{H}^1(\Omega)$ as

$$\operatorname{div} U = \sum_{i=1}^{k} X_i(u_i).$$

Remark 2.3.1. Fixed a distribution \mathcal{H} and a Riemannian metric g in \mathcal{H} , div is independent of the chosen family X orthonormal at every point.

Given an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and a function $u : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ in $L^1(\Omega)$, we define say that u has *locally finite* (X, K)-variation in Ω if for any relatively compact open set $V \subset \Omega$ we have

$$V_K(u;V) = \sup\left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \operatorname{div} U \, dx \, : \, U \in \mathcal{H}^1_c(V), \ |U|_{K,\infty} \leqslant 1\right\} < +\infty.$$

In this expression, $|U|_{K,\infty} = \sup_{p \in V} |U_p|_{K}$. The integral is computed with respect to the Lebesgue measure dx on \mathbb{R}^d . If u is the characteristic function of a measurable set E, we say that E is a *locally* (X, K)-*Caccioppoli set* or a *locally* (X, K)-finite perimeter set.

The quantity $V_K(u; \Omega)$ is called the (X, K)-variation of u in Ω . Whenever u is the characteristic function of a measurable set E, $V_K(u; \Omega)$ is called the

(X, K)-perimeter of E in Ω and is denoted by $P_K(E; \Omega)$. When X defines a structure of Carnot group, we call P_K the K-perimeter. We shall write $P_K(E)$ whenever $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$.

Let K, K' convex bodies with 0 in its interior. Then there exist constants $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that

$$\alpha |x|_{K'} \leqslant |x|_K \leqslant \beta |x|_{K'}, \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^k.$$

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ an open set, $V \subset \Omega$ a relatively open set and $u : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ in $L^1(\Omega)$. Take $U \in \mathcal{H}^1_c(V)$ with $|U|_{K,\infty} \leq 1$. Hence $|\alpha U|_{K'} \leq |U|_K \leq 1$ and

$$\int_E u \operatorname{div}(U) dx = \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_E u \operatorname{div}(\alpha U) dx \leqslant \frac{1}{\alpha} V_K(u; V),$$

Taking supremum over the vector fields in $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{1}(V)$ with $|\cdot|_{K} \leq 1$, we get $V_{K}(u;V) \leq \frac{1}{\alpha}V_{K'}(u;V)$. In a similar way we get $\frac{1}{\beta}V_{K'}(u;V) \leq V_{K}(u;V)$, so that we have

$$\frac{1}{\beta}V_{K'}(u;V) \leqslant V_K(u;V) \leqslant \frac{1}{\alpha}V_{K'}(u;V).$$
(2.3.1)

As a consequence, u has locally finite (X, K)-variation if and only if it has locally finite (X, K')-variation.

Let $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a set with locally finite (X, K)-perimeter in Ω . We can define a linear functional $L: C_c^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$L(h) = L((h_1, \dots, h_k)) = \int_E \operatorname{div}(h_1 X_1 + \dots + h_k U_k) \, dx.$$

For any relatively compact open set $V \subset \Omega$ we have

$$C(V) := \sup\{L(h) : h \in C_c^1(V, \mathbb{R}^k), \ |h|_{K,\infty} \leq 1\} < +\infty,$$

We fix any compact subset $C \subset \Omega$ and take a relatively compact open set V such that $C \subset V \subset \Omega$. For each $h \in C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with support in K we can find a sequence of C^1 functions $(h_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with support in V such that h_i converges uniformly to h. Hence equality

$$\overline{L}(h) = \lim_{i \to \infty} L(h_i)$$

allows to extend L to a linear functional $\overline{L}: C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k) \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying

$$\sup\{\overline{L}(h): h \in C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k), \operatorname{supp}(h) \subset C, |h|_{K,\infty} \leq 1\} \leq C(V) < +\infty.$$

The proof of the Riesz Representation Theorem, see § 1.8 in [59], can be adapted to obtain the existence of a Radon measure μ_K on Ω and a μ_K -measurable function $\nu_K = (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_k) : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^k$ satisfying

$$\overline{L}(h) = \int_{\Omega} \langle h, \nu_K \rangle \, d\mu_K.$$

The measure μ_K is the total variation measure

$$\mu_K(V) = \sup\{\bar{L}(h) : h \in C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k), \ \operatorname{supp}(h) \subset V, \ |h|_{K,\infty} \leq 1\}$$

that coincides with $P_K(E; V)$ since \overline{L} is a continuous extension of L. Henceforth we denote μ_K by $|\partial E|_K$ and we shall drop the subscript K when the convex is the unit disk D.

Let us check that

$$|(\nu_K)_p|_{K,*} = 1 \text{ for } |\partial E|_K \text{-a.e. } p.$$
 (2.3.2)

Here $|\cdot|_{K,*}$ is the dual norm of $|\cdot|_{K}$. To prove (2.3.2) we take a relatively compact open set $V \subset \Omega$ and $h \in C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with $\operatorname{supp}(h) \subset V$ and $|h|_{K,\infty} \leq$ 1. Since $\langle h, \nu_K \rangle \leq |\nu_K|_{K,*}$ we have

$$\overline{L}(h) \leqslant \int_{V} |\nu_{K}|_{K,*} d|\partial E|_{K,*}$$

Taking supremum over such g we have

$$|\partial E|_K(V) \leq \int_V |\nu_K|_{K,*} d|\partial E|_K.$$

On the other hand, we can take a sequence $(\varphi_i) = ((\varphi_1)_i, \ldots, (\varphi_k)_i)$ in $C_c^1(V)$ such that $|\varphi_i|_K \leq 1$ and $\langle \varphi_i, \nu_K \rangle$ converges to $|\nu_K|_{K,*} |\partial E|_{K}$ -a.e. This is a consequence of Lusin's Theorem, see § 1.2 in [59], and follows by approximating the measurable function $\pi_K(\nu_K)$ by continuous uniformly bounded functions. Then we would have

$$\int_{V} |\nu_{K}|_{K,*} d|\partial E|_{K} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \langle \varphi_{i}, \nu_{K} \rangle d|\partial E|_{K} \leq |\partial E|_{K} (V).$$

So we would have

$$|\partial E|_K(V) = \int_V |\nu_K|_{K,*} d|\partial E|_K$$

and so $|\nu_K|_{K,*} = 1$ for $|\partial E|_K$ -a.e. Observe that $h = (h_1, \ldots, h_k)$ and $\nu_K = (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_k)$ can be canonically identified with the vector fields $\sum_{i=1}^k h_i X_i$ and $\sum_{i=1}^k \nu_i X_i$. Thus we obtained the following result.

Theorem 2.3.2. Let E be a finite perimeter set in \mathbb{R}^d and $U \in \mathcal{H}^1_c(\Omega)$. Then, there exists a measure $|\partial E|_K$ and a $|\partial E|_K$ -measurable function ν_K with $|\nu_K|_{K,*} = 1$ such that

$$\int_{E} \operatorname{div}(U) dx = \int_{V} \langle U, \nu_{K} \rangle |\partial E|_{K}.$$
(2.3.3)

2.3.1 Representations of the (X, K)-variation

Given two convex sets $K, K' \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ containing 0 in their interiors, We shall obtain the following representation formula for the sub-Finsler perimeter measure $|\partial E|_K$ and the vector field ν_K in terms of K' and ν_K .

Theorem 2.3.3. Given two convex sets $K, K' \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ with 0 in their interiors,

$$|\partial E|_{K} = |\nu_{K'}|_{K,*} |\partial E|_{K'}, \quad \nu_{K} = \frac{\nu_{K'}}{|\nu_{K'}|_{K,*}}.$$
(2.3.4)

In particular, considering the unit disk D and its associated sub-Finsler perimeter measure $|\partial E|$, we have

$$P_K(E) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nu|_{K,*} |\partial E|, \qquad (2.3.5)$$

where $\nu = \nu_D$ and $|\partial E| = |\partial E|_K$.

Proof. From (2.3.1), there exist two positive constants λ , Λ such that

$$\lambda |\partial E|_K \leqslant |\partial E|_{K'} \leqslant \Lambda |\partial E|_K.$$

This implies that each of the Radon measures $|\partial E|_K$, $|\partial E|_{K'}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to the other one. Hence both Radon-Nikodym derivatives exist. Take a relatively compact open set $V \subset \Omega$ and $U \in \mathcal{H}^1_0(V)$. Then we have

$$\int_{V} \langle U, \nu_{K'} \rangle \, d|\partial E|_{K'} = \int_{V} \chi_{E} \operatorname{div}(U) \, d\mathbb{H}^{1}$$
$$= \int_{V} \langle U, \nu_{K} \rangle \, d|\partial E|_{K} = \int_{V} \langle U, \frac{d|\partial E|_{K}}{d|\partial E|_{K'}} \, \nu_{K} \rangle \, d|\partial E|_{K'}.$$
(2.3.6)

By the uniqueness of $\nu_{K'}$ we have

$$\nu_{K'} = \frac{d|\partial E|_K}{d|\partial E|_{K'}}\nu_K, \quad |\partial E|_{K'} \text{-a.e.}$$
(2.3.7)

On the other hand, inserting $U \in \mathcal{H}_0^1(V)$ in (2.3.6) with $|U|_K \leq 1$ we get

$$\int_{V} \langle U, \nu_{K} \rangle d|\partial E|_{K} = \int_{V} \langle U, \nu_{K'} \rangle d|\partial E|_{K'} \leqslant \int_{V} |\nu_{K'}|_{K,*} d|\partial E|_{K'}.$$

Taking supremum over U we obtain

$$\int_{V} \frac{d|\partial E|_{K}}{d|\partial E|_{K'}} d|\partial E|_{K'} = |\partial E|_{K}(V) \leqslant \int_{V} |\nu_{K'}|_{K,*} d|\partial E|_{K'}$$

and, since V is arbitrary, we have

$$\frac{d|\partial E|_K}{d|\partial E|_{K'}} \leqslant |\nu_{K'}|_{K,*} \quad |\partial E|_{K}\text{-}a.e.$$
(2.3.8)

Substituting (2.3.7) into (2.3.8) we have

$$\frac{d|\partial E|_K}{d|\partial E|_{K'}} \leqslant |\nu_{K'}|_{K,*} = \frac{d|\partial E|_K}{d|\partial E|_{K'}} \quad |\partial E|_K \text{-a.e.}$$

Hence we have equality and so

$$\frac{d|\partial E|_K}{d|\partial E|_{K'}} = |\nu_{K'}|_{K,*} \quad |\partial E|_{K} \text{-a.e.}$$

$$(2.3.9)$$

Hence we get from equation (2.3.4) from (2.3.9) and (2.3.7).

For the closed unit disk $D \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ centered at 0 we know that in the C^1 case $\nu_D = \nu_h$ and $|N_h| = |N_h|_{D,*}$. Hence we have

$$|\partial E|_K = |\nu_h|_{K,*} d|\partial E|, \quad \nu_K = \frac{\nu_h}{|\nu_h|_{K,*}}.$$

Here $|\partial E|$ is the standard sub-Riemannian perimeter measure.

Proposition 2.3.4. Let (\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, K) be a sub-Finsler Carnot group. Given Ω and E open sets in \mathbb{R}^d with $S = \partial E$ Euclidean Lipschitz, then

$$P_K(E;\Omega) = \int_{S \cap \Omega} |N_h(p)|_{K,*} dS(p), \qquad (2.3.10)$$

where N_h is the horizontal projection of the unit normal to S and dS is the Riemannian measure on S.

Notes

Notes of § 2.3 1. In [115] and in [38] can be seen definitions of area for immersed submanifold of fixed degree in stratified groups and in graded manifolds respectively. A notion of perimeter for submanifolds with intrinsic regularity in Heisenberg groups can be found in [73]. See also [86].

Notes of § 2.3.1 1. An alternative proof of (2.3.5) is given in Appendix A using techniques of convex analysis developed by Bouchitté and Valadier in [20]. This approach can be adapted to generalize the result to a CC space with a different norm in any subspace \mathcal{H}_p , although we will restrict to the case with only one fixed norm.

Chapter 3

Existence of isoperimetric regions in sub-Finsler nilpotent groups

This chapter contains the results of a work in progress.

We consider a sub-Finsler nilpotent group $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$. In this chapter we prove the existence of minimizers of the perimeter functional P_K associated to $|\cdot|_K$ under a volume (Haar measure) constraint.

The privileged position of Carnot groups within geometric measure theory is revealed by its characterization as the only metric spaces that are locally compact, geodesic, isometrically homogeneous, and self-similar (i.e. admitting a dilation). This characterization can be found as Theorem 1.1 in [105]. Removing the self-similarity condition, sub-Finsler nilpotent groups acquire relevant importance.

In sub-Riemannian geometry, apart from the compact case, there are few known results. Galli and Ritoré proved in [77] an existence result in contact sub-Riemannian manifolds. The argument followed Morgan's structure: they pick a minimizing sequence of sets of volume v whose perimeters approach the infimum of the perimeters of sets of volume v. This sequence can be splitted into two subsequences. The first subsequence is converging to a set, and it is proved that is isoperimetric for its volume and bounded. Nevertheless, it might be a loss of mass at infinity. In this case, they use isometries to translate the second subsequence, which is diverging, to recover some of the lost volume. An essential point is that they always recover a fixed fraction of the volume.

The main result of the chapter is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.0.1 (Existence of isoperimetric regions). Let (G, X, K) be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group. Then, for any v > 0, there exists a finite perimeter set E such that |E| = v and $I_K(v) = P_K(E)$. Moreover, E has a finite

number of connected components.

This result is an extension of the existence result of Leonardi and Rigot for nilpotent groups with no dilations and a sub-Finsler norm. The proof follows the arguments in [77]. As in [77], one of the main difficulties is to prove a Deformation Lemma that allow us to increase the volume of any finite perimeter set while modifying the perimeter in a controlled way, more precisely, the difference of the perimeters is linear with respect to the volume we are adding.

We shall assume the validity of the following result.

Theorem 3.0.2 (Deformation Lemma). Let (G, X, K) be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group. Let $F \subseteq G$ be a finite perimeter and finite volume set and suppose that there exists $p \in int(F)$. Then there exist $C_3 > 0$ and a family of finite perimeter sets $\{F^{\lambda}\}$ such that $|F^{\lambda}| \ge |F| + \lambda C$ and

$$P_K(F^{\lambda}) - P_K(F) \leqslant C_3 \lambda. \tag{3.0.1}$$

There are a large number of deformation lemmas in literature, some of them in [7; 6; 77; 114; 122; 131; 134]. The proof of Theorem 3.0.2 usually relies on taking a vector field U and use the formulas for the first variation of the volume and the area. In [77], Galli and Ritoré used a calibration argument, exploiting that Pansu spheres in \mathbb{H}^1 have constant mean curvature to construct, in a neighborhood of a given point, a horizontal vector field with bounded divergence.

By a calibration argument, we obtain in Proposition 3.2.1 that the isoperimetric profile is non-decreasing. One advantage of our proof of Theorem 3.0.2 is that the constant C depends only on the radius of a ball inside F. The property of sub-additiveness of the isoperimetric profile is proven in Corollary 3.3.3. We shall also extend the properties obtained in Carnot groups by Leonardi and Rigot in [109], that isoperimetric regions are bounded and its topological and essential boundaries coincide.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 3.1, we fix some notation and give some background on sub-Finsler nilpotent groups and the notion of K-perimeter. In Section 3.2, we prove Theorem 3.0.2 and study some properties of the isoperimetric regions such as that they are open up to a nullset (Corollary 3.2.3), bounded (Theorem 3.2.9) and its essential and topological boundaries coincide (Theorem 3.2.8), and prove in Proposition 3.2.1 that the isoperimetric profile is non-decreasing. In Section 3.3, we prove Theorem 3.0.1, the existence of isoperimetric regions and deduce that the isoperimetric profile is a sub-additive function in Corollary 3.3.3.

3.1 Preliminaries

We consider a left-invariant Riemannian metric $g := \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ forming X an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}^0 , and making orthogonal the subbundles \mathcal{H}^0 and V, where V is a complementary subbundle of \mathcal{H}^0 .

From the definition and that the Lebesgue measure is invariant by left-translations it follows that, for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$P_{(X,K)}(\ell_p \cdot E; \ell_p \cdot \Omega) = P_{(X,K)}(E; \Omega).$$

We shall use exhaustively the following decomposition of the K-perimeter

$$P_K(E) \ge P_K(E \cap B) + P_K(E \setminus B) - 2C_1 P(E \cap B; \partial B), \qquad (3.1.1)$$

where B is any sub-Riemannian ball in \mathbb{R}^d and P is the sub-Riemannian perimeter. Indeed, we have

$$P_K(E \cap B) = P_K(E \cap B; B) + P_K(E \cap B; B^c) = P_K(E; B) + P_K(E \cap B; \partial B).$$

From the above equation and the relation between the Euclidean and the Minkowski norm (2.3.1), we obtain

$$P_K(E;B) = P_K(E \cap B) - P_K(E \cap B;\partial B)$$

$$\geq P_K(E \cap B) - C_1^{-1}P(E \cap B;\partial B).$$
(3.1.2)

Similarly, it holds

$$P_{K}(E; \bar{B}^{c}) = P_{K}(E \setminus B) - P_{K}(E \setminus B; \partial B)$$

$$\geq P_{K}(E \setminus B) - C_{1}^{-1}P(E \setminus B; \partial B)$$

$$= P_{K}(E \setminus B) - C_{1}^{-1}P(E \cap B; \partial B).$$
(3.1.3)

Adding (3.1.2) and (3.1.3), we obtain (3.1.1).

The following relation between the sub-Riemannian perimeter and the derivative of the volume can be found as Lemma 3.5 in [4].

Lemma 3.1.1. Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group. Let $F \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be a finite (sub-Riemannian) perimeter set and B_r the sub-Riemannian ball of radius r centered in 0. Then for a.e. r > 0, we have

$$\max\{P(F \cap B_r; \partial B_r), P(F \setminus B_r; \partial B_r)\} \leqslant -\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=r} |F \setminus B_s|.$$
(3.1.4)

A measurable set F is said to have density s at a point x provided the following limit exists and equals s

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{|F \cap B(x,r)|}{|B(x,r)|}.$$

The set of points where de density of F is s is denoted by F_s . The essential boundary of F is $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus (F_1 \cup F_0)$.

3.1.1 Isoperimetric inequality for small volumes

A fundamental tool in a metric measure space (X, d, μ) is the existence of a (1, 1)-Poincaré Inequality, that is, the existence of constants $C \ge 0$ and $\lambda \ge 1$ such that

$$\int_{B(p,r)} |f - f_{p,r}| d\mu \leqslant Cr \int_{B(p,\lambda r)} |\nabla f| d\mu, \qquad (3.1.5)$$

for all f locally Lipschitz, where B(p,r) is the metric ball of center p and radius r, $f_{p,r} := 1/|B(p,r)| \int_{B(p,r)} f d\mu$ and $|\nabla f|$ is an upper gradient of f in the sense of Heinonen and Koskela [96]. In the context of connected Lie groups with polynomial volume growth, a (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality was proven by Varopoulos in [163], and in \mathbb{R}^d with a Lie bracket generating system by Jerison in [101]. As stated by Hajlasz and Koskela in Theorem 5.1 and 9.7 in [95], the (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality (3.1.5) together with (2.2.6)implies the following Sobolev inequality.

$$\left(\int_{B(p,r)} |f - f_{p,r}|^{l/(l-1)} d\mu\right)^{(l-1)/l} \leq \tilde{C}r \int_{B(p,r)} |\nabla f| d\mu.$$
(3.1.6)

From Inequality (3.1.6) and (2.3.1), the relative isoperimetric inequality easily follows (see also Theorem 1.18 in [82]).

Theorem 3.1.2 (Relative Isoperimetric inequality). Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group with local dimension l. There exists C > 0 such that if $F \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is any finite perimeter, then

$$C\min\{|F \cap B(p,r)|, |B(p,r) \setminus F|\}^{(l-1)/l} \leq P_K(F; B(p,r)), \qquad (3.1.7)$$

for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $0 < r \leq 1$.

From a classical covering argument, we obtain the following isoperimetric inequality for small volumes. The proof follows identically as in Lemma 3.10 of [77]. It is also proven in Proposition 3.20 [7], in the context of PI-spaces, that is, metric measure spaces satisfying a weak (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality and doubling property, which are uniformly s-Ahlfors regular.

Theorem 3.1.3 (Isoperimetric inequality for small volumes). Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group with local dimension l. There exists $C_2 > 0$ and $v_0 > 0$ such that if $F \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ is any finite perimeter set and $|F| < v_0$, then

$$C_2|F|^{l-1/l} \leqslant P_K(F).$$
 (3.1.8)

3.2 **Properties of isoperimetric regions**

Throughout this section, $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ denotes a nilpotent group with X a Lie bracket generating system, K denotes a convex body in \mathcal{H}_0^0 containing 0 in its interior, B(p, r) the sub-Riemannian ball centered in p of radius r > 0. We shall see that an isoperimetric region E is open up to a nullset and its topological and essential boundary coincide, using the arguments developed in [109; 49]. We shall also prove that isoperimetric regions are bounded. Moreover, we shall prove a Deformation Lemma.

The isoperimetric profile is defined as

$$I_K(v) := \inf\{P_K(E) : E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d \text{ is a finite perimeter set and } |E| = v\}.$$

Proposition 3.2.1. Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group. The isoperimetric profile is non-decreasing.

Proof. We recall from the previous section that we can take X_1 in $X \setminus \mathfrak{g}_1$, \mathcal{D} be the distribution orthogonal to X_1 and S a hypersurface passing through 0 with $TS = \mathcal{D}$. Moreover, S is orientable. Let S^+ and S^- the open regions in \mathbb{R}^d with boundary S and horizontal normal vectors X_1 and $-X_1$ respectively.

Fix v > w > 0 and let $E_n \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $|E_n| = v$ and $P_K(E_n) = I_K(v) + \frac{1}{n}$. Let p_n be such that $|\ell_{p_n}E_n \cap S^+| = w$. By abuse of notation, we will write E_n and E_n^- for $\ell_{p_n}E_n$ and $\ell_{p_n}E_n \cap S^-$ respectively. Let $U \in \Pi_K(X_1)$ be a projection over K, that is, satisfying (??). Applying (2.3.3) to E_n^- and U, we get

$$\int_{E_n^-} \operatorname{div} U dx = -\int_{E_n \cap S} \langle \pi_K(X_1), X_1 \rangle d |\partial E_n^-|_K + \int_{E_n^-} \langle U, \nu \rangle d |\partial E_n^-|_K.$$

Since U has constant coordinates in X, $\operatorname{div} U = 0$. Therefore, from (2.3.5) we get

$$P_{K}(E_{n} \cap S^{+}; S) = \int_{E_{n}^{-}} \langle U, \nu \rangle d |\partial E_{n}^{-}|_{K} \leqslant P_{K}(E_{n}; S^{-}).$$
(3.2.1)

Adding $P_K(E_n; S^+)$ to both sides of Equation (3.2.1), we get

$$I_K(w) \leqslant P_K(E_n \cap S^+) \leqslant P_K(E_n) = I_K(v) + \frac{1}{n}.$$

We shall need the following Lemma proven in [109] for Carnot groups.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let E be an isoperimetric region, $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $0 < r \leq 1$. Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that if $r^{-l}|B(p,r) \setminus E| \leq \varepsilon$, then

$$|B(p, r/2) \setminus E| = 0,$$

where is B(p,r) the sub-Riemannian ball centered in p of radius r > 0.

Proof. Let |E| = v. Suppose that $r^{-l}|B(p,r) \setminus E| \leq \varepsilon$. Let $t > 0, B := B(p,t), E_t := E \cup B$ and $m(t) := |B \setminus E|$. It is clear that

$$P_K(E) \ge P_K(E;B) + P_K(E;\bar{B}^c)$$

= $P_K(E;B) + P_K(E_t;\bar{B}^c).$

It follows that

$$P_K(E_t; \bar{B}^c) \leqslant P_K(E) - P_K(E; B).$$

Then

$$P_{K}(E_{t}) = P_{K}(E_{t}; B) + P_{K}(E_{t}; \bar{B}^{c}) + P_{K}(E_{t}; \partial B)$$

$$\leq P_{K}(E) - P_{K}(E; B) + P_{K}(E_{t}; \partial B), \qquad (3.2.2)$$

where we used that $P_K(E_t; B) = 0$. On the other hand, using (3.1.4) and that $-|E^c \setminus B|' = m'(t)$, we get

$$P_K(E_t;\partial B) \leqslant C_1 P(E_t;\partial B) = C_1 P(E^c \setminus B;\partial B) \leqslant C_1 m'(t).$$
(3.2.3)

Using again (3.1.4),

$$P_K(E;B) = P_K(B \setminus E) - P_K(B \setminus E;\partial B) \ge P_K(B \setminus E) - m'(t). \quad (3.2.4)$$

Since $|E_t| \ge |E|$ and E is an isoperimetric region, Proposition 3.2.1 gives us

$$P_K(E) \leqslant P_K(E_t). \tag{3.2.5}$$

Substituting (6.2.4), (6.2.5) and (6.2.6) in (3.2.2), it follows that

$$P_K(B \setminus E) \leqslant (1 + C_1)m'(t).$$

From the Isoperimetric Inequality (3.1.8),

$$Cm(t)^{l-1/l} \leq m'(t).$$
 (3.2.6)

The above inequalities holds for a.e. t > 0. Suppose that m(t) > 0 for all $t \in [r/2, r]$, otherwise there is nothing to prove. Then we can rewrite Inequality (3.2.6) as

$$C \leqslant \frac{m'(t)}{m(t)^{l-1/l}},$$

and integrating between r/2 and r,

$$r \leq C(m(r)^{1/l} - m(r/2)^{1/l}) \leq Cm(r)^{1/l} \leq C\varepsilon^{1/l}r.$$

This is impossible for ε small enough, and we get a contradiction. Therefore $|B(x, r/2) \setminus E| = 0.$

Corollary 3.2.3. Let E be an isoperimetric region. Then there exists an open set E_0 that coincides with E almost everywhere.

Proof. Let p be in E_1 . By (2.2.6) we get

$$\frac{|B \setminus E|}{|B|} \geqslant \tilde{C} \frac{|B \setminus E|}{r^l} \geqslant 0$$

for r small enough. Since the left hand side of the above inequality converges to 0, we can apply Lemma 3.2.2.

Remark 3.2.4. From now on we shall assume that an isoperimetric region E is exactly E_1 , and therefore an open set.

Remark 3.2.5. Notice that in the proof of Corollary 3.2.4 is important to have the same exponent l in (2.2.6) and in (3.1.8).

Remark 3.2.6. The constant C_3 depends on the radius of the ball B(p,r) taken inside F. Therefore, if r > 0 and F_1 and F_2 are two finite perimeter sets with finite volume such that $B(p_1,r) \subseteq F_1$ and $B(p_2,r) \subseteq F_2$ for some p_1 and p_2 , then we can take $C_3 > 0$ satisfying (3.0.1).

In Lemma 3.2.2 we proved that if we have a ball that is almost contained in an isoperimetric region E, then the ball of half the radius is in E. Following again the arguments in [109] and using the Deformation Lemma 3.0.2, we prove in Lemma 3.2.7 the analog result when the starting ball is almost outside E.

Lemma 3.2.7. Let E be an isoperimetric region, $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $0 < r \leq 1$. Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that if $r^{-l}|E \cap B(p,r)| \leq \varepsilon$, then

$$|E \cap B(p, r/2)| = 0.$$

where is B(p,r) the sub-Riemannian ball centered in x of radius r > 0.

Proof. Let t > 0, B := B(p, t) and $m(t) = |E \cap B|$. Under the assumption that $r^{-l}|E \cap B(x, r)| \leq \varepsilon$, m(t) is small enough to define $E_t := (E \setminus B)^{m(t)}$ as the set given by the Deformation Lemma 3.0.2 with volume $|E_t| = |E|$. Thus

$$P_K(E) \leqslant P_K(E_t).$$

On the other hand, reasoning as in Lemma 3.2.2 and using the Deformation Lemma, we get

$$P_{K}(E_{t}) \leq P_{K}(E \setminus B) + C_{3}m(t)$$

$$\leq P_{K}(E) - P_{K}(E \cap B) + (1 + C_{1})m'(t) + C_{3}m(t)$$

$$\leq P_{K}(E) - m(t)^{l-1/l} + (1 + C_{1})m'(t) + C_{3}m(t).$$

The above inequalities gives us

$$m(t)^{l-1/l} - (1+C_1)m(t) \leq C_3 m'(t).$$

For m(t) small enough, there exists C > 0 such that

$$Cm(t)^{l-1/l} \leq m(t)^{l-1/l} - (1+C_1)m(t),$$

and

$$C'm(t)^{l-1/l} \leqslant m'(t).$$

Again, supposing that m(t) > 0 for all $t \in [r/2, r]$, we have

$$C' \leqslant \frac{m'(t)}{m(t)^{l-1/l}},$$

and integrating over r/2 and r, we get a contradiction for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.

Let E be an isoperimetric region, we define the sets

$$E_1 = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^d : \exists r > 0 \text{ such that } |B(p,r) \setminus E| = 0 \}$$

$$E_0 = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^d : \exists r > 0 \text{ such that } |E \cap B(p,r)| = 0 \}$$

$$S = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^d : \min\{|E \cap B(p,r)|, |B(p,r) \setminus E|\} > \varepsilon \ \forall r \leqslant 1 \}.$$

Theorem 3.2.8. Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group and let E be a isoperimetric region. Then the topological and essential boundaries of E coincide.

Proof. By Lemma 3.2.2 and 3.2.7, the sets E_0 , E_1 and S form a partition of \mathbb{R}^d . Since E_1 and E_0 are open and disjoint, $\partial E_1 \cup \partial E_0 \subseteq S$. On the other hand, if $p \in S$ and r > 0, $B(p,r) \cap E_1 \neq \emptyset$ then $B(p,r) \cap E_0 \neq \emptyset$, otherwise $p \in int(E_1)$, and $p \in \partial E_1 \cap \partial E_0$.

Theorem 3.2.9 (Boundedness). Any isoperimetric region in a sub-Finsler nilpotent group $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ is bounded.

Proof. Let E be an isoperimetric set of volume v, B the sub-Riemannian ball centered in 0 of radius r > 0, and $m(r) = |E \setminus B|$, and $(E \cap B)^{m(r)}$ be the family given by Lemma 3.0.2. Since $|(E \cap B)^{m(r)}| = v$, we have

$$P_K(E) \leqslant P_K((E \cap B)^{m(r)}). \tag{3.2.7}$$

Using the Deformation Lemma (3.0.1), the Isoperimetric inequality (3.1.8) and Equations (3.1.4) and (3.1.1), we get

$$P_{K}((E \cap B)^{m(r)}) \leq P_{K}(E \cap B) + C_{3}m(r)$$

$$\leq P_{K}(E) - P_{K}(E \setminus B) + 2C_{1}P(E \cap B; \partial B) + C_{3}m(r)$$

$$\leq P_{K}(E) - P_{K}(E \setminus B) - 2C_{1}m'(r) + C_{3}m(r)$$

$$\leq P_{K}(E) - C_{2}m(r)^{l-1/l} - 2C_{1}m'(r) + C_{3}m(r).$$
(3.2.8)

Subtracting Inequality (3.2.7) in (3.2.8), we get

$$-2C_1m'(r) \ge C_2m(r)^{l-1/l} - C_3m(r).$$

As m(r) tends to 0 as r tends to ∞ , for r big enough there exists C > 0 such that

$$C_2 m(r)^{l-1/l} - C_3 m(r) \ge C m(r)^{l-1/l}.$$

Let r > 1 and suppose that m(r) > 0. Then

$$\frac{-m'(r)}{m(r)^{l-1/l}} \geqslant C, \tag{3.2.9}$$

Since

$$\int_{1}^{r} \frac{-m'(s)}{m(s)^{l-1/l}} = -\int_{m(1)}^{m(r)} \frac{1}{s^{l-1/l}} ds = m(1)^{1/l} - m(r)^{1/l}.$$
 (3.2.10)

Integrating (3.2.9) between 1 and r and using (3.2.10), we get

$$m(1)^{1/l} \ge Cr + m(r)^{1/l}$$

and r is bounded.

3.3 Existence of isoperimetric regions

Throughout this section, K shall denote a convex body in \mathcal{H}_0^0 containing 0 in its interior and B(p, r) the sub-Riemannian ball centered in p of radius r > 0. We shall follow the arguments of Galli and Ritoré [77].

The following lemma can be found in [109] for Carnot groups, and in the context of sub-Finsler nilpotent groups the proof can be done *mutatis mutandis*.

Lemma 3.3.1 (Concentration Lemma). Let F be a set with finite perimeter and volume. Suppose that there exists $m \in (0, |B(0,1)|/2)$ such that $|F \cap B(p,1)| < m$ for all $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then there exists C > 0 depending only on lsuch that

$$C|F|^{l}P_{K}(F)^{-l} \leq m.$$

The following Lemma can be found in [110].

Lemma 3.3.2. Let $\{E_n\}$ be a sequence of uniformly bounded perimeter sets of volumes $\{v_n\}$ converging to v > 0. Let E be the limit in $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of E_n . Then there exists a divergence sequence of radii $\{r_n\}$ such that, setting $F_n = E_n \setminus B(0, r_n)$ and up to a subsequence, it is satisfied

$$|E| + \liminf_{n \to \infty} |F_n| = v,$$

$$P_K(E) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_K(F_n) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_K(E_n).$$
(3.3.1)

Proof. Take $\{s_n\}$ increasing with $s_n - s_{n+1} > n$. We claim that there exists r_n in $[s_n, s_{n+1}]$ such that

$$P(E_n \cap \partial B(0, r_n); \partial B(0, r_n)) < v_n/n$$

where P and B(0, r) are the sub-Riemannian perimeter and ball of center 0 and radius r respectively. Otherwise, by Inequality (3.1.4) we have

$$v_n < \int_{s_n}^{s_{n+1}} P(E_n \cap \partial B(0,t)) dt \leqslant \int_{s_n}^{s_{n+1}} \frac{d}{ds} |_{s=t} |E_n \cap B(0,s)| dt \leqslant v_n.$$

Therefore, by Inequality (3.1.1) we get

$$P_{K}(E_{n}) \geq P_{K}(E_{n} \cap B(0, r_{n})) + P_{K}(E_{n} \setminus B(0, r_{n})) - 2C_{1}P(E_{n} \cap \partial B(0, r_{n}); \partial B(0, r_{n})) \geq P_{K}(E_{n} \cap B(0, r_{n})) + P_{K}(F_{n}) - 2C_{1}v_{n}/n.$$
(3.3.2)

On the other hand,

$$|E_n| = |E_n \cap B(0, r_n)| + |E_n \setminus B(0, r_n)|.$$
(3.3.3)

Taking inferior limits in n in (3.3.2) and (3.3.3), and using the lower semicontinuity, we have the result.

Proof of Theorem 3.0.1. Let $\{E_n\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a minimizing sequence of sets with $|E_n| = v$ and $P_K(E_n) \leq I_K(v) + \frac{1}{n}$. By compactness, the sequence converges in $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to a set E^0 . Let $v_0 := |E^0|$. By Lemma 3.3.2, we can find a sequence of divergence radii r_n such that, denoting $F_n := E_n \setminus B(0, r_n)$, we have

$$v_0 + \liminf_{n \to \infty} |F_n| = v,$$

$$P_K(E^0) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_K(F_n) \leq I_K(v).$$
(3.3.4)

If $v_0 = v$, then the Theorem is proven. If $v_0 < v$, we claim that E_0 is isoperimetric for its volume. Otherwise, we can find $O \subseteq G$ such that $|O| = v_0$ and $P_K(O) < P_K(E^0)$. By Theorem 3.2.8, O is bounded and by definition of F_n , we can find n_0 such that $\forall n > n_0$, O and F_n are disjoint. Then

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} |O \cup F_n| = |O| + \liminf_{n \to \infty} |F_n| = v.$$

By Equation (3.3.4),

$$I_{K}(v) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(O \cup F_{n})$$

= $P_{K}(O) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(F_{n})$
 $< P_{K}(E^{0}) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(F_{n})$
 $\leq I_{K}(v),$

and we have a contradiction.

Step two. If $v_0 < v$ we apply Lemma 3.3.1 to find a divergent sequence of points $\{p_n^1\}$ such that $|F_n \cap B(p_n, 1)| \ge m_0 |F_n|$. The sets $\ell_{-p_n} F_n$ converge in $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to a set E^1 of volume $v_1 \le \lim_{n\to\infty} |F_n| = v - v_0$. By Lemma 3.3.2, we can find a divergent sequence $\{r'_n\}$ of radii so that the sets $F'_n := (\ell_{-p_n} F_n) \setminus B(0, r'_n)$ verifies

$$v_1 + \liminf_{n \to \infty} |F'_n| = v - v_0,$$

$$P_K(E^1) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_K(F'_n) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_K(F_n).$$
(3.3.5)

Since E^0 in bounded, we can suppose that $E^0 \cap E^1 = \emptyset$. If $v_1 = v - v_0$, then $|E^0 \cup E^1| = |E^0| + |E^1| = v$ and

$$P_K(E^0 \cup E^1) = P_K(E^0) + P_K(E^1) \le P_K(E^0) + \lim_{n \to \infty} P_K(F_n) \le I(v).$$

Thus $E^0 \cup E^1$ is the isoperimetric region of volume v. If $v_1 < v - v_0$, then $E^0 \cup E^1$ is isoperimetric for its volume. Otherwise there exists $O \subset G$ such that $|O| = v_0 + v_1$ and $P_K(O) < P_K(E^0) + P_K(E^1)$. Then

$$I_{K}(v) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(O \cup F'_{n})$$

= $P_{K}(O) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(F'_{n})$
 $< P_{K}(E^{0}) + P_{K}(E^{1}) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(F'_{n})$
 $\leq P_{K}(E^{0}) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} P_{K}(F_{n})$
 $\leq I_{K}(v),$

and we have a contradiction.

By induction, we get a sequence of sets E^0, \ldots, E^n pairwise disjoint of volumes v_0, \ldots, v_n whose union is isoperimetric for its volume $\sum_{i=1}^n v_i$. Suppose that there exists a infinite number of pieces E^i . Then $\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_i \leq v$. Let j and k with $v_j \geq v_i$ for all i and v_k small enough so we can take $(E^j)^{v_k}$ the family defined in 3.0.2 and there exists C > 0 with $Cv_k^{l-1/l} > C_3v_k$. Then, by the Deformation Lemma (3.0.1) and the Isoperimetric Inequality (3.1.3), we get

$$I_{K}(\sum_{i} v_{i}) \leq \sum_{i \neq j,k} P_{K}(E^{i}) + P_{K}((E^{j})^{v_{k}}) \leq \sum_{i \neq k} P_{K}(E^{i}) + C_{3}v_{k}$$
$$< \sum_{i \neq k} P_{K}(E^{i}) + Cv_{k}^{l-1/l} \leq \sum_{i \neq k} P_{K}(E^{i}) + P_{K}(E^{k}) = I_{K}(\sum_{i} v_{i}),$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore there are a finite number of pieces, r, until $\sum_{i=1}^{r} v_i \ge v$, and $E^0 \cup E^1 \ldots \cup E^r$ is the isoperimetric region of volume v.

Corollary 3.3.3. Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \cdot, X, K)$ be a sub-Finsler nilpotent group. The isoperimetric profile I_K is sub-additive.

Proof. Let $v_0, \ldots, v_n \ge 0$. Take E_k isoperimetric region of volume v_k . By Theorem 3.2.9, E_k is bounded and we can take $E_j \cap E_i = \emptyset$. Therefore

$$I_K(v_0 + \ldots + v_n) \leq P_K(\bigcup_{k=1}^n E_k) = \sum_{k=1}^n P_K(E_k) = \sum_{k=1}^n I_K(v_k).$$

Chapter 4

The Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Nilpotent Lie groups

In this chapter we show the results obtained in [141]. We shall prove a generalization of the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Euclidean space where the Minkowski addition of sets is replaced by any product $* : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ of the form

$$z * w = z + w + (F_1, F_2(z, w), \dots, F_d(z, w)) = z + w + F(z, w), \quad (*)$$

where F_1 is a constant and F_i are continuous functions that depend only on $z_1, \ldots, z_{i-1}, w_1, \ldots, w_{i-1} \quad \forall i = 2, \ldots, d$. By a product here we mean a binary operation without assuming any further properties such as associativity.

Theorem 4.0.1 (Brunn-Minkowski inequality for (*) products). Let *: $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a product of the form (*) and let $A, B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be measurable sets such that A * B is measurable. Then we have

$$|A * B|^{1/d} \ge |A|^{1/d} + |B|^{1/d}.$$
(4.0.1)

Any nilpotent Lie group verifies the hypothesis of Theorem 4.0.1 because of the expression of the group product in exponential coordinates of the first kind. In this chapter, we shall consider a product * of the form (*), that not necessarily comes from a group product, and change * for another one $*_{z_1,w_1}$ of the form (*), depending on the sets A and B, that allows us to compare the volume of the Minkowski addition of sets for the products * and $*_{z_1,w_1}$, as a consequence of Lemma 4.1.1. When the product * comes from a nilpotent group it is not true that $*_{z_1,w_1}$ can define a group product. Then, by an induction argument, we will compare the volume of the Minkowski addition of sets A and B with the volume of the Euclidean Minkowski addition of A and B, and establish in Proposition 4.1.5 a sufficient condition in \mathbb{H}^1 for the strict inequality in (4.0.1).

At the end of the chapter, we state several classical variations of inequality (4.0.1) in the case of Carnot groups, where dilations can be defined.

4.1 The Brunn-Minkowski inequality

We have seen that any simply connected nilpotent group is isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^d with a product of the form (2.2.1). Now we prove the Brunn-Minkowski inequality for any product $* : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ of the form (*). This product does not necessarily defines a group structure in \mathbb{R}^d . Given such a map F and $z'_1, w'_1 \in \mathbb{R}$, we can define another product $*_{z'_1,w'_1} : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, by

$$z *_{z'_1,w'_1} w = z + w + F((z'_1, \tilde{z}), (w'_1, \tilde{w}))$$

where $\tilde{z} = (z_2, \ldots, z_d)$, $\tilde{w} = (w_2, \ldots, w_d)$. We define the map $F_{(z'_1, w'_1)}$: $\mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ by

$$F_{(z'_1,w'_1)}(\tilde{z},\tilde{w}) := (F_2,\dots,F_d)((z'_1,\tilde{z}),(w'_1,\tilde{w})).$$
(4.1.1)

Notice that $F_i((z'_1, \tilde{z}), (w'_1, \tilde{w}))$ only depends on the first i-2 variables of \tilde{z} and \tilde{w} and so $F_2((z'_1, \tilde{z}), (w'_1, \tilde{w}))$ is constant. Thus the product $\tilde{*} : \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ given by

$$\tilde{z} \,\tilde{*} \,\tilde{w} = \tilde{z} + \tilde{w} + F_{(z_1',w_1')}(\tilde{z},\tilde{w}),$$
(4.1.2)

has the form (*). Notice that the product $\tilde{*}$ depends on the choice of z'_1, w'_1 .

We hall denote $|\cdot|_n$ the Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^d . We will drop the subscript when *n* coincides with the topological dimension.

Lemma 4.1.1. Let $*: \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a product of the form (*) and let $A, B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be $A = I \times \tilde{A}$, and $B = J \times \tilde{B}$, where I, J are compact intervals in \mathbb{R} and $\tilde{A}, \tilde{B} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ are compact. Then

$$|A * B| \ge |I + J|_1 |\tilde{A} * \tilde{B}|_{d-1}, \tag{4.1.3}$$

where $\tilde{*}$ is the product described in (4.1.2) for certain $z'_1 \in I$ and $w'_1 \in J$. Moreover, if F does not depends on z_1, w_1 , then equality holds in (4.1.3).

Proof. Notice that A * B and $\tilde{A} * \tilde{B}$ are compact, and so measurable. Let I = [a, b], J = [a', b'] and l = b - a, l' = b' - a'. The product is

$$A * B = \left\{ z + w + F(z, w) : z_1 \in I, \ w_1 \in J, \ \tilde{z} \in \tilde{A}, \ \tilde{w} \in \tilde{B} \right\}.$$

We define a diffeomorphism $\phi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ by $(s, z) \mapsto (z, s - z)$. The inverse $\phi^{-1}(z, w) = (z + w, z)$ is a diffeomorphism between the sets $I \times J$ and $\{(s_1, z_1) : s_1 \in I + J, z_1 \in I \cap (s_1 - J) = K(s_1)\}$. Hence, we clearly have

$$A * B = \left\{ (s_1, \tilde{z} + \tilde{w}) + (F_1, F_{\phi(s_1, z_1)})(\tilde{z}, \tilde{w}) : s_1 \in I + J, \\ \tilde{z} \in \tilde{A}, z_1 \in K(s_1), \tilde{w} \in \tilde{B} \right\}.$$

Now we use Fubini's theorem and we obtain

$$|A * B| = \int_{I+J} h(s_1) ds_1, \qquad (4.1.4)$$

where $h: I + J \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ is the function

$$h(s_1) = \left| \{ \tilde{p} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1} : (s_1 + F_1, \tilde{p}) \in A * B \} \right|_{d-1} = \left| \bigcup_{z_1 \in K(s_1)} D_{(s_1, z_1)} \right|_{d-1},$$
(4.1.5)

and

$$D_{(s_1,z_1)} = \{ \tilde{z} + \tilde{w} + F_{\phi(s_1,z_1)}(\tilde{z},\tilde{w}) : \ \tilde{z} \in \tilde{A}, \ \tilde{w} \in \tilde{B} \}.$$
(4.1.6)

Now we compare $h(s_1)$ with the measure of $D_{(s_1,z_1)}$ for some z_1 . Let $z_1: I + J \to \mathbb{R}$ be the function

$$z_1(s_1) = tl + a,$$

where $t = \frac{s_1 - (a+a')}{l+l'}$. It is clear that $0 \leq t \leq 1$, hence $z_1(s_1) \in I$. Moreover,

$$tl + a = s_1 - tl' - a',$$

and therefore $z_1(s_1) \in s_1 - J$. Then $z_1(s_1) \in K(s_1)$.

Let $f: I + J \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ be the map given by $f(s_1) = |D_{(s_1, z_1(s_1))}|_{d-1}$. It is easy to check that f is continuous, and hence f reaches its minimum at a certain value s'_1 . Thus, we get

$$\int_{I+J} h(s_1) ds_1 \ge \int_{I+J} f(s_1) ds_1 \ge \int_{I+J} f(s_1') ds_1 = |I+J|_1 f(s_1'). \quad (4.1.7)$$

Denoting by $z'_1 := z_1(s'_1)$ and $w'_1 := s'_1 - z'_1$, we can write $F_{\phi(s'_1, z'_1)} = F_{(z'_1, w'_1)}$. Hence we have that $D_{(s'_1, z'_1)} = \tilde{A} \\ \tilde{*} \\ \tilde{B}$ and

$$f(s_1') = |\tilde{A} * \tilde{B}|_{d-1}.$$
(4.1.8)

From (4.1.4), (4.1.7) and (4.1.8) we obtain (4.1.3).

Suppose that F does not depend on z_1, w_1 , let us prove that equality holds in (4.1.3). It is enough to prove equality in (4.1.7). For any $s_1 \in I + J$ and $z_1 \in K(s_1)$, we have that

$$F_{\phi(s_1', z_1')} = F_{z_1', w_1'} = F_{z_1, w_1} = F_{\phi(s_1, z_1)},$$

where $w_1 = s_1 - z_1$. Therefore

$$D_{(s_1', z_1')} = D_{(s_1, z_1)} = \bigcup_{z_1 \in K(s_1)} D_{(s_1, z_1)}.$$
(4.1.9)

Hence, from (4.1.5) and (4.1.9) we get that $f(s'_1) = h(s_1)$ for all $s_1 \in I + J$. Thus equality holds in (4.1.7) and the result follows.

Remark 4.1.2. The product $*_{z'_1,w'_1}$ does not depend on z_1, w_1 and Lemma 4.1.1 guarantees

$$|A * B| \ge |I + J|_1 |\tilde{A} \tilde{*} \tilde{B}|_{d-1} = |A *_{z'_1, w'_1} B|.$$
(4.1.10)

Recall that $*_{z'_1,w'_1}$ acts as a sum in the first two coordinates, and someway (4.1.10) allows us to compare the measure of A * B with the measure of a set more similar to the Euclidean Minkowski addition of A and B.

Proof of Theorem 4.0.1. The proof is divided into three steps.

Step 1. We first claim that (4.0.1) holds for a pair of *d*-rectangles A and B, that is,

$$A = I_1 \times \dots \times I_d$$
$$B = J_1 \times \dots \times J_d,$$

where I_i, J_j are compact intervals $\forall 1 \leq i, j \leq d$. We shall see that

$$|A * B| \ge |I_1 + J_1|_1 \dots |I_d + J_d|_1 = |A + B|, \tag{4.1.11}$$

and the classical Brunn-Minkowski inequality in \mathbb{R}^d would imply (4.0.1).

In order to prove (4.1.11), we use Lemma 4.1.1 to obtain

$$|A * B| \ge |I_1 + J_1|_1 |A \tilde{*} B|_{d-1},$$

but now $\tilde{A} = I_2 \times (I_3 \times \ldots \times I_d)$, $\tilde{B} = J_2 \times (J_3 \times \ldots \times J_d)$ and $\tilde{*}$ has the form (*), and so we can apply Lemma 4.1.1 to the sets \tilde{A} and \tilde{B} . Iterating this process, we get (4.1.11).

Step 2. Now we consider the case where A and B are finite unions of dyadic *d*-rectangles, that is, $A = A_1 \cup \ldots \cup A_n$, $B = B_1 \cup \ldots \cup B_m$ where $A_i = I_1^i \times \ldots \times I_d^i$, $B_j = J_1^j \times \ldots \times J_d^j$ and, for any $k = 1, \ldots, d$ and $r \neq s$ $(p \neq q)$, it is satisfied that either $\operatorname{int}(I_k^r) \cap \operatorname{int}(I_k^s) = \emptyset$ or $I_k^r = I_k^s$ (either $\operatorname{int}(J_k^p) \cap \operatorname{int}(J_k^q) = \emptyset$ or $J_k^p = J_k^q$), where $\operatorname{int}(I)$ denotes the interior of I.

We proceed by induction on the total number n + m of *d*-rectangles. If n + m = 2, then *A* and *B* are *d*-rectangles and we can apply step 1. Suppose that the theorem holds for n + m - 1, where $n + m \ge 3$. Then we can find a hyperplane $P : \{z_i = a_i\}$ such that some $A_r \subset \{z_i \ge a_i\}$ and some $A_s \subset \{z_i \le a_i\}$.

If the hyperplane has as equation $P : \{z_1 = a_1\}$, the proof is the same as the classical proof of Hadwiger and Ohmann for the addition of sets in \mathbb{R}^d . We include it for the sake of completeness. The sets

$$A^+ = A \cap \{z_1 \ge a_1\}, \qquad A^- = A \cap \{z_1 \le a_1\}$$

are unions of *d*-rectangles whose sum is strictly less than *n*. We choose a parallel hyperplane $Q: \{z_1 = b_1\}$ verifying that

$$\frac{|B^{\pm}|}{|B|} = \frac{|A^{\pm}|}{|A|},\tag{4.1.12}$$

where B^+ and B^- are the sets given by

$$B^+ = B \cap \{z_1 \ge b_1\}, \qquad B^- = B \cap \{z_1 \le b_1\}.$$

Moreover, B^+ and B^- are disjoint unions of *d*-rectangles whose sum is at most *m*. We apply the induction hypothesis to the pairs A^+ , B^+ and A^- , B^- , and we obtain

$$|A^{+} * B^{+}| \ge (|A^{+}|^{1/d} + |B^{+}|^{1/d})^{d}$$

$$|A^{-} * B^{-}| \ge (|A^{-}|^{1/d} + |B^{-}|^{1/d})^{d}.$$
 (4.1.13)

On the other hand, P * Q is contained in another vertical plane $\{z_1 = a_1 + b_1\} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $A^+ * B^+ \subset (P * Q)^+$, and $A^- * B^- \subset (P * Q)^-$. Therefore $A^+ * B^+$ and $A^- * B^-$ are disjoint sets (up to a null set) in A * B. Combining this with (4.1.12) and (4.1.13) we get the inequality

$$\begin{split} |A * B| &\ge |A^+ * B^+| + |A^- * B^-| \\ &\ge (|A^+|^{1/d} + |B^+|^{1/d})^d + (|A^-|^{1/d} + |B^-|^{1/d})^d \\ &= (|A^+| + |A^-|) \left[1 + \left(\frac{|B|}{|A|}\right)^{1/d} \right]^d \\ &= (|A|^{1/d} + |B|^{1/d})^d, \end{split}$$

and the theorem is proved for such A and B.

If there is no such hyperplane with equation $P : \{z_1 = a_1\}$ but with equation $P : \{z_2 = a_2\}$, then for any $u, v, p, q, I_1^u = I_1^v = I_1, J_1^p = J_1^q = J_1$

and for some $r \neq s$, $\operatorname{int}(I_2^r) \cap \operatorname{int}(I_2^s) = \emptyset$, and we can write

$$A = \bigcup_{i} I_{1} \times I_{2}^{i} \times \ldots \times I_{d}^{i} = I_{1} \times \left(\bigcup_{i} I_{2}^{i} \times \ldots \times I_{d}^{i}\right) = I_{1} \times \tilde{A}$$
$$B = \bigcup_{j} J_{1} \times J_{2}^{j} \times \ldots \times J_{d}^{j} = J_{1} \times \left(\bigcup_{j} J_{2}^{j} \times \ldots \times J_{d}^{j}\right) = J_{1} \times \tilde{B}$$

We have seen in (4.1.10) that

$$|A * B| \ge |A *_{z_1', w_1'} B|.$$

Now we repeat the above argument, where now we apply the induction hypothesis to the product $*_{z'_1,w'_1}$, thus the sets $A^+ *_{z'_1,w'_1} B^+$ and $A^- *_{z'_1,w'_1} B^-$ are disjoint (up to a null set). Hence, by (4.1.10) we obtain

$$|A * B| \ge |A *_{z_1', w_1'} B| \ge |A^+ *_{z_1', w_1'} B^+| + |A^- *_{z_1', w_1'} B^-| \ge (|A|^{1/d} + |B|^{1/d}|)^{1/d}$$

and the result is proved.

Repeating this reasoning we have covered the general case where P: $\{z_i = a_i\}.$

Step 3. Let us prove (4.0.1) for A and B are measurable sets such that A * B is measurable. We can suppose that A, B and A * B have finite measure, since otherwise the inequality is trivial. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and take an open set O such that $A * B \subset O$ and $|O \setminus A * B| < \varepsilon$. Take open sets $O_A \supset A$ and $O_B \supset B$ such that $|O_A \setminus A| < \varepsilon$ and $|O_B \setminus B| < \varepsilon$. Since * is continuous, we can assume also that $O_A * O_B \subset O$. Now we approximate the open sets O_A and O_B from inside by dyadic *d*-rectangles, D_A and D_B so that $|O_A \setminus D_A| < \varepsilon$. Using step 2 for D_A and D_B , we obtain

$$(|A * B| + \varepsilon)^{1/d} \ge |O|^{1/d} \ge |O_A * O_B|^{1/d} \ge |D_A * D_B|^{1/d} \ge |D_A|^{1/d} + |D_B|^{1/d} \ge (|A| - 2\varepsilon)^{1/d} + (|B| - 2\varepsilon)^{1/d}.$$

Taking $\varepsilon \to 0$ we obtain (4.0.1).

As a particular case, we have the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in nilpotent groups.

Theorem 4.1.3 (Brunn-Minkowski inequality in nilpotent groups). Let G be a simply connected nilpotent group of topological dimension d with Haar measure μ and let $A, B \subset G$ be measurable sets such that $A \cdot B$ is measurable. Then we have

$$\mu(A \cdot B)^{1/d} \ge \mu(A)^{1/d} + \mu(B)^{1/d}.$$
(4.1.14)

Proof. We denote $\mathbb{A} = \log(A)$, $\mathbb{B} = \log(B)$. Using Proposition 2.2.4 and Theorem 4.0.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \mu(A \cdot B) &= |\log(A \cdot B)| = |\log(\exp(\mathbb{A}) \cdot \exp(\mathbb{B}))| = |\mathbb{A} * \mathbb{B}| \\ &\geq (|\mathbb{A}|^{1/d} + |\mathbb{B}|^{1/d})^d = (\mu(A)^{1/d} + \mu(B)^{1/d})^d. \end{split}$$

Remark 4.1.4. Since the right-hand side of (4.1.14) is symmetric in A and B, it follows

$$\min\{\mu(A \cdot B), \mu(B \cdot A)\}^{1/d} \ge \mu(A)^{1/d} + \mu(B)^{1/d}.$$

An example where $\mu(A \cdot B)$ and $\mu(B \cdot A)$ are different can be found in [108].

4.1.1 A sufficient condition for strict inequality in the Heisenberg group

A set A in the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 of the form $A = A_1 \times A_2$, where A_1 is a measurable set in \mathbb{R}^2 and A_2 is a measurable set in \mathbb{R} is called a *generalized* cylinder.

In this subsection we prove in Proposition 4.1.5 that the Brunn-Minkowski inequality (4.1.14) is strict in \mathbb{H}^1 for a pair of generalized cylinders A and B such that the volumes of A_1 and B_1 are positive.

Recall that a point a in \mathbb{R}^d is a *density point of* A if

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{|A \cap B(a, r)|}{|B(a, r)|} = 1,$$

where B(a, r) is the ball of center a and radius r with the CC distance. The set of density points of a set A will be denoted as A^o . We can always normalize a set by including its density points in the set. The existence of a density point in A implies that the volume of A is positive.

Proposition 4.1.5. Let $A, B \subset \mathbb{H}^1$ be generalized cylinders such that $A \cdot B$ and A + B are measurable. Suppose that $|A_1| > 0$ and $|B_1| > 0$. Then

$$|A \cdot B| > |A + B|. \tag{4.1.15}$$

Proof. By Fubini's theorem, we have

$$|A \cdot B| = \int_{A_1 + B_1} h(s_1) ds_1,$$

where $h(s_1) = |\{t + t' + \operatorname{Im}(\overline{z(s_1 - z)}) : t \in A_2, t' \in B_2, z \in K(\underline{s_1})\}|_1$ and $K(s_1) = I \cap (s_1 - J)$. Denoting $s_1 = (s_x, s_y)$, we can see that $\operatorname{Im}(\overline{z(s_1 - z)}) = \operatorname{Im}(\overline{zs_1}) = ys_x - xs_y$. We write

$$I_{s_1} = \{ ys_x - xs_y : (x, y) \in K(s_1) \}.$$
By the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in \mathbb{R} ,

$$h(s_1) = |\{s_2 + \operatorname{Im}(z\overline{s_1}) : s_2 \in A_2 + B_2, \ z \in K(s_1)\}|_1$$
$$= |\{s_2 + a : s_2 \in A_2 + B_2, \ a \in I_{s_1}\}|_1$$
$$\geqslant |A_2 + B_2|_1 + |I_{s_1}|_1.$$

We assert that if $|K(s_1)|_2 > 0$, then $|I_{s_1}|_1 > 0$. To see that, we can take the diffeomorphism $\phi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ given by $(x, y) \mapsto (ys_x - xs_y, \frac{x}{2s_x} - \frac{y}{2s_y})$. Then $|\operatorname{Jac}(\phi)| = 1$ and applying the change of variables formula to ϕ^{-1} , we have

$$0 < |K(s_1)|_2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi_{K(s_1)}(z) dz = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi_{\phi(K(s_1))}(z) dz = |\phi(K(s_1))|_2.$$

Now we use that, for any set $O \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ with $|O|_2 > 0$, it holds that $|\pi_1(O)|_1 > 0$ where $\pi_1(x, y) = x$, since $|\pi_1(O)|_1 = 0$ implies $|O|_2 \leq |\pi_1(O) \times \mathbb{R}|_2 = 0$. Hence

$$|I_{s_1}|_1 = |\pi_1(\phi(K(s_1)))|_1 > 0$$

To complete the proof it remains to show that $\{s_1 \in A_1 + B_1 : |K(s_1)|_2 > 0\}$ has positive measure. Let $a \in A_1^o$, $b \in B_1^o$ and $s_1 = a + b \in A_1^o + B_1^o$. Then $a = s_1 - b$ is a density point in $s_1 - B_1$ and therefore a is a density point in $A_1 \cap (s_1 - B_1) = K(s_1)$ which implies that $|K(s_1)|_2 > 0$. Finally $A_1^o + B_1^o \subseteq A_1 + B_1$ has positive measure since $|A_1^o + B_1^o|_2 \ge |A_1^o|_2 = |A_1|_2 > 0$, and

$$|\{s_1 \in A_1 + B_1 : |K(s_1)|_2 > 0\}|_2 \ge |\{s_1 \in A_1^o + B_1^o : |K(s_1)|_2 > 0\}|_2 > 0. \quad \Box$$

Remark 4.1.6. In order to characterize the equality in (4.1.14) for generalized cylinders, we can distinguish several cases. If A and B lie in parallel vertical hyperplanes, then $|A \cdot B| = 0$ and we have equality in (4.1.14). If Aand B are convex and homothetic then either $|A_1|_2 > 0$ and B_1 is a point and the equality holds, or $|A_1|_2 > 0$ and $|B_1|_2 > 0$, and therefore, by Proposition 4.1.5 jointly with the (Euclidean) Brunn-Minkowski inequality, equality does not hold in (4.1.14). The same argument works if A and B lie in horizontal hyperplanes with $|A_1|_2 > 0$ and $|B_1|_2 > 0$. The case in which A and B lie in horizontal hyperplanes with $|A_1|_2 = 0$ is not known in general.

4.2 Consequences

Another equivalent version of the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Euclidean space is the Prékopa-Leindler inequality. Now we show how the proof of the Prékopa-Leindler inequality from the Brunn-Minkowski inequality can be adapted to the case of nilpotent groups. **Theorem 4.2.1** (Prékopa-Leindler inequality in nilpotent groups). Let G be a simply connected nilpotent group of topological dimension d with Haar measure μ . Let $f, g, h : G \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ be measurable functions and $0 < \alpha < 1$ verifying

$$h(a \cdot b) \ge f(a)^{1-\alpha} g(b)^{\alpha} \quad \forall a, b \in G.$$

$$(4.2.1)$$

Then

$$\int_{G} h d\mu \ge \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)^{d(1-\alpha)} \alpha^{d\alpha}} \left(\int_{G} f d\mu \right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\int_{G} g d\mu \right)^{\alpha}.$$
 (4.2.2)

Proof. We proceed by induction on d.

Let d = 1 and $a \cdot b \in \{f > \lambda\} \cdot \{g > \lambda\}$. Then we have $h(a \cdot b) \ge f(a)^{1-\alpha}g(b)^{\alpha} > \lambda$, and as a consequence

$$\{h > \lambda\} \supset \{f > \lambda\} \cdot \{g > \lambda\}.$$

Now we can apply Theorem 4.1.3 to get

$$\mu(\{h>\lambda\}) \geqslant \mu(\{f>\lambda\}) + \mu(\{g>\lambda\}).$$

Integrating in λ and using Cavalieri's Principle,

$$\int_{G} h d\mu = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mu(\{h > \lambda\}) d\lambda \geqslant$$
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\mu(\{f > \lambda\}) + \mu(\{g > \lambda\}) \right) d\lambda = \int_{G} f d\mu + \int_{G} g d\mu. \quad (4.2.3)$$

Now we use the weighted inequality between the geometric and arithmetic means,

$$\int_{G} f d\mu + \int_{G} g d\mu \ge \left(\frac{\int_{G} f d\mu}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{1 - \alpha} \left(\frac{\int_{G} g d\mu}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha}.$$
(4.2.4)

From (4.2.3) and (4.2.4) we have (4.2.2).

Suppose that Theorem 4.2.1 holds for d-1. We shall prove (4.2.4) for the functions f, g, h composed with exp and use Proposition 2.2.4. Let $z' = (z_1, \ldots, z_{d-1}), w' = (w_1, \ldots, w_{d-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$. By (2.2.1), we can write $(z', z_d) * (w', w_d) = (z' * w', z_d + w_d + P_d(z', w'))$. Recall that \mathbb{R}^d is isomorphic to \mathfrak{g} once we fix the strong Malcev basis $\{X_1, \ldots, X_d\}$, and X_d spans an ideal \mathbb{H}_1 in \mathfrak{g} . Thus $\mathfrak{g}/\mathbb{H}_1 \cong (\mathbb{R}^{d-1}, *')$ is a nilpotent group. Now we define the functions $\tilde{f}, \tilde{g}, \tilde{h} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{f}(z_d) &= (f \circ \exp)(z', z_d), \\ \tilde{g}(w_d) &= (g \circ \exp)(w', w_d), \\ \tilde{h}(t) &= (h \circ \exp)(z' *' w', t + P_d(z', w')). \end{split}$$

Let us see that these functions verify (4.2.1):

$$\tilde{h}(z_d + w_d) = (h \circ \exp)((z', z_d) * (w', w_d)) = h(\exp(z', z_d) \cdot \exp(w', w_d))$$

$$\geq (f \circ \exp)^{1-\alpha}(z', z_d)(g \circ \exp)^{\alpha}(w', w_d) = \tilde{f}^{1-\alpha}(z_d)\tilde{g}^{\alpha}(w_d). \quad (4.2.5)$$

By induction hypothesis,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{h}(t)dt \ge \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}\alpha^{\alpha}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{f}(z_d)dz_d \right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{g}(w_d)dw_d \right)^{\alpha}.$$
 (4.2.6)

By the invariance of the 1-dimensional Lebesgue measure by translations we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} (h \circ \exp)(z' \ast' w', t) dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{h}(t) dt.$$
(4.2.7)

Inequality (4.2.5) is valid for any $z', w' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$, and we can define the functions $F, G, H : \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ given by

$$F(z') = \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{f}(z_d) dz_d$$

$$G(w') = \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{g}(w_d) dw_d$$

$$H(z') = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (h \circ \exp)(z', t) dt.$$

(4.2.8)

Applying (4.2.7) we can rewrite (4.2.6) as

$$H(z' *' w') = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{h}(t) dt \ge F(z')^{1-\alpha} G(w')^{\alpha} \quad \forall z', w' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1},$$

and again by the induction hypothesis, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} H(z')dz' \geqslant \\ \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)^{(d-1)(1-\alpha)}\alpha^{(d-1)\alpha}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} F(z')dz'\right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} G(w')dw'\right)^{\alpha}. \end{split}$$

The result now follows from Fubini's theorem.

The Prékopa-Leindler inequality in \mathbb{R}^d is usually stated using $h((1-\alpha)x+\alpha y)$ instead of h(x+y) in order to eliminate the factor $((1-\alpha)^{d(1-\alpha)}\alpha^{d\alpha})^{-1}$. This can be done when dilations are defined, and in this case, this inequality take a more pleasant expression.

Corollary 4.2.2. Let G be a stratifiable group of topological dimension d with Haar measure μ and homogeneous dimension Q. Let $f, g, h : G \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ be measurable functions, and $0 < \alpha < 1$ verifying

$$h(\delta_{(1-\alpha)}a \cdot \delta_{\alpha}b) \ge f(a)^{1-\alpha}g(b)^{\alpha} \quad \forall a, b \in G.$$

56

Then

$$\int_{G} h d\mu \ge (1-\alpha)^{(Q-d)(1-\alpha)} \alpha^{(Q-d)\alpha} \left(\int_{G} f d\mu \right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\int_{G} g d\mu \right)^{\alpha}.$$

Proof. For the sake of simplicity, $\delta_{\lambda}(a)$ will be just written as λa for any $\lambda > 0$ and $a \in G$. We denote $a' = (1 - \alpha)a$, $b' = \alpha b$, $f_{1-\alpha}(a) = f(\frac{a}{1-\alpha})$ and $g_{\alpha}(a) = g(\frac{a}{\alpha})$. Then we have

$$h(a' \cdot b') \ge f(a)^{1-\alpha}g(b)^{\alpha} = f\left(\frac{a'}{1-\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha}g\left(\frac{b'}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} = f_{1-\alpha}(a')^{1-\alpha}g_{\alpha}(b')^{\alpha}.$$

By Theorem 4.2.1, we have

$$\int_{G} h d\mu \ge \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)^{d(1-\alpha)} \alpha^{d\alpha}} \left(\int_{G} f_{1-\alpha} d\mu \right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\int_{G} g_{\alpha} d\mu \right)^{\alpha}.$$

Using now Proposition 2.2.11,

$$\int_G f_{1-\alpha}(a)d\mu(a) = \int_G f\left(\frac{a}{1-\alpha}\right)d\mu(a) = (1-\alpha)^Q \int_G f(a')d\mu(a'),$$

and after using also Proposition 2.2.11 for the integral of g_{α} , we obtain

$$\int_{G} h d\mu \ge (1-\alpha)^{(Q-d)(1-\alpha)} \alpha^{(Q-d)\alpha} \left(\int_{G} f d\mu \right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\int_{G} g d\mu \right)^{\alpha}. \qquad \Box$$

As we can find in [156], there are several equivalent statements for the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Euclidean space. Similarly, we have the following result.

Corollary 4.2.3 (Multiplicative Brunn-Minkowski inequalities in Carnot groups). Let G be a Carnot group of topological dimension d with Haar measure μ and homogeneous dimension Q. Let $A, B \subset G$ be measurable sets such that $A \cdot B$ is measurable, and $0 < \alpha < 1$. Then

$$\mu(\delta_{(1-\alpha)}A \cdot \delta_{\alpha}B)^{1/d} \ge (1-\alpha)^{Q/d}\mu(A)^{1/d} + \alpha^{Q/d}\mu(B)^{1/d}.$$

$$\mu(\delta_{(1-\alpha)}A \cdot \delta_{\alpha}B) \ge (1-\alpha)^{(Q-d)(1-\alpha)}\alpha^{(Q-d)\alpha}\mu(A)^{1-\alpha}\mu(B)^{\alpha}.$$

Proof. We use Theorem 4.1.3 with the sets $\delta_{(1-\alpha)}A$ and $\delta_{\alpha}B$, and from Proposition 2.2.11 we get the first inequality.

For the second one, we take $f = \chi_A$, $g = \chi_B$ and $h = \chi_{\delta_{(1-\alpha)}A} \cdot \delta_{\alpha B}$ and apply Corollary 4.2.2, obtaining the result.

Notes

Notes of § 4.1 1. Theorem 4.0.1 is an extension of the result obtained by Leonardi and Masnou [108] in Heisenberg groups. They prove the theorem first for the case where A and B are cubes in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1} of the form $A_1 \times A_2$ where A_1 is a dyadic cube in \mathbb{R}^{2n} and A_2 is a measurable set in \mathbb{R} , then when A and B are unions of a finite number of cubes, using then an approximation argument. This has the crucial property that either exists a vertical hyperplane that separates cubes or the union is a cube itself. We call a hyperplane vertical when is also a hyperplane after left multiplication. Then we can consider only vertical hyperplanes to separate cubes. In \mathbb{R}^d with a product of the form (*) this property is not true, since the union of the cubes takes the form

$$\bigcup_{i} I_1 \times \ldots \times I_{n_1} \times I_{n_1+1}^i \times \ldots \times I_d^i = I_1 \times \ldots \times I_{n_1} \times \left(\bigcup_{i} I_{n_1+1}^i \times \ldots \times I_d^i \right).$$

This set is not of the form $A_1 \times A_2$ and the argument fails. While the proof of Leonardi and Masnou only works in Heisenberg groups, this arguments can be seen as the first step of an induction argument developed in this chapter.

The exponent of (4.0.1) cannot be improved to Q^{-1} . Indeed, if we replace the exponent d^{-1} by Q^{-1} , Monti [124] proved that geodesic balls would be isoperimetric sets among sufficiently regular sets, which are not. By sufficiently regular sets we refer to sets whose Minkowski content coincides with its perimeter, a property that holds whenever the boundary is C^2 , see [127].

Juillet [102] developed a method to disprove Brunn-Minkowski inequalities, first connected to the geodesic Brunn-Minkowski inequality and the measure contraction property of metric measure spaces. He used this method to disprove the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in \mathbb{H}^n with any exponent between $(2n+1)^{-1}$ and $(2n+2)^{-1}$.

After [141] was completed, the author was informed that Theorem 4.0.1 was also proven by Bobkov [16] in 2011, where he used Knothe's map to get the Brunn-Minkowski inequality for convex sets and obtained the general result after proving the equivalent analytic version of the theorem, the Prékopa-Leindler inequality.

Notes of § 4.2 1. Terence Tao [160; 161] posted an entry in his blog in 2011 explaining how to produce a Prékopa-Leindler inequality in any nilpotent Lie group of topological dimension d, which provides a natural way to prove the multiplicative Brunn-Minkowski inequality with exponent d^{-1} . We remark that the path developed in this chapter is the opposite and is equivalent.

Chapter 5

Pansu-Wulff shapes in \mathbb{H}^{\perp}

This chapter gather the results obtained with Ritoré in [142].

We consider a convex set K with boundary of class C^2_+ (i.e., so that ∂K is of class C^2 and ∂K has positive geodesic curvature everywhere) and an open region $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}^1$ with boundary $\partial \Omega = S$ of class C^2 . We compute the first variation of the area functional associated to a vector field U with compact support in the regular part of S to get

$$A'_K(0) = \int_S u\left(\operatorname{div}_S \eta_K\right) dS.$$

In this formula $u = \langle U, N \rangle$ is the normal component of the variation and $\operatorname{div}_S \eta_K$ is the divergence on S of the vector field $\eta_K = \pi_K(\nu_h)$, where $\nu_h = N_h/|N_h|$ is the horizontal unit normal and π_K is the projection map defined in Subsection 2.1.1.

The function $H_K = \operatorname{div}_S \eta_K$ is called the mean curvature of S. Further calculations imply that H_K is equal to $\langle D_Z \eta_K, Z \rangle$, where $Z = -J(\nu_h)$ is the horizontal direction on the regular part of S. Hence the mean curvature function is localized on the horizontal curves of S. It is not difficult to check that a horizontal curve in a surface with mean curvature H_K must satisfy a differential equation depending on H_K . Hence we can reconstruct the regular part of a surface with prescribed mean curvature by taking solutions of this differential equation. Furthermore, we might be able classify surfaces with prescribed mean curvature by classifying solutions of this ordinary differential equation and by looking at the interaction of these curves with the singular set S_0 of S composed of the points where the tangent plane is horizontal, as was done in [151] for the standard sub-Riemannian perimeter.

Key observations are that horizontal straight lines are solutions of the differential equation for $H_K = 0$ and that horizontal liftings of the curve $|\cdot|_K = 1$ are solutions for $H_K = 1$. The strict convexity of ∂K together with the invariance of the equation by left-translations and dilations imply that all solutions are of this type.

Hence, given a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ containing 0 in its interior and its associated left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$, we consider the set \mathbb{B}_K obtained as the ball enclosed by the horizontal liftings of all translations of the curve ∂K containing 0. It is not difficult to prove that this way we obtain a topological sphere \mathbb{S}_K with two poles on the same vertical line, that is the union of two graphs. Moreover the boundary of \mathbb{B}_K is C^2 outside the poles (indeed C^ℓ if the boundary of K is of class C^ℓ , $\ell \ge 2$) and of regularity C^2 around the poles. When K = D, these sets were build by P. Pansu [137] and are frequently referred to as Pansu spheres. We remark that Pansu spheres' \mathbb{B}_D are of class C^2 but not C^3 near the singular points, see Proposition 3.15 in [46] and Example 3.3 in [151].



Figure 5.1: The set \mathbb{B}_K when K is the unit ball of the r-norm $||(x,y)||_r = (|x|^r + |y|^r)^{1/r}$, r = 1.5

We observe that these objects have constant mean curvature. Hence they are critical points of the sub-Finsler area functional under a volume constraint. Further evidence that they have stronger minimization properties is given in Section 5.5, where it is proven that, under a geometric condition, a set of finite perimeter E with volume equal to the volume of \mathbb{B}_K has perimeter larger than or equal to the one of the ball \mathbb{B}_K . A slightly weaker result for the Euclidean norm was proven in [147]. Moreover, at the end of Section 5.5 it is proven that

This chapter is organized into several sections. In the next one we fix notation and give some background, focusing specially in properties of the sub-Finsler perimeter. In Section 5.2 we compute the first variation of perimeter for surfaces of class C^2 and prove the property that the regular part of the surface is foliated by horizontal liftings of translations of homothetic expansions of ∂K . In Section 5.3 we define the Pansu-Wulff shapes and compute some examples and prove regularity properties of these objects. In



Figure 5.2: The set \mathbb{B}_K when K is a smooth approximation of the triangular norm

Section 5.4 we study some geometric properties of the Pansu-Wulff shapes and in Section 5.5 we obtain a minimization property of these Pansu-Wulff shapes. Finally, in Subsection 5.5.1 we prove that Pansu-Wulff shapes are the only minimizers of perimeter under a slightly stronger geometric condition. This property indicates that these shapes are good candidates to be solutions of the sub-Finsler isoperimetric problem in \mathbb{H}^1 .

5.1 The pseudo-hermitian connection

The *pseudo-hermitian* connection ∇ on \mathbb{H}^1 is the only affine connection satisfying the following properties:

- 1. ∇ is a metric connection,
- 2. Tor $(U, V) = 2 \langle J(U), V \rangle T$ for all vector fields U, V.

The existence of the pseudo-hermitian connection can be easily obtained adapting the proof of existence of the Levi-Civita connection, see Theorem 3.6 in [57].

We shall use the following relation between the pseudo-hermitian and the Levi-Civita connections.

Lemma 5.1.1. Let U, V and W be vector fields where V and W are horizontal. Then the following equation holds

$$\langle \nabla_U V, W \rangle = \langle D_U V, W \rangle + \langle J(W), V \rangle \langle T, U \rangle.$$
 (5.1.1)

In particular

$$\nabla_U V = D_U V - \langle T, U \rangle J(V).$$
(5.1.2)

Proof. By Koszul formula, see § 3 in [57]. The terms in the first two lines are equal to $\langle D_U V, W \rangle$. The last three terms can be computed using the expression for the torsion to get

$$\langle J(W), V \rangle \langle T, U \rangle$$

This proves (5.1.1).

Using Koszul formula it can be easily seen that $\nabla X = \nabla Y = 0$.

Corollary 5.1.2. Let $\gamma : I \to S$ be a curve on \mathbb{H}^1 and let ∇/ds , D/ds be the covariant derivatives induced by the pseudo-hermitian connection and the Levi-Civita connection in γ , respectively. Let V be a vector field along γ . Then we have

$$\frac{\nabla}{ds}V = \frac{D}{ds}V - \langle \dot{\gamma}, T \rangle J(V).$$
(5.1.3)

In particular, if γ is a horizontal curve, the covariant derivatives coincide.

5.2 First variation of sub-Finsler area

In this section we fix a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ containing 0 in its interior with C^2_+ boundary and consider its associated left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$ in \mathbb{H}^1 . Since the convex body is fixed, we drop the subscript along this section.

Let S be an oriented C^2 surface immersed in \mathbb{H}^1 . Let U be a C^2 vector field with compact support on S, normal component $u = \langle U, N \rangle$ and associated one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in \mathbb{R}}$. In this subsection we compute the first variation of the sub-Finsler area $A(s) = A(\varphi_s(S))$. More precisely

Theorem 5.2.1. Let S be an oriented C^2 surface immersed in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) . Let U be a C^2 vector field with compact support on S, normal component $u = \langle U, N \rangle$ and $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in \mathbb{R}}$ the associated one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms. Let $\eta = \pi(\nu_h)$. Then we have

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} A(\varphi_s(S)) = \int_S \left(u \operatorname{div}_S \eta - 2u \langle N, T \rangle \langle J(N_h), \eta \rangle \right) dS - \int_S \operatorname{div}_S \left(u \eta^\top \right) dS,$$
(5.2.1)

where div_S is the Riemannian divergence in S, and the superscript \top indicates the tangent projection to S.

In the proof of Theorem 5.2.1 we shall make use of the following Lemma and its consequences.

Lemma 5.2.2. Let $\gamma : I \to \mathbb{H}^1$ be a C^1 curve, where $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ is an open interval, and V a horizontal vector field along γ . We have

$$\frac{d}{ds}|V|_* = \langle \frac{D}{ds}V, \pi(V) \rangle + \langle \gamma', T_\gamma \rangle \langle V, J(\pi(V)) \rangle.$$
(5.2.2)

Proof. We fix $s_0 \in I$ and let $p = \gamma(s_0)$. Assume that $\pi(V(s_0)) = aX_p + bY_p$, for some $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$. Take the vector field $W(s) := aX_{\gamma(s)} + bY_{\gamma(s)}$ along γ . It coincides with $\pi(V(s_0))$ when $s = s_0$, and it is the restriction to γ of the left-invariant vector field aX + bY. In particular, $|(aX + bY)_{\gamma(s)}|_{\gamma(s)} = 1$ for all $s \in I$. Hence

$$|V(s)|_* \ge \langle V(s), (aX + bY)_{\gamma(s)} \rangle$$
 for all $s \in I$,

and, since equality holds in the above inequality when $s = s_0$, we have

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=s_0} |V(s)|_* = \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=s_0} \langle V(s), (aX+bY)_{\gamma(s)} \rangle$$
$$= \left\langle \frac{\nabla}{ds} \Big|_{s=s_0} V(s), \pi(V(s_0)) \right\rangle$$

since

$$\frac{\nabla}{ds}\Big|_{s=s_0} (aX+bY)_{\gamma(s)} = a\nabla_{\gamma'(s_0)}X + b\nabla_{\gamma'(s_0)}Y = 0.$$

The result follows from the relation between the covariant derivatives given in Equation (5.1.3).

Remark 5.2.3. In the proof of Lemma 5.2.2 we have obtained the equality

$$\frac{d}{ds}|V|_* = \langle \frac{\nabla}{ds}V, \pi(V) \rangle$$

for a horizontal vector field V along a curve γ . Since ∇ is a metric connection, we also have

$$\frac{d}{ds}|V|_* = \langle \frac{\nabla}{ds}V, \pi(V) \rangle + \langle V, \frac{\nabla}{ds}\pi(V) \rangle.$$

Hence we get

$$\langle V, \frac{\nabla}{ds}\pi(V)\rangle = 0$$
 (5.2.3)

for a horizontal vector field V along γ , where ∇/ds is the covariant derivative induced by the pseudo-hermitian connection on γ . Taking into account the relation between the Levi-Civita and pseudo-hermitian connections we deduce from (5.2.3) and (5.1.3)

$$\langle V, \frac{D}{ds}\pi(V) - \langle \dot{\gamma}, T_{\gamma} \rangle J(\pi(V)) \rangle = 0.$$
 (5.2.4)

The following is an easy consequence of Lemma 5.2.2

Corollary 5.2.4. Let F be a vector field tangent to S and γ an integral curve of F. We have

$$\langle \frac{D}{ds} \eta_{\gamma}, \nu_h \rangle = -\langle F, T \rangle \langle \eta, J(\nu_h) \rangle.$$
(5.2.5)

In particular, if F is horizontal,

$$\left\langle \frac{D}{ds}\eta_{\gamma},\nu_{h}\right\rangle =0. \tag{5.2.6}$$

Proof. We take $V = \nu_h$ and we get (5.2.5) from equation (5.2.4).

Proof of Theorem 5.2.1. Standard variational arguments, see the proof of Lemma 4.3 in [151], yield

$$A'(0) = \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} A(\varphi_s(S)) = \int_S \left(\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} |(N_s)_h|_* + |N_h|_* \operatorname{div}_S U\right) dS,$$

where N_s is a smooth choice of unit normal to $\varphi_s(S)$ for small s. We fix a point $p \in S$ and consider the curve $\gamma(s) = \varphi_s(p)$. Lemma 5.2.2 now implies

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}|(N_s)_h|_* = \left\langle \frac{D}{ds}\right|_{s=0}(N_s)_h, \eta_p \right\rangle + \left\langle U_p, T_p \right\rangle \left\langle (N_h)_p, J(\eta_p) \right\rangle,$$

By the definition of $(N_s)_h$ we also have

$$\frac{D}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}(N_s)_h = \frac{D}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} (N_s - \langle N_s, T \rangle T),$$

where N_s is the Riemannian unit normal to $\varphi_s(S)$. A well-known lemma in Riemannian geometry implies

$$\left. \frac{D}{ds} \right|_{s=0} N_s = -(\nabla_S u)(p) - A_S(U_p^{\top}),$$

where A_S is the Weingarten endomorphism of S. Since $\frac{D}{ds}|_{s=0}T = J(U_p)$ and η is horizontal, calling

$$B(U) = -\langle N, T \rangle \langle J(U), \eta \rangle + \langle U, T \rangle \langle N_h, J(\eta) \rangle,$$

we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{D}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}|(N_s)_h|_* &= \left(\langle -\nabla_S u - A_S(U^{\top}), \eta \rangle\right)_p + B(U_p) \\ &= -\langle \nabla_S u, \eta \rangle_p + B(U_p^{\perp}) + \left(-\langle A_S(U^{\perp}), \eta \rangle_p + B(U_p^{\top})\right) \\ &= \left(-\langle \nabla_S u, \eta \rangle - 2u\langle N, T \rangle \langle J(N_h), \eta \rangle\right)_p + U_p^{\top}(|N_h|_*). \end{aligned}$$

Observe that

$$-\langle \nabla_S u, \eta \rangle = u \operatorname{div}_S \eta - \operatorname{div}_S(u\eta)$$

= $u \operatorname{div}_S \eta - \operatorname{div}_S(u\eta^\top) - \operatorname{div}_S(u\langle N, \eta \rangle N)$
= $u \operatorname{div}_S \eta - \operatorname{div}_S(u\eta^\top) - u|N_h|_* \operatorname{div}_S N.$

Hence we get

$$A'(0) = \int_{S} \left(u \operatorname{div}_{S} \eta - 2u \langle N, T \rangle \langle J(N_{h}), \eta \rangle \right) dS + \int_{S} \operatorname{div}_{S} \left(|N_{h}|_{*} U^{\top} - u \eta^{\top} \right) dS.$$

From here we obtain formula (5.2.1) since the integral $\int_S |N_h|_* U^{\top} dS$ is equal to 0 by the divergence theorem for Lipschitz vector fields.

Now we simplify the first term appearing in the first variation formula (5.2.1).

Lemma 5.2.5. Let S be a C^2 surface immersed in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) with unit normal N horizontal unit normal ν_h . Let $Z = J(\nu_h)$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{div}_{S} \eta - 2\langle N, T \rangle \langle J(N_{h}), \eta \rangle = \langle D_{Z} \eta, Z \rangle.$$
(5.2.7)

Proof. Let us consider the orthonormal basis in $S \setminus S_0$ given by the vector fields $Z = -J(\nu_h)$ and $E = \langle N, T \rangle \nu_h - |N_h|T = a\nu_h + bT$. Using equation (5.2.5) with F = E, we get

$$\begin{split} \langle D_E \eta, E \rangle &= a \langle D_E \eta, \nu_h \rangle + b \langle D_E \eta, T \rangle \\ &= -a \langle E, T \rangle \langle \eta, J(\nu_h) \rangle + b \big(E(\langle \eta, T \rangle) - \langle \eta, D_E T \rangle \big) \\ &= -ab \langle \eta, J(\nu_h) \rangle - ab \langle \eta, J(\nu_h) \rangle \\ &= -2ab \langle \eta, J(\nu_h) \rangle, \end{split}$$

as $D_E T = J(E) = aJ(\nu_h) = -aZ$. From $ab = -\langle N, T \rangle |N_h|$ we obtain

$$\langle D_E \eta, E \rangle = 2 \langle N, T \rangle \langle \eta, J(N_h) \rangle.$$

Taking into account this equation and that $\operatorname{div}_S \eta = \langle D_Z \eta, S \rangle + \langle D_E \eta, E \rangle$, we obtain equation (5.2.7).

Definition 5.2.6. Given an oriented surface S immersed in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) endowed with a smooth strictly convex left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$, its mean curvature is the function

$$H = \langle D_Z \eta_K, Z \rangle, \tag{5.2.8}$$

defined on $S \setminus S_0$.

Corollary 5.2.7. Let S be an oriented C^2 surface immersed in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) . Let U be a C^2 vector field with compact support on $S \setminus S_0$, normal component $u = \langle U, N \rangle$ and associated one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in \mathbb{R}}$. Then

$$\left. \frac{d}{ds} \right|_{s=0} A(\varphi_s(S)) = \int_S u H \, dS,$$

where H is the mean curvature of S defined in (5.2.8).

By equation (5.2.8), a unit speed horizontal curve Γ contained in the regular part of a surface S satisfy the equation

$$\langle \frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})), \dot{\Gamma} \rangle = H,$$
 (5.2.9)

where D/ds is the covariant derivative along Γ . Uniqueness of curves Γ satisfying (5.2.9) with given initial conditions $\Gamma(0)$, $\dot{\Gamma}(0)$ cannot be obtained from (5.2.9). In the next result we prove that the horizontal components of Γ satisfy indeed an ordinary differential equation, thus providing uniqueness with given initial conditions.

Corollary 5.2.8. Let S be a C^2 oriented surface immersed in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) with mean curvature H. Let $\Gamma : I \to S \setminus S_0$ be a horizontal curve in the regular part of S parameterized by arc-length with $\Gamma(s) = (x_1(s), x_2(s), t(s))$. Then $\gamma(s) = (x_1, x_2)$ satisfies a differential equation of the form

$$\ddot{\gamma} = F(\dot{\gamma}),\tag{5.2.10}$$

where $F(\dot{\gamma}) = H[A(\dot{\gamma})](\dot{\gamma})$ and A is a nonsingular C^1 matrix of order 2.

Proof. Let $\frac{D}{ds}$ be the covariant derivative along the curve Γ . Since Γ is horizontal and parameterized by arc-length, the vector field $\frac{D}{ds}\dot{\Gamma}$ along Γ is proportional to $J(\dot{\Gamma})$. Then there exists a function $\lambda: I \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\frac{D}{ds}\dot{\Gamma} = \lambda J(\dot{\Gamma})$$

Taking scalar product with $\eta = \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma}))$ we get

$$\lambda = \frac{\langle \frac{D}{ds}\dot{\Gamma}, \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma}))\rangle}{|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_*} = \frac{\frac{d}{ds}\langle \dot{\Gamma}, \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma}))\rangle - H}{|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_*}$$

Hence we have

$$|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* \frac{D}{ds} \dot{\Gamma} - \dot{f} J(\dot{\Gamma}) = -HJ(\dot{\Gamma}), \qquad (5.2.11)$$

where $f = \langle \dot{\Gamma}, \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})) \rangle$. Since $\dot{\Gamma} = \dot{x}_1 X + \dot{x}_2 Y$, $\frac{D}{ds} \dot{\Gamma} = \ddot{x}_1 X + \ddot{x}_2 Y$, and $J(\dot{\Gamma}) = -\dot{x}_2 X + \dot{x}_1 Y$, equation (5.2.11) is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{aligned} |J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* \ddot{x}_1 + \dot{f}\dot{x}_2 &= H\dot{x}_2, \\ |J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* \ddot{x}_2 - \dot{f}\dot{x}_1 &= -H\dot{x}_1. \end{aligned}$$
(5.2.12)

Let us compute $\dot{f} = df/ds$. Writing $\pi(aX + bY) = \pi_1(a, b)X + \pi_2(a, b)Y$ we have

$$f = \langle \dot{\Gamma}, \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})) \rangle = \dot{x}_1 \pi_1(-\dot{x}_2, \dot{x}_1) + \dot{x}_2 \pi_2(-\dot{x}_2, \dot{x}_1)$$

and so:

$$\dot{f} = \left(\pi_1 + \dot{x}_1 \frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial x_2} + \dot{x}_2 \frac{\partial \pi_2}{\partial x_2}\right) \ddot{x}_1 + \left(\pi_2 - \dot{x}_1 \frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial x_1} - \dot{x}_2 \frac{\partial \pi_2}{\partial x_1}\right) \ddot{x}_2 = g\ddot{x}_1 + h\ddot{x}_2,$$

where the functions π_1, π_2 are evaluated at $(-\dot{x}_2, \dot{x}_1)$. Hence equation (5.2.12) is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} |J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* + g\dot{x}_1 & h\dot{x}_2\\ -g\dot{x}_1 & |J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* - h\dot{x}_1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \ddot{x}_1\\ \ddot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} = H \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_2\\ -\dot{x}_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.2.13)

The determinant of the square matrix in (5.2.13) is equal to

$$|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_{*}(|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_{*}+(g\dot{x}_{1}-h\dot{x}_{1}))$$

Since

$$g\dot{x}_{1} - h\dot{x}_{2} = \left(\pi_{1}\dot{x}_{2} - \pi_{2}\dot{x}_{1}\right) + \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \dot{x}_{i}\dot{x}_{j}\frac{\partial\pi_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} = -|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_{*} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \dot{x}_{i}\dot{x}_{j}\frac{\partial\pi_{i}}{\partial x_{j}}$$

we get that the determinant is equal to

$$|J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \dot{x}_i \dot{x}_j \frac{\partial \pi_i}{\partial x_j}$$

and we write

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \dot{x}_i \dot{x}_j \frac{\partial \pi_i}{\partial x_j} = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 & \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_2 \\ \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since the kernel of $(\partial \pi_i / \partial x_j)_{ij}$ is generated by $(-\dot{x}_2, \dot{x}_1)$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_2 \\ \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} \neq 0,$$

and, since the image of $(\partial \pi_i / \partial x_j)_{ij}$ is generated by (\dot{x}_1, \dot{x}_2) , we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 & \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_2 \\ \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} \neq 0.$$

So we can invert the matrix in (5.2.13) to get (5.2.10).

Remark 5.2.9. It is not difficult to prove that

$$\frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})) = H\dot{\Gamma} - |J(\dot{\Gamma})|_* T.$$

Indeed it is only necessary to show that $\langle \frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})), J(\dot{\Gamma})\rangle = 0$, which follows from (5.2.6) using that $J(\dot{\Gamma}) = \nu_h$. Observe that the above equation is equivalent to

$$\left[\frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma}))\right]_{h} = H\dot{\Gamma}.$$

Writing $\dot{\Gamma} = \dot{x}X + \dot{y}Y$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_1 / \partial x_2 \\ \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_1 & \partial \pi_2 / \partial x_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -\ddot{y} \\ \ddot{x} \end{pmatrix} = H \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix}.$$

However, since the determinant of the square matrix is 0 we cannot invert it to obtain an ordinary differential equation for (\ddot{x}, \ddot{y}) .

Lemma 5.2.10. Let K be a C^2_+ convex body in \mathbb{R}^2 with $0 \in int(K)$. Let $\gamma: I \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be a unit speed clockwise parameterization of a translation of the unit sphere of ∂K by a vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Let Γ be a horizontal lifting of z. Then Γ satisfies the equation

$$1 = \langle \frac{D}{ds} \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})), \dot{\Gamma} \rangle. \tag{5.2.14}$$

Proof. We have $\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})) = \pi_1(J(\dot{\gamma}))X + \pi_2(J(\dot{\gamma}))Y$. Since $J(\dot{\gamma})$ is the outer normal to the unit sphere at $\gamma - v$ we have $\gamma - v = (\pi_1(J(\dot{\Gamma})), \pi_2(J(\dot{\Gamma})))$. Hence $\frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})) = \dot{x}X + \dot{y}Y$ and we get (5.2.14).

Lemma 5.2.11. Let K be a C^2_+ convex body in \mathbb{R}^2 with $0 \in int(K)$ and Γ a horizontal curve parameterized by arc-length satisfying the equation

 $\langle \frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})), \dot{\Gamma} \rangle = H,$

with $H \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $\sigma(s) = h_{\lambda}(\Gamma(s/\lambda))$ is parameterized by arc-length and $\langle \frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\sigma})), \dot{\sigma} \rangle = H/\lambda$.

Proof. We have
$$\dot{\sigma}(s) = \dot{\Gamma}(s/\lambda)$$
 and $J(\dot{\sigma}(s)) = J(\dot{\Gamma}(s/\lambda))$.

Remark 5.2.12. Horizontal straight lines are solutions of

$$\left< \frac{D}{ds} \pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})), \dot{\Gamma} \right> = 0$$

since $\dot{\Gamma}$ is the restriction of a left-invariant vector field in \mathbb{H}^1 and so they are $J(\dot{\Gamma})$ and $\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma}))$.

Theorem 5.2.13. Let K be a C^2_+ convex body in \mathbb{R}^2 with $0 \in int(K)$. Let Γ be a horizontal curve satisfying the equation

$$\langle \frac{D}{ds}\pi(J(\dot{\Gamma})), \dot{\Gamma} \rangle = H,$$
 (5.2.15)

for some $H \ge 0$. Then Γ is either a horizontal straight line if H = 0 or the horizontal lifting of a dilation and traslation of a unit speed clockwise parameterization of ∂K in case H > 0.

Proof. Horizontal straight lines and horizontal liftings of translations and dilations of ∂K satisfy equation (5.2.15). Uniqueness follow since the projection to t = 0 satisfy equation (5.2.10) and, by using translations and dilations, we can obtain any prescribed initial condition.

Remark 5.2.14. The result in Theorem 5.2.13 includes that constant mean curvature surfaces for the sub-Riemannian area in the Heisenberg group are foliated by geodesics.

To finish this section we prove the following result, that holds trivially for variations supported in the regular part of S.

Proposition 5.2.15. Let S be a compact C^2 oriented surface in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) enclosing a region E. Assume that S has constant mean curvature H and a finite number of singular points. Then

- 1. S is a critical point of the sub-Finsler area for any volume-preserving variation.
- 2. S is a critical point of the functional $A H \mid \cdot \mid$.

Proof. It is only necessary to prove that if U is a smooth vector field with compact support in \mathbb{H}^1 and $\{\varphi_s\}_{s\in\mathbb{R}}$ is its associated flow, then

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} A(\varphi_s(S)) = \int_S Hu \, dS.$$

From formula (5.2.1) this is equivalent to proving that

$$\int_{S} \operatorname{div}_{S} \left(u \eta^{\top} \right) dS = 0.$$

To compute the integral $\int_S u\eta^\top dS$ we consider the finite number of singular points p_1, \ldots, p_n , and take small disjoint balls $B_i(p_i)$ centered at the points p_i . For $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough so that the balls $B_{\varepsilon}(p_i)$ are contained in B_i we have

$$\int_{S \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B_{\varepsilon}(p_i)} \operatorname{div} u \eta^{\top} dS = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\partial B_{\varepsilon}(p_i)} \langle \xi_i, u \eta^{\top} \rangle \, d(\partial B_{\varepsilon}(p_i)),$$

where ξ_i is the unit inner normal to $\partial B_{\varepsilon}(p_i)$. Since $u\eta^{\top}$ is bounded and the lengths of $\partial B_{\varepsilon}(p_i)$ go to 0 when $\varepsilon \to 0$ we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\partial B_\varepsilon(p_i)} \langle \xi_i, u\eta^\top \rangle \, d(\partial B_\varepsilon(p_i)) = 0.$$

Since the modulus of

$$\operatorname{div}_{S}(u\eta^{\top}) = \langle \nabla_{S} u, \eta^{\top} \rangle + u \operatorname{div}_{S} \eta^{\top}$$
$$= \langle \nabla_{S} u, \eta^{\top} \rangle + u (\operatorname{div}_{S} \eta - \langle \eta^{\top}, N \rangle \operatorname{div}_{S} N)$$

is uniformly bounded, the dominated convergence theorem implies

$$\int_{S} \operatorname{div}_{S} u\eta^{\top} dS = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{S \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B_{\varepsilon}(p_{i})} \operatorname{div} u\eta^{\top} dS$$
$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\partial B_{\varepsilon}(p_{i})} \langle \xi_{i}, u\eta^{\top} \rangle d(\partial B_{\varepsilon}(p_{i})) = 0. \qquad \Box$$

Corollary 5.2.16 (Minkowski formula). Let S be a compact C^2 oriented surface in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) enclosing a region E. Assume that S has constant mean curvature H and a finite number of singular points. Then

$$3A(S) - 4H|E| = 0. (5.2.16)$$

Proof. We consider the vector field $W = x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ and its associated flow $\varphi_s((x, y, t)) = (e^s x, e^s y, e^{2s} t)$. Since

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}A(\varphi_s(S)) = 3A(S), \quad \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}|\varphi_s(E)| = 4|E|,$$

Proposition 5.2.15 implies

$$0 = \frac{d}{ds} \bigg|_{s=0} A(\varphi_s(S)) - H \frac{d}{ds} \bigg|_{s=0} |\varphi_s(E)| = 3A(S) - 4H|E|. \qquad \Box$$

5.3 Pansu-Wulff spheres and examples

We consider a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ containing 0 in its interior and the associated norm $|\cdot|_K$ in \mathbb{H}^1 .

Definition 5.3.1. Consider a clockwise-oriented *L*-periodic parameterization $\gamma : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ of ∂K . For fixed $v \in \mathbb{R}$ take the translated curve $u \mapsto \gamma(u+v) - \gamma(v)$ and its horizontal lifting $\Gamma_v : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{H}^1$ with initial point (0,0,0) at u = 0.

The set \mathbb{S}_K is defined as

$$\mathbb{S}_{K} = \bigcup_{v \in [0,L]} \Gamma_{v}([0,L]).$$
(5.3.1)

We shall refer to \mathbb{S}_K as the *Pansu-Wulff sphere* associated to the left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$.

When K = D, the closed unit disk centered at the origin in \mathbb{R}^2 , the Pansu-Wulff sphere \mathbb{S}_D is Pansu's sphere, see [136; 137].

Remark 5.3.2. In the construction of the Pansu-Wulff sphere we are not assuming any regularity on the boundary of K. Since ∂K is a locally Lipschitz curve, its horizontal lifting is well defined.

Remark 5.3.3. The set \mathbb{S}_K is union of curves leaving from (0,0,0) that meet again at the point (0,0,2|K|). Since γ is *L*-periodic, the construction is *L*-periodic in v and so \mathbb{S}_K is the image of a continuous map from a sphere to \mathbb{H}^1 .

Example 5.3.4. Given the Euclidean norm $|\cdot|$ in \mathbb{R}^2 and $a = (a_1, a_2)$, where $a_1, a_2 > 0$, we define the norm:

$$||(x_1, x_2)||_a = |(\frac{x_1}{a_1}, \frac{x_2}{a_2})|.$$



Figure 5.3: The Pansu-Wulff sphere associated to the norm $|| \cdot ||_a$ with a = (1, 1.5). Observe that the projection to the horizontal plane t = 0 is an ellipse with semiaxes of lengths 2 and 3.

The unit ball K_a for this norm is an ellipsoid with axes of length a_1 and a_2 . We parameterize clockwise ∂K by

$$\gamma(s) = (a_1 \sin(s), a_2 \cos(s)), \quad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This parameterization is injective of period 2π . The translation of this curve to the origin by the point $-\gamma(v)$ is given by the curve

$$\Lambda_v(u) = \gamma(u+v) - \gamma(v)$$

The horizontal lifting of Λ_v is given by $(\Lambda_v(u), t_v(u))$, where

$$t_v(u) = \int_0^u \left[\Lambda_v(\xi) \cdot J(\dot{\Lambda}_v(\xi)) \right] d\xi$$

Since

$$\Lambda_v(\xi) \cdot J(\dot{\Lambda}_v(\xi)) = (\gamma(\xi + v) - \gamma(v)) \cdot J(\dot{\gamma}(\xi + v)),$$

we get

$$t_v(u) = a_1 a_2 \big(u + \sin(v) \cos(u + v) - \cos(v) \sin(u + v) \big).$$

Hence a parameterization of \mathbb{S}_{K_a} is given by

$$\begin{aligned} x(u,v) &= a_1 \big(\sin(u+v) - \sin(v) \big) \\ y(u,v) &= a_2 \big(\cos(u+v) - \sin(v) \big), \\ t(u,v) &= a_1 a_2 \big(u + \sin(v) \cos(u+v) - \cos(v) \sin(u+v) \big). \end{aligned}$$

Example 5.3.5. Given any convex set K containing 0 in its interior, we can parameterize its Lipschitz boundary ∂K as

$$\gamma(s) = (x(s), y(s)) = r(s) (\sin(s), \cos(s)), \quad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

where $r(s) = \rho(\sin(s), \cos(s))$ and ρ is the radial function of K defined as $\rho(u) = \sup\{\lambda \ge 0 : \lambda u \in K\}$ for any vector u of modulus 1 in \mathbb{R}^2 .

A horizontal lifting of the curve γ passing through the point $(\gamma(0), 0)$ can be obtained computing

$$t(s) = \int_0^s \gamma(\xi) \cdot J(\dot{\gamma}(\xi)) \, d\xi = \int_0^s r^2(\xi) \, d\xi,$$

since $J(\dot{\gamma}(s)) = r(s) (\sin(s), \cos(s)) + \dot{r}(s) (-\cos(s), \sin(s))$. Hence the curve

$$\Gamma(s) = \left(x(s), y(s), t(s)\right) = \left(\gamma(s), \int_0^s r^2(\xi) \, d\xi\right)$$

is a horizontal lifting of the curve γ .

Now we translate all these curves to pass through the origin of \mathbb{H}^1 . This way we get the parameterization Φ_K of \mathbb{S}_K given by

$$(u,v)\mapsto \ell_{-\Gamma(v)}(\Gamma(u+v))$$

for $(u, v) \in [0, 2\pi]^2$. Since

$$\ell_{(x_0,y_0,t_0)}(x,y,t) = (x+x_0,y+y_0,t+t_0+(xy_0-x_0y)),$$

computing the left-translation using the expression for Γ obtained before we get

$$\begin{aligned} x(u,v) &= r(u+v)\sin(u+v) - r(v)\sin(v), \\ y(u,v) &= r(u+v)\cos(u+v) - r(v)\cos(v), \\ t(u,v) &= r(v)r(u+v)(\sin(v)\cos(u+v) - \cos(v)\sin(u+v)) \\ &+ \int_{v}^{u+v} r^{2}(\xi) d\xi. \end{aligned}$$
(5.3.2)

The parameterization given by equations (5.3.2) is useful to obtain regularity properties of S_K . If ∂K is of class C^{ℓ} , $\ell \ge 0$, its radial function $r(s) = (x(s)^2 + y(s)^2)^{1/2}$ is of class C^{ℓ} and hence the parameterization Φ_K is an immersion of class C^{ℓ} for $0 < u < 2\pi$.

Example 5.3.6. Let $\ell > 1$. We consider the ℓ -norm in \mathbb{R}^2 defined as

$$||(x_1, x_2)||_{\ell} = (|x_1|^{\ell} + |x_2|^{\ell})^{1/\ell}.$$

Denote by K_{ℓ} the unit ball for this ℓ -norm. We can parametrize the unit circle $|| \cdot ||_{\ell} = 1$ using (5.3.2). In this case

$$\rho(x,y) = \frac{1}{\left(|x|^{\ell} + |y|^{\ell}\right)^{1/\ell}}, \qquad |(x,y)| = 1.$$

By the previous example, the Pansu-Wulff sphere $\mathbb{S}_{K_{\ell}}$ is parameterized by equations (5.3.2).

Remark 5.3.7. Assume we have a sequence of of convex sets (K_i) converging in Hausdorff distance to a limit convex set K. Then the radial functions r_{K_i} uniformly converge to the radial function r of the limit set K. Hence equations (5.3.2) imply that the Pansu-Wulff spheres \mathbb{S}_{K_i} converge in Hausdorff distance to a ball bounded by the horizontal liftings of translations of a parameterization γ of ∂K .

Since $\lim_{\ell \to 1} || \cdot ||_{\ell} = || \cdot ||_1$ and $\lim_{\ell \to \infty} || \cdot ||_{\ell} = | \cdot |_{\infty}$, we can use the previous argument to show that the Pansu-Wulff spheres $\mathbb{S}_{K_{\ell}}$ converge to the two spheres \mathbb{S}_1 and \mathbb{S}_{∞} . Under these conditions, it is not difficult to check that the corresponding perimeters converge to the limit perimeter.



Figure 5.4: The Pansu-Wulff sphere $\mathbb{S}_{K_{\ell}}$ for the ℓ -norm, $\ell = 1.5$. The horizontal curve is the projection of the equator to the plane t = 0. We observe that the Pansu-Wulff sphere projects to the set $|\cdot|_{\ell} \leq 2$ in the t = 0 plane.



Figure 5.5: The sphere S_1 obtained as Hausdorff limit of the Pansu-Wulff spheres S_{K_r} of the ℓ -norm when ℓ converges to 1.



Figure 5.6: The sphere \mathbb{S}_{∞} obtained as Hausdorff limit of the Pansu-Wulff spheres \mathbb{S}_{K_r} of the ℓ -norm when ℓ converges to ∞

Example 5.3.8. Let us consider the equilateral triangle T in the plane \mathbb{R}^2 defined as the convex envelope of the points $a_1 = (0, 1), a_2 = (\sqrt{3}/2, -1/2), a_3 = (-\sqrt{3}/1, -1/2)$. We can define a norm $|\cdot|_T$ by the equality

$$|x|_T = \max\{\langle x, a_i \rangle : i = 1, 2, 3\}, x \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

The unit ball of the norm $|\cdot|_T$ is the triangle T. It is neither smooth nor strictly convex. However we may consider the approximating norms

$$|x|_{T,\ell} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \max\{\langle x, a_i \rangle, 0\}^\ell\right)^{1/\ell}.$$

These norms are smooth and strictly convex and $\lim_{\ell\to\infty} |x|_{T,\ell} = |x|_T$. Hence the Pansu-Wulff spheres $\mathbb{S}_{K_{T,\ell}}$ converge in Hausdorff distance when $\ell \to \infty$ to the sphere \mathbb{S}_T obtained by traslating ∂T to touch the origin and lifting the obtained curves as horizontal ones to \mathbb{H}^1 .



Figure 5.7: The Pansu-Wulff sphere $\mathbb{S}_{T,\ell}$ for the norm $|| \cdot ||_{T,\ell}$, with r = 2.



Figure 5.8: The sphere \mathbb{S}_T obtained as limit of the Pansu-Wulff spheres $\mathbb{S}_{T,\ell}$ when $r \to \infty$.

5.4 Geometric properties of the Pansu-Wulff spheres

In this section we show several geometric properties of the Pansu-Wulff spheres \mathbb{S}_K associated with a left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_K$. We start by looking at the projection of the sphere to the t = 0 plane. This projection is determined by the geometry of the convex set K.

Given a convex body $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, the *difference body* of K is the set

$$DK = K - K = \{x - y : x, y \in K\}.$$

The difference body DK is a *centrally symmetric* convex body. This means that $-x \in DK$ whenever $x \in DK$. If h_K is the support function of K then the support function of DK is given by

$$h_{\mathrm{D}K}(u) = h_K(u) + h_K(-u),$$

see [156, p. 140]. This is the width of K in the direction of u.

Lemma 5.4.1. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body with $0 \in int(K)$. We consider the set

$$K_0 = \bigcup_{p \in \partial K} (-p + K).$$
(5.4.1)

Then we have

1. $0 \in K_0$.

- 2. K_0 is a convex body.
- 3. K_0 is the difference body of K. In particular, K_0 is centrally symmetric.
- 4. If K is centrally symmetric then $K_0 = 2K$.
- 5. We have

$$\bigcup_{p \in \partial K} (-p + K) = \bigcup_{p \in \partial K} (-p + \partial K).$$

Proof. To prove 1 take into account that $0 = -p + p \in -p + K \subset K_0$ for any $p \in \partial K$.

To prove 2, we take $p_1, p_2 \in \partial K$, $q_1, q_2 \in K$ and $\lambda \in [0, 1]$. Then

 $\lambda(-p_1 + q_1) + (1 - \lambda)(-p_2 + q_2) = -p_{\lambda} + q_{\lambda},$

where

$$p_{\lambda} = \lambda p_1 + (1 - \lambda)p_2, \qquad q_{\lambda} = \lambda q_1 + (1 - \lambda)q_2.$$

If $p_{\lambda} = q_{\lambda}$ then $-p_{\lambda} + q_{\lambda} = 0 \in K_0$. Otherwise the segment $[p_{\lambda}, q_{\lambda}]$ is not trivial and contained in K. Let $\mu_0 \ge 1$ such that $q_{\lambda} + \mu_0(p_{\lambda} - q_{\lambda}) \in \partial K$. The

value μ_0 is computed as the supremum of the set $\{\mu \ge 0 : q_\lambda + \mu(p_\lambda - q_\lambda) \in K\}$. We have

$$-p_{\lambda} + q_{\lambda} = -(q_{\lambda} + \mu_0(p_{\lambda} - q_{\lambda})) + (q_{\lambda} + (\mu_0 - 1)(p_{\lambda} - q_{\lambda})).$$

The point $q_{\lambda} + \mu_0(p_{\lambda} - q_{\lambda})$ belongs to ∂K by the choice of μ_0 and the point $q_{\lambda} + (\mu_0 - 1)(p_{\lambda} - q_{\lambda})$ belongs to K since $0 \leq \mu_0 - 1 \leq \mu_0$. Hence $-p_{\lambda} + q_{\lambda} \in K_0$ and so K_0 is convex.

To prove 3, we take a vector v with $\langle v, v \rangle = 1$. Let $q \in \partial K_0$ such that

$$h_{K_0}(v) = \langle q, v \rangle \geqslant \langle z, v \rangle \quad \forall \ z \in K_0.$$

$$(5.4.2)$$

By the definition of K_0 , there exists $p \in \partial K$ such that $q \in -p + K$. We claim that $q \in -p + \partial K$: otherwise $p + q \in int(K)$ and there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $p + q + \varepsilon v \in K$. So we have

$$\langle -p + (p + q + \varepsilon v), v \rangle = \langle q + \varepsilon v, v \rangle = \langle q, v \rangle + \varepsilon > \langle q, v \rangle.$$

Since $p + q + \varepsilon v \in K$ this yields a contradiction. Hence $q \in -p + \partial K = \partial(-p + K)$ for some $p \in \partial K$.

Since $-p + K \subset K_0$ and q is a boundary point for both sets, we deduce that v is a normal vector to -p + K at q. As $h_{-p+K}(v) = -\langle p, v \rangle + h_K(v)$, we have

$$h_{K_0}(v) = h_{-p+K}(v) = h_K(v) + \langle p, -v \rangle.$$

It remains to prove that $h_K(-v) = \langle p, -v \rangle$. Assume by contradiction that $\langle p, -v \rangle < h_K(-v) = \langle x, -v \rangle$ for some $x \in \partial K$. Then we have

$$\langle -x + (p+q), v \rangle = \langle -x + p, v \rangle + \langle q, v \rangle > \langle q, v \rangle,$$

that cannot hold by (5.4.2) since $p+q \in K$ and so $-x+p+q \in -x+K \subset K_0$.

To prove 4, we note that $h_K(v) = h_K(-v)$ when K is centrally symmetric and, by 3, $h_{K_0} = 2h_K$. Hence $K = 2K_0$.

Finally, to prove 5 we notice that $\bigcup_{p\in\partial K}(-p+K)\supset \bigcup_{p\in\partial K}(-p+\partial K)$. To prove the remaining inclusion we take $p\in\partial K$ and $u\in K$ such that $q=-p+u\in \bigcup_{p\in\partial K}(-p+K)$. Then Lemma 5.4.2 allows us to find $p_1, u_1\in\partial K$ such that $q=-p+u=-p_1+u_1$. Hence $q\in \bigcup_{p\in\partial K}(-p+\partial K)$.

Lemma 5.4.2. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a convex body, and $a, b \in K$. Then there exist $p, q \in \partial K$ such that b - a = q - p.

Proof. If a = b or $a, b \in \partial K$ the result follows trivially. Henceforth we assume $a \neq b$ and that at least a or b is an interior point of K. We pick a point $c \in K$ out of the line ab. Let P be the plane containing a, b, c and $W = K \cap P$. The set W is a convex body in P and the boundary of W in P is contained in ∂K . We take orthogonal coordinates (x, y) in P so

that (b-a) points into the positive direction of the y-axis. Let I be the orthogonal projection in P of W onto the x-axis.

Given $x \in I$, define the set W(x) as $\{y \in \mathbb{R} : (x, y) \in W\}$. A simple application of Kuratowski criterion, see Theorem 1.8.8 in [156], implies that $W(x_i)$ converges to W(x) in Hausdorff distance when x_i converges to x. Hence the function $x \in I \mapsto |W(x)|$ is continuous and takes a value larger than |b-a| at the projection of a, b over the x-axis. If |W(x)| = |b-a| for some $x \in I$, we take as p, q the extreme points of the interval W(x) chosen so that q - p = b - a to conclude the proof. Otherwise, we would have $|W(x_0)| > |b-a|$ at an extreme point x_0 of I. We may choose two points $p, q \in W(x_0)$ such that the length $|[p,q]|_1 = |b-a|$ and q - p = b - a. Since $W(x_0)$ is contained in the boundary of W in P, it is contained in ∂K and so $p, q \in \partial K$.

Now we refine the results in Lemma 5.4.1 when K is strictly convex and has boundary of class C_{+}^{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 2$. We say that a convex body K is of class C_{+}^{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 1$, when ∂K is of class C^{ℓ} and its normal map $\mathcal{N}_{K} : \partial K \to \mathbb{S}^{1}$ is a diffeomorphism of class $C^{\ell-1}$.

Corollary 5.4.3. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a convex body with $0 \in int(K)$. Then

- 1. If $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is strictly convex, then K_0 is strictly convex.
- 2. If K is of class C_{+}^{ℓ} , $\ell \ge 2$, then K_0 is of class C_{+}^{ℓ} .

Proof. To prove that K_0 is strictly convex, we take two different points $x_1 - x_2, y_1 - y_2 \in \partial K_0$, with $x_i, y_i \in K$, i = 1, 2. Then the four points belong to the boundary of K. For any $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, we write the convex combination $\lambda(x_1 - x_2) + (1 - \lambda)(y_1 - y_2)$ as

$$x_{\lambda} - y_{\lambda} = (\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_1) - (\lambda x_2 + (1 - \lambda)y_2).$$

Since $x_1 \neq y_1$ or $x_2 \neq y_2$, the strict convexity of K implies that x_{λ} or y_{λ} is an interior point of K. Then $x_{\lambda} - y_{\lambda}$ is an interior point of K_0 . Since $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and the boundary points are arbitrary, the set K_0 is strictly convex.

To prove the boundary regularity of K_0 we follow Schneider's arguments [156, p. 115] and observe that the support function h_K of K is defined, when $u \neq 0$, by

$$h_K(u) = \langle u, \mathcal{N}_K^{-1}(u) \rangle,$$

where $\mathcal{N}_K : \partial K \to \mathbb{S}^1$ is the Gauss map, a diffeomorphism of class $C^{\ell-1}$ since K is of class C^{ℓ}_+ . By Corollary 7.1.3 in [156]

$$\nabla h_K(u) = \mathcal{N}_K^{-1}\left(\frac{u}{|u|}\right),\tag{5.4.3}$$

and so h_K is of class C^{ℓ} . This implies that the support function of K_0 , $h_{K_0}(u) = h_K(u) + h_K(-u)$, is of class C^{ℓ} . Hence the polar body K_0^* of K_0 has boundary of class C^{ℓ} . The Gauss map $\mathcal{N}_{K_0^*}$ of K_0^* can be described as

$$\mathcal{N}_{K_0^*} : \rho(K_0^*, u)u \mapsto \frac{\mathcal{N}_K^{-1}(u)}{|\mathcal{N}_K^{-1}(u)|}$$

where $\rho(K_0^*, \cdot) = h_K^{-1}(\cdot)$ is the radial function of K_0^* , of class $C^{\ell-1}$. Hence $\mathcal{N}_{K_0^*}$ is a diffeomorphism of class $C^{\ell-1}$ and so K_0^* is of class C_+^ℓ . Now the support function of K_0^* is of class C_+^ℓ and we reason in the same way interchanging the roles of K_0^* and K_0 to get the result.

Remark 5.4.4. If $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a centrally symmetric convex body, for any $p \in \partial K$, the line passing through p and -p divides K into two regions of equal area. Hence the line through 0 and -2p divides -p + K into two regions of the same area. When p moves along ∂K , the point -2p parametrizes $\partial(2K)$.

Let K be a convex set of class C_+^{ℓ} , $\ell \ge 2$, $C = \partial K$ and $\gamma : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ an L-periodic clockwise arc-length parameterization of C, with L = length(C). The set $K_0 = \bigcup_{p \in C} (-p + K)$ has smooth boundary C_0 . For any $v \in \mathbb{R}$, we denote by $\gamma_v(u) = \gamma(u + v) - \gamma(v)$. Let $\Gamma_v = (\gamma_v, t_v)$ be the horizontal lifting of γ_v with $t_v(0) = 0$. If we call $\Omega_v(u)$ the planar region delimited by the segment $[0, \gamma_v(u)]$ and the restriction of γ_v to [0, u] then a standard application of the Divergence Theorem to the vector field $x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ implies

$$t_v(u) = \int_0^u \langle \gamma_v, J(\dot{\gamma}_v) \rangle(\xi) \, d\xi = 2 \, |\Omega_v(u)|.$$

Our next goal is to prove that \mathbb{S}_K is the union of two graphs defined in K_0 of class C^2 and coinciding on ∂K_0 .

Theorem 5.4.5. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a convex body with C^{ℓ}_+ boundary, $\ell \ge 2$. Then

- 1. \mathbb{S}_K is of class C^{ℓ} outside the poles.
- 2. There exist two functions $g_1, g_2 : K_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ of class C^{ℓ} on $int(K_0)$ such that

$$\mathbb{S}_K = \operatorname{graph}(g_1) \cup \operatorname{graph}(g_2),$$

with $g_1 > g_2$ on $int(K_0)$ and $g_1 = g_2$ on C_0 . This imples that \mathbb{S}_K is an embedded surface.

Moreover, if K is centrally symmetric then $g_1 + g_2 = 2|K|$ and hence \mathbb{S}_K is symmetric with respect to the horizontal Euclidean plane t = |K|.

Definition 5.4.6. The domain delimited by the embedded sphere \mathbb{S}_K is a ball \mathbb{B}_K that we call the *Pansu-Wulff shape* of $|\cdot|_K$.

Proof of Theorem 5.4.5. That \mathbb{S}_K is C^{ℓ} outside the singular set follows from the parameterization (5.3.2) since the function r(s) is of class C^{ℓ} . This proves 1.

We break the proof of 2 into several steps. Recall that $C = \partial K$ and $C_0 = \partial K_0$.

Step 1. Given $x \in K_0 \setminus \{0\}$, we claim that $x \in C - p$ for some $p \in C$ if and only if the segment [p, p + x] is contained in K and $p, p + x \in C$. This means that the number of curves C - p, with $p \in C$, passing through $x \neq 0$ coincides with the number of segments parallel to x of length |x| and boundary points in C. This step is trivial.

Step 2. Given $x \in K_0 \setminus \{0\}$, the number of segments [p, p + x] contained in K with $p, p+x \in C$ is either 1 or 2. The first case corresponds to maximal length and happens if and only if x belongs to C_0 .

To prove this we consider v = x/|x| and a line L orthogonal to v. For any z in L we consider the intersection $I_z = L_z \cap K$, where L_z is the line passing through z with direction v. The set $J = \{z \in L : I_z \neq \emptyset\}$ is a non-trivial segment in L. The strict convexity of K implies that the map $F : J \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $F(z) = |I_z|$ is strictly concave. Since F vanishes at the extreme points of J, it has just one maximum point $z_0 \in int(J)$ and each value in the interval $(0, F(z_0))$ is taken by two different points in J. The observation that there is a bijective correspondence between the segments [p, p+x] contained in K with $p, p + x \in C$ and the points $z \in L$ with F(z) = |x| proves the first part of the claim.



Figure 5.9: Construction of the map F

To prove the second part of the claim we fix some $x \in K_0$. We take $p \in C$ such that the segment [p, p+x] is contained in K and $p, p+x \in C$. Assume first that $x \in C_0$. If there were a larger segment $[q, q + \mu x]$ contained in Kwith $q, q + \mu x \in C$ and $\mu > 1$ then we would have $\mu x \in C - q \subset K_0$, a contradiction. Hence the length of [p, p+x] is is the largest possible in the direction of x. Assume now that the length of [p, p+x] yields the maximum of length of intervals contained in K in the direction of x. If $x \notin C_0$ then x is an interior point of K_0 and, since $0 \in int(K_0)$, there would exist $\lambda > 1$ such that $\lambda x \in K_0$. Hence there is some $q \in C$ such that $\lambda x \in C - p$ and the segment $[q, q + \lambda x] \subset C$ and has length larger than |x|, a contradiction that proves that $x \in C_0$.

Step 3. Given any point $x \in int(K_0)$, there are exactly two points in \mathbb{S}_K at heights $g_1(x) > g_2(x)$. In case K is centrally symmetric then $g_1(x) + g_2(x) = 2|K|$.

By the previous steps, there are exactly two points $p, q \in C$ so that $p + x, q + x \in C$ and the segments [p, p + x], [q, q + x] are contained in K. We may assume that p, p + x, q + x, q are ordered clockwise along C. The heights of the points in \mathbb{S}_K projecting over x are given by twice the areas of the sets A and B, where A is determined by the portion of C from p to p + x and the segment [p + x, p], and B is determined by the portion of C from q to q + x and the segment [q + x, q]. Since A is properly contained in B we have $g_2(x) = 2|A| < 2|B| = g_1(x)$.

In case K is centrally symmetric, the central symmetry maps p + x to q and q + x to p since [p, p + x] and [q, q + x] are the only segments in K of length |x| with boundary points on C. Hence |A| + |B| = |K| and so $g_1(x) + g_2(x) = 2|K|$.

Step 4. The functions g_1, g_2 are of class C^{ℓ} in $int(K_0) \setminus \{0\}$.

This follows from the implicit function theorem since \mathbb{S}_K is C^{ℓ} outside the poles.

Theorem 5.4.7. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a convex body of class C^2_+ . Then \mathbb{S}_K is of class C^2 around the poles.

Proof. We consider a horizontal lifting $\Gamma = (x, y, t)$ of a clockwise arclength parametrization γ of ∂K . Then a parameterization of \mathbb{S}_K is given by $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{t})(u, v) = \ell_{-\Gamma(v)}(\Gamma(u+v))$. This means

$$\mathbf{x}(u,v) = x(u+v) - x(v),$$

$$\mathbf{y}(u,v) = y(u+v) - y(v),$$

$$\mathbf{t}(u,v) = t(u+v) - t(v) - x(u+v)y(v) + y(u+v)x(v).$$

(5.4.4)

The tangent vectors $\partial/\partial u$, $\partial/\partial u$ are the image of (1,0) and (0,1) under the parameterization and are given by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u} = \dot{x}(u+v) X + \dot{y}(u+v) Y.$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial v} = \left(\dot{x}(u+v) - \dot{x}(v)\right) X + \left(\dot{y}(u+v) - \dot{y}(v)\right) Y + h(u,v) T,$$

where

$$h(u,v) = 2(\dot{x}(v)(y(u+v) - y(v)) - \dot{y}(v)(x(u+v) - x(v))).$$
(5.4.5)

Geometrically, h(u, v) is the scalar product of the position vector (x(u + v) - x(v), y(u + v) - y(v)) with $J((\dot{x}, \dot{y}))$, that is always negative for u > 0. A Riemannian unit normal vector N can be easily computed from the expressions of $\partial/\partial u$ and $\partial/\partial v$ and is given by

$$N = \frac{h(\dot{y}(u+v)X - \dot{x}(u+v)Y) + gT}{(h^2 + g^2)^{1/2}},$$
(5.4.6)

where

$$g(u,v) = \dot{x}(v)\dot{y}(u+v) - \dot{y}(v)\dot{x}(u+v).$$
(5.4.7)

We have

$$|N_h| = \frac{|h|}{(h^2 + g^2)^{1/2}}, \qquad \langle N, T \rangle = \frac{g}{(h^2 + g^2)^{1/2}}$$

Let us see that \mathbb{S}_K is a C^2 surface near the south pole (0,0,0). The arguments for the north pole of are similar. To see that \mathbb{S}_K is C^1 near the south pole, it is enough to check that N extends continuously to u = 0. Let us see that

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} N(u,v) = -T.$$
(5.4.8)

Since g < 0, from the expression (5.4.6) it is enough to prove that

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{h}{g}(u,v) = 0.$$
(5.4.9)

Since x and y are functions of class C^2 , we use Taylor expansions around v to get

$$\begin{aligned} x(u+v) &= x(v) + \dot{x}(v)u + R(u,v)u, \quad y(u+v) = y(v) + \dot{y}(v)u + R(u,v)u, \\ \dot{x}(u+v) &= \dot{x}(v) + \ddot{x}(v)u + R(u,v)u, \quad \dot{y}(u+v) = \dot{y}(v) + \ddot{y}(v)u + R(u,v)u. \end{aligned}$$

In the above equations R denotes a continuous functions of (u, v) (depending on the equation) that converges to 0 when $u \to 0$ independently of v. This follows from the integral expression for the reminder in Taylor's expansion. Then we have

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} \frac{h}{g}(u,v) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} \frac{R(u,v)u}{-\kappa(v)u + R(u,v)u}$$
$$= \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} \frac{R(u,v)}{-\kappa(v) + R(u,v)} = 0,$$

where

$$\kappa(v) = (\dot{y}\ddot{x} - \dot{x}\ddot{y})(v)$$

is the (positive) geodesic curvature of γ . This proves (5.4.9) and so \mathbb{S}_K is of class C^1 around (0, 0, 0).

To prove that \mathbb{S}_K is of class C^2 around the origin it is enough to show that the Riemannian second fundamental form of \mathbb{S}_K converges to 0 when $(u, v) \to (0, v_0)$. We first compute

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}D_{\partial/\partial u}N$$

Since

$$D_{\partial/\partial u}N = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left(\frac{h\dot{y}(u+v)}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) X - \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left(\frac{h\dot{x}(u+v)}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) Y + \frac{g}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}} J(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}) + \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) + \frac{h}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) T.$$
(5.4.10)

A direct computation taking into account $\frac{\partial h}{\partial u} = 2g$ yields

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left(\frac{h}{\sqrt{h^2 + g^2}} \right) = \frac{2g^3 - gh\frac{\partial g}{\partial u}}{(h^2 + g^2)^{3/2}}, \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{h^2 + g^2}} \right) = \frac{h^2 \frac{\partial g}{\partial u} - 2g^2 h}{(h^2 + g^2)^{3/2}}.$$

It is straightforward to check from the Taylor expressions that

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{h}{g^2}(u,v) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{-\kappa(v_0)u^2 + R(u,v)u^2}{\kappa(v_0)^2u^2 + R(u,v)u^2} = \frac{-1}{\kappa(v_0)}$$

Then we immediately get, dividing by $-g^3$,

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\left(\frac{h}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{-2+\frac{h}{g^2}\frac{\partial g}{\partial u}}{((\frac{h}{g})^2+1)^{3/2}} = -1$$

 and

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{-\frac{h}{g}\frac{h}{g^2}\frac{\partial g}{\partial u} + 2\frac{h}{g}}{((\frac{h}{g})^2+1)^{3/2}} = 0.$$

Taking limits in (5.4.10) we get

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} D_{\partial/\partial u} N = J(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}) - J(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}) + 0 = 0.$$

We complete $\frac{\partial}{\partial v}$ to an orthonormal basis of the tangent plane by adding the vector

$$E = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial v} - \langle \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \rangle \frac{\partial}{\partial u}}{(1 - \langle \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \rangle^2)^{1/2}}.$$

Since $\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} \frac{\partial}{\partial v} = 0$, we have

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} D_E N = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} D_{\partial/\partial v} N$$
$$= \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} \left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial v} \left(\frac{h}{\sqrt{h^2 + g^2}} \right) J(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \left(\frac{g}{(h^2 + g^2)^{1/2}} \right) \right)$$

A computation shows that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial v} \left(\frac{h}{\sqrt{h^2 + g^2}} \right) = \frac{g^2 \frac{\partial h}{\partial v} - gh \frac{\partial g}{\partial v}}{(h^2 + g^2)^{3/2}}, \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{h^2 + g^2}} \right) = \frac{h^2 \frac{\partial g}{\partial v} - gh \frac{\partial h}{\partial v}}{(h^2 + g^2)^{3/2}}.$$

We trivially have

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{\partial h}{\partial v}(u,v) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{\partial g}{\partial v}(u,v) = 0.$$

Hence

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{\partial}{\partial v}\left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{-\frac{h}{g}\frac{h}{g^2}\frac{\partial g}{\partial v} + \frac{h}{g^2}\frac{\partial h}{\partial v}}{((\frac{h}{g})^2+1)^{3/2}} = 0.$$

On the other hand

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{\partial}{\partial v}\left(\frac{h}{\sqrt{h^2+g^2}}\right) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{-\frac{1}{g}\frac{\partial h}{\partial v} + \frac{h}{g^2}\frac{\partial g}{\partial v}}{(h^2+g^2)^{3/2}} = 0.$$

This equality holds from the Taylor expansions since

$$\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{1}{g}\frac{\partial h}{\partial v}(u,v) = \lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)}\frac{R(u,v)u}{-\kappa(v)u + R(u,v)u} = 0.$$

So we conclude that $\lim_{(u,v)\to(0,v_0)} D_E N = 0.$

5.5 Minimization property of the Pansu-Wulff shapes

We prove in this section a minimization property satisfied by the balls \mathbb{B}_K . Let K be a convex body containing 0 in its interior. We assume that K is of class C_+^{ℓ} , with $\ell \ge 2$.

Definition 5.5.1. Given \mathbb{S}_K , we let $g : K_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ be the function $g(x) = (g_1(x) + g_2(x))/2$, where g_1 and g_2 are the functions obtained in Theorem 5.4.5.

We also introduce the notation $\mathbb{S}_K^+ := \mathbb{S}_K \cap \{(x,t) : t \ge g(x)\}, \mathbb{S}_K^- := \mathbb{S} \cap \{(x,t) : t \le g(x)\}$ and $D_0 = \{(x,g(x)) : x \in K_0\}.$

Theorem 5.5.2. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be convex body of class C_+^{ℓ} , with $\ell \ge 2$ and $0 \in int(K)$. Let r > 0 and $h : rK_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^0 function. Consider a subset $E \subset \mathbb{H}^1$ with finite volume and finite K-perimeter such that

$$\operatorname{graph}(h) \subseteq E \subset rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}$$

Then

$$|\partial E|_K \geqslant |\partial \mathbb{B}_E|_K,\tag{5.5.1}$$

where \mathbb{B}_E is the Wulff shape in (\mathbb{H}^1, K) with $|E| = |\mathbb{B}_E|$.

Proof. Let $g_r : rK_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ the function defined by $g_r(x) = r^2 g(\frac{1}{r}x)$, where g is the function in Definition 5.5.1. Let D be the graph of g_r . We know that D divides the Wulff shape $r\mathbb{S}_K$ into two parts $r\mathbb{S}_K^+$ and $r\mathbb{S}_K^-$. Let W^+ and $W^$ the vector fields in $rK_0 \times \mathbb{R} \setminus L$ defined by translating vertically the vector fields

$$\pi_K(\nu_0)\big|_{r\mathbb{S}^+_K}, \quad \pi_K(\nu_0)\big|_{r\mathbb{S}^-_K},$$

respectively. Here ν_0 is the horizontal unit normal to \mathbb{S}_K .

As a first step in the proof we are going to show that if $F \subset rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}$ is a set of finite volume and K-perimeter so that rel $int(D) \subset int(F)$, then the inequality

$$\frac{1}{r}|F| \leqslant \int_D \langle W^+ - W^-, N_D \rangle dD + |\partial F|_K \tag{5.5.2}$$

holds, where N_D is the Riemannian normal pointing down and dD is the Riemannian measure of D. Equality holds in (5.5.2) if and only if $W^+ = \pi_K(\nu_h) |\partial_K F|$ -a.e. on $F^+ = F \cap \{t \ge g_r\}$ and $W^- = \pi_K(\nu_h) |\partial_K F|$ -a.e. on $F^- = F \cap \{t \le g_r\}$. Here ν_h is the horizontal unit normal to F.

To prove (5.5.2) we consider two families of functions. For $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ we consider smooth functions φ_{ε} , depending on the Riemannian distance to the vertical axis $L = \{x = y = 0\}$, so that $0 \leq \varphi_{\varepsilon} \leq 1$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) &= 0, \qquad d(p,L) \leqslant \varepsilon^{2}, \\ \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) &= 1, \qquad d(p,L) \geqslant \varepsilon, \\ |\nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p)| &\leq 2/\varepsilon, \qquad \varepsilon^{2} \leqslant d(p,L) \leqslant \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Again for $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ we consider smooth functions ψ_{ε} , depending on the Riemannian distance to the Euclidean hyperplane $\Pi_0 = \{t = 0\}$, so that $0 \leq \psi_{\varepsilon} \leq 1$ and

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\varepsilon}(p) &= 1, \qquad d(p, \Pi_0) \leqslant \varepsilon^{-1/2}, \\ \psi_{\varepsilon}(p) &= 0, \qquad d(p, \Pi_0) \geqslant \varepsilon^{-1/2} + 1, \\ |\nabla \psi_{\varepsilon}(p)| \leqslant 2, \qquad \varepsilon^{-1/2} \leqslant d(p, \Pi_0) \leqslant \varepsilon^{-1/2} + 1. \end{split}$$

For any $\varepsilon > 0$, the vector field $\varphi_{\epsilon} \psi_{\varepsilon} W$ has compact support.

It is easy to prove that F^+ and F^- have finite K-perimeter. Since F^+ has also finite (sub-Riemannian) perimeter, applying the Divergence Theorem to F^+ and the horizontal vector field $\varphi_{\varepsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}W^+$, we have

$$\int_{F^{+}} \operatorname{div}(\varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}W^{+})d\mathbb{H}^{1} = \int_{D} \langle \varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}W^{+}, N_{D}\rangle dD + \int_{\{t>g_{r}\}} \langle \varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}W^{+}, \nu_{h}\rangle d|\partial F|.$$
(5.5.3)

Where N_D is the Riemannian unit normal to D pointing into F^- , dD is the Riemannian area element on D, and ν_h is the outer horizontal unit normal to F.

We take limits in the left hand side of Equation (5.5.3) when $\varepsilon \to 0$. We write

$$\int_{F^+} \operatorname{div}(\varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}W^+) d\mathbb{H}^1 = \int_{F^+} \varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} W^+ d\mathbb{H}^1 + \int_{F^+} \langle \nabla(\varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}), W^+ \rangle d\mathbb{H}^1.$$
(5.5.4)

Since $\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon}, W^+ \rangle$ is bounded and converges pointwise to 0, and

$$\int_{F^+} \langle \psi_{\varepsilon} \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}, W^+ \rangle \leqslant \int_{\{(x,t):\varepsilon^2 < |x| < \varepsilon, \ 0 < t < \varepsilon^{-1/2} + 1\}} \psi_{\varepsilon} |\nabla \varphi_{\epsilon}| d\mathbb{H}^1,$$

we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{F^+} \langle \nabla(\varphi_{\epsilon} \psi_{\varepsilon}), W^+ \rangle d\mathbb{H}^1 = 0.$$
 (5.5.5)

On the other hand, div $W^+ = \frac{1}{r}$, the mean curvature of $r\mathbb{B}_K$. We consider the orthonormal vectors $Z = -J(\nu_h)$, $E = \langle N, T \rangle \nu_h - |\nu_h| T$ and N, globally defined on $(rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}) \setminus L$ by vertical translations. We know from Lemma 5.2.5 that

$$\langle D_Z W^+, Z \rangle = \frac{1}{r}, \qquad \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle = 2 \langle N, T \rangle |N_h| \langle W^+, J(\nu_h) \rangle$$

It remains to compute $\langle D_N W^+, N \rangle$. We express $N = \lambda E + \mu T$ as a linear combination of E and T, where $\lambda = |N_h|/\langle N, T \rangle$, $\mu = 1/\langle N, T \rangle$. Observe that $\langle N, T \rangle \neq 0$ on $\operatorname{int}(K_0)$ since $r \mathbb{S}_K^+$ is a *t*-graph. So we have

$$\begin{split} \langle D_N W^+, N \rangle &= \lambda \langle D_E W^+, N \rangle + \mu \langle D_T W^+, N \rangle \\ &= \lambda^2 \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle + \lambda \mu \langle D_E W^+, T \rangle + \mu \langle J(W^+), N_h \rangle \\ &= \lambda^2 \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle - \lambda \mu \langle N, T \rangle \langle W^+, J(\nu_h) \rangle - \mu |N_h| \langle W^+, J(\nu_h) \rangle \\ &= \left(\frac{|N_h|}{\langle N, T \rangle}\right)^2 \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle - \frac{1}{\langle N, T \rangle^2} \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle \\ &= \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle, \end{split}$$

where we have used that $D_T W^+ = J(W^+)$ since W^+ is a linear combination of W^+, Y multiplied by functions that do not depend on t. Hence

div
$$W^+ = \langle D_Z W^+, Z \rangle + \langle D_E W^+, E \rangle + \langle D_N W^+, N \rangle = \frac{1}{r}$$

on $\operatorname{int}(K_0)$. Since $\varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} W^+$ is uniformly bounded, F^+ has finite volume and $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varphi_{\epsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon} = 1$, we can apply Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence Theorem to get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{F^+} \varphi_{\varepsilon} \psi_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} W^+ d\mathbb{H}^1 = \frac{1}{r} |F^+|.$$
(5.5.6)

So we get from (5.5.4), (5.5.5) and (5.5.6)

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{F^+} \operatorname{div}(\varphi_{\varepsilon} \psi_{\varepsilon} W^+) \, d\mathbb{H}^1 = \frac{1}{r} \, |F^+|. \tag{5.5.7}$$

Now we treat the remainings terms in (5.5.3). Using the representation of perimeter obtained in (2.3.4) for sets of finite K-perimeter sets we have

$$\int_{\{t>g_r\}} \langle W^+, \nu_h \rangle d|\partial F| \leqslant \int_{\{t>g_r\}} |\nu_h|_* d|\partial F| = |\partial F^+|_K, \quad (5.5.8)$$

with equality if and only if $W^+ = \pi(\nu_h) |\partial F|$ -a.e. on $\{t > g_r\}$. From equations (5.5.7) and (5.5.8), taking limits in Equation (5.5.3) when $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\frac{1}{r}|F^+| \leqslant \int_D \langle W^+, N_D \rangle dD + |\partial F^+|_K, \qquad (5.5.9)$$

with equality if and only if $W^+ = \pi(\nu_h) |\partial F|$ -a.e. on $\partial F \cap \{t > g_r\}$.

We consider now the foliation of $rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}$ by vertical translations of $r\mathbb{S}_K^-$. Reasoning as in the previous case we get

$$\frac{1}{r}|F^-| \leqslant -\int_D \langle W^-, N_D \rangle dD + |\partial F^-|_K.$$
(5.5.10)

with equality if and only if $W^- = \pi(\nu_h) |\partial F|$ -a.e. on $\partial \{t < g_r\}$. Hence, adding (5.5.9) and (5.5.10), and taking into account $|\partial F|_K(\mathbb{H}^1 \setminus D) = |\partial F|_K$ and that $F \cap D$ does not contribute to the volume of F, we get

$$\frac{1}{r}|F| \leqslant \int_D \langle W^+ - W^-, N_D \rangle dD + |\partial F|_K,$$

and so (5.5.2) holds, with equality if and only if equalities (5.5.9) and (5.5.10) hold. This completes the first part of the proof.

Recall that $h : rK_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function so that $D = \operatorname{graph}(h) \subset E$. We take two values $t_m < t_M$ such that

$$h + t_m < g_r < h + t_M.$$

We apply inequality (5.5.2) to the set $B = B^- \cup B^0 \cup B^+$, where

- $B^0 = \{(x,t) : x \in rK_0, |t g_r| \leq (t_M t_m)/2\},\$
- $B^+ = r \mathbb{B}_K^+ + (0, (t_M t_m)/2),$
- $B^- = r \mathbb{B}_K^- (0, (t_M t_m)/2).$

By construction, $D = \operatorname{graph}(g_r) \subset B^0$. Since the lateral boundary of B^0 is contained in $\partial(rK_0 \times \mathbb{R})$ and the outer unit normal to $\partial(rK_0 \times \mathbb{R})$ coincides with W^+ and W^- , the lateral K-boundary area of B^0 is equal to

$$(t_M - t_m) \int_{\partial (rK_0)} |\nu_0|_* d(\partial (rK_0)),$$
 (5.5.11)



Figure 5.10: Geometric construction in the proof of Theorem 5.5.2

where $d(\partial(rK_0))$ is the Riemannian length element of the C^1 curve $\partial(rK_0)$. Hence we get

$$|\partial B|_K = (t_M - t_m) \int_{\partial (rK_0)} |\nu_0|_* d(\partial (rK_0)) + |\partial (r\mathbb{B}_K)|_K$$

On the other hand, since

$$|B| = |r\mathbb{B}_K| + |rK_0|(t_M - t_m),$$

we obtain

$$\frac{1}{r}(|r\mathbb{B}_{K}| + |rK_{0}|(t_{M} - t_{m})) = \int_{D} \langle W^{+} - W^{-}, N_{D} \rangle dD + (t_{M} - t_{m}) \int_{\partial (rK_{0})} |\nu_{0}|_{*} d\partial (rK_{0}) + |\partial (r\mathbb{B}_{K})|_{K}.$$
(5.5.12)

Now we apply (5.5.2) to the set \mathbb{E} consisting on the union of $E^+ = E \cap \{t \ge h\}$ translated by the vector $(0, t_M), E^- = E \cap \{t \le h\}$ translated by the vector $(0, t_m)$ and the vertical filling in between the two sets. We
reason as before to get

$$\frac{1}{r}(|E| + |rK_0|(t_M - t_m)) \leq \int_D \langle W^+ - W^-, N_D \rangle dD + (t_M - t_m) \int_{\partial D} |\nu_0|_* d\partial D_0 + |\partial E|_K.$$
(5.5.13)

From (5.5.12) and (5.5.13) we get

$$|\partial E|_K \ge |\partial (r\mathbb{B}_K)|_K + \frac{1}{r}(|E| - |r\mathbb{B}|).$$

Let $f(\rho) = |\partial(\rho \mathbb{B}_K)|_K + \frac{1}{\rho}(|E| - |\rho \mathbb{B}|)$. Since $\rho \mathbb{B}_K$ has mean curvature $\frac{1}{\rho}$, Theorem 5.2.15 guarantees that the Wulff shape $\rho \mathbb{B}_K$ is a critical point of $A - \frac{1}{\rho} |\cdot|$ for any variation. Therefore $|\partial(\rho \mathbb{B}_K)|'_K - \frac{1}{\rho}|\rho \mathbb{B}_K|' = 0$ where primes indicates the derivative with respect to ρ . Hence we have

$$f'(\rho) = -\frac{1}{\rho^2}(|E| - |\rho \mathbb{B}_K|).$$

So the only critical point of f corresponds to the value ρ_0 so that $|\rho_0 \mathbb{B}_K| = |E|$. Since the function $\rho \mapsto |\rho B_K|$ is strictly increasing and takes its values in $(0, +\infty)$, we obtain that $f(\rho)$ is a convex function with a unique minimum at ρ_0 . Hence we obtain

$$|\partial E|_K \ge f(r) \ge f(\rho_0) = |\partial(r_0 \mathbb{B}_K)|_K, \tag{5.5.14}$$

which implies (5.5.1).

5.5.1 A uniqueness result in $rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}$

We consider a horizontal lifting $\Gamma = (x, y, t)$ of a clockwise arc-length parametrization γ of ∂K . Then a parameterization of \mathbb{S}_K is given by $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{t})(u, v) = \ell_{-\Gamma(v)}(\Gamma(u+v))$. This means

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x}(u,v) &= x(u+v) - x(v), \\ \mathbf{y}(u,v) &= y(u+v) - y(v), \\ \mathbf{t}(u,v) &= t(u+v) - t(v) - x(u+v)y(v) + y(u+v)x(v). \end{aligned}$$
(5.5.15)

As can be seen in the proof of Theorem 5.4.5, there is a unique value $v'(v) \equiv v'$ such that

$$\gamma_v(v') \in \partial K_0, \tag{5.5.16}$$

where $\gamma_v(u) = \gamma(v+u) - \gamma(v)$. We shall use the notation

$$\mathbb{S}_K^- = \bigcup_{v \in [0,L)} \Gamma_v(0,v'], \qquad \mathbb{S}_K^+ = \bigcup_{v \in [0,L)} \Gamma_v[v',L),$$

where Γ_v is the horizontal lifting of $\gamma_v(u)$ and L is the length of γ . We write ν_0 to denote the horizontal unit normal vector to \mathbb{S}_K . It is easy to see that

$$|\nu_0(u,v)|_* = |J(\dot{\gamma}_v(u))|_* = |J(\dot{\gamma}(u+v))|_* = |\gamma(u+v)|.$$
(5.5.17)

Lemma 5.5.3. Let β an arc-length parametrization of ∂K_0 . The map ψ : $[0, L] \rightarrow \partial K_0$ given by

$$\psi(v) = \gamma_v(v')$$

is bijective, C^1 and $(\beta^{-1} \circ \psi)' \ge 1$.

Proof. Fixed v_0 , the curve $\gamma(v'_0) - \gamma(\cdot)$ is in K_0 and equal to ψ at v_0 , and we can take s_0 such that

$$\beta(s_0) = \psi(v_0), \qquad \dot{\beta}(s_0) = -\dot{\gamma}(v_0).$$

In particular, we have

$$\psi(v_0) = \beta \left(\dot{\beta}^{-1}(-\dot{\gamma}(v_0)) \right)$$

and $\psi = \beta \circ \dot{\beta}^{-1} \circ -\dot{\gamma}$. Hence ψ is bijective. Since ∂K_0 has less curvature than ∂K and $\dot{\beta}(s_0) = -\dot{\gamma}(v_0)$, it follows that

$$\dot{\beta}^{-1}(-\dot{\gamma}(v_0+t)) \ge -\dot{\gamma}^{-1}(-\dot{\gamma}(v_0+t)) = v_0+t.$$

Hence we get

$$(\beta^{-1} \circ \psi)(v_0 + t) - (\beta^{-1} \circ \psi)(v_0) \ge t,$$

and it follows that $(\beta^{-1} \circ \psi)' \ge 1$.

Given $f \in C^0(\partial K_0)$, we shall abuse the notation and write $f \equiv f \circ \psi$ when the domain is [0, L). We define the sets

$$S_{f}^{-} = \bigcup_{v \in [0,L)} \Gamma_{v}(0,v'] + (0,0,f(v))$$

$$S_{f}^{+} = \bigcup_{v \in [0,L)} \Gamma_{v}[v',L) + (0,0,f(v)).$$
(5.5.18)

Lemma 5.5.4. Let f and g be Euclidean Lipschitz functions in ∂K_0 . Then

$$|\mathbb{S}_{f}^{-}|_{K} + |\mathbb{S}_{g}^{+}|_{K} - |\partial \mathbb{B}_{K}|_{K} \ge \int_{0}^{L} (f'(v) - g'(v)) \Big(\int_{0}^{v'(v)} |\gamma(v+u)| du \Big) dv, \quad (5.5.19)$$

where v'(v) is defined in (5.5.16). Moreover, equality holds in (5.5.19) if and only if f' = g' = 0 almost everywhere.

Proof. Let Φ is the parametrization of \mathbb{S}_K given in (5.5.15). The map $\Phi_f(u, v) = \Phi(u, v) + (0, 0, f(v))$ is a parametrization of \mathbb{S}_f . By the representation of the sub-Finsler perimeter for Euclidean Lipschitz surfaces (2.3.10),

we have

$$\begin{split} |\mathbb{S}_{f}^{-}|_{K} &= \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} |\partial_{u} \Phi_{f} \times \partial_{v} \Phi_{f}| \Big| \frac{\left(\partial_{u} \Phi_{f} \times \partial_{v} \Phi_{f}\right)_{h}}{|\partial_{u} \Phi_{f} \times \partial_{v} \Phi_{f}|} \Big|_{*} du dv \\ &= \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} |(\partial_{u} \Phi_{f} \times \partial_{v} \Phi_{f})_{h}|_{*} du dv \\ &= \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} |(\partial_{u} \Phi \times \partial_{v} \Phi + \partial_{u} \Phi \times (0, 0, f'))_{h}|_{*} du dv. \end{split}$$

Let $\tau_0 = (\partial_u \Phi \times \partial_v \Phi)_h$ and $\tau_{f'} = \tau_0 + (\partial_u \Phi(u, v) \times f'(v))_h$. By definition of Φ , it is clear that

$$(\partial_u \Phi(u, v) \times f'(v))_h = f'(v) J(\dot{\gamma}(u+v)).$$

Since $\tau_0/|\partial_u \Phi \times \partial_v \Phi|$ and $J(\dot{\gamma}(u+v))$ are the horizontal part of the normal to \mathbb{S}_K and the horizontal unit normal to \mathbb{S}_K respectively, they are the same vector but for a multiplicative constant. Hence $\pi(\tau_0(u, v)) = \pi(J(\dot{\gamma}(u+v)))$. Using (5.5.17) and the definition of π , we conclude that

$$\begin{split} |\mathbb{S}_{f}^{-}|_{K} &= \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} \langle \tau_{f'}(u,v), \pi(\tau_{f'}(u,v)) \rangle du dv \\ &\geqslant \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} \langle \tau_{f'}(u,v), \pi(\tau_{0}(u,v)) \rangle du dv \\ &= \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} \langle \tau_{0}(u,v), \pi(\tau_{0}(u,v)) \rangle du dv \\ &+ \int_{0}^{L} \int_{0}^{v'} f'(v) \langle J(\dot{\gamma}(u+v)), \pi(\tau_{0}(u,v)) \rangle du dv \\ &= |\mathbb{S}_{K}^{-}|_{K} + \int_{0}^{L} f'(v) \int_{0}^{v'} |\gamma(v+u)| du dv. \end{split}$$
(5.5.20)

Reasoning similarly for $|\mathbb{S}_{g}^{+}|_{K}$ and adding we get

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbb{S}_{f}^{-}\|_{K} + \|\mathbb{S}_{g}^{+}\|_{K} &- |\partial \mathbb{B}_{K}|_{K} \\ \geqslant \int_{0}^{L} f'(v) \int_{0}^{v'} |\gamma(v+u)| du dv + \int_{0}^{L} g'(v) \int_{v'}^{L} |\gamma(v+u)| du dv \\ &= \int_{0}^{L} (f'(v) - g'(v)) \int_{0}^{v'} |\gamma(v+u)| du dv + \int_{0}^{L} g'(v) dv \int_{0}^{L} |\gamma(v+u)| du \\ &= \int_{0}^{L} (f'(v) - g'(v)) \int_{0}^{v'} |\gamma(v+u)| du dv. \end{split}$$

where we used that $\int_0^L |\gamma(v+u)| du$ is independent of v and h is L-periodic. Equality holds in (5.5.20) if and only if $\pi(\tau_{f'}) = \pi(\tau_0)$ almost everywhere.

We know that $\tau_{f'}(u,v) = \lambda(u,v)\tau_0(u,v)$ for some λ . Let v_0 and $\varepsilon > 0$

such that $f'(v_0)$ exists and $f'(v_0) = -\varepsilon$. Notice that $\Phi(u, v_0)$ tends to a singular point as u tends to L. Hence $\lim_{u\to L} \tau_0(u, v_0) = 0$. Let u_0 and $\Omega \subset [0, L[\times[0, L[$ open such that, for any u and v in Ω it holds

$$\begin{aligned} |\tau_0(u_0, v_0)| &< \varepsilon/4 \\ |\tau_0(u, v) - \tau_0(u_0, v_0)| &< \varepsilon/4 \\ |f'(v) - f'(v_0)| &< \varepsilon/2. \end{aligned}$$

Then $|\tau_0(u,v)| < \varepsilon/2 < |f'(v)||J(\dot{\gamma}(u+v))|$ and $\tau_{f'}(u,v) = \lambda(u,v)\tau_0(u,v)$ for $\lambda(u,v) < 0$. It follows that $\pi(\tau_{f'}) \neq \pi(\tau_0)$ in Ω .

The vector fields U^+ and U^- in $(rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}) \setminus L$ are defined by vertical translations of

$$J(\nu_0|_{\mathbb{S}^+_{\rho_0}}), \qquad J(\nu_0|_{\mathbb{S}^-_{\rho_0}}).$$

For any (x, y, t) in the interior of $(rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}) \setminus L$ we can write locally U^+ as

$$U^{+} = r(\dot{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v})X + \dot{\mathbf{y}}(\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v})Y),$$

where $(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) = (\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})^{-1}$, $\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{v}'$ is well defined by Theorem 5.4.5. Therefore there exists a unique integral curve of U^+ passing through (x, y, t). Given $q \in \partial(rK_0) \times \mathbb{R}$, we consider the vertical translation containing q of the horizontal lifting of a parametrization of $\partial(rK_0)$. Such a curve is denoted by Ψ_q and assume that $\Psi_q(0) = q$, and is also an integral curve of U^+ . Hence an integral curve of U^+ in $\partial(rK_0) \times \mathbb{R}$ can move along $\partial(rK_0) \times \mathbb{R}$ or move into int $(rK_0) \times \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 5.5.5. Let r > 0 and $h : rK_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^0 function. Consider a subset $E \subset \mathbb{H}^1$ with finite volume and K-perimeter such that

$$\operatorname{graph}(h) \subseteq E \subset rK_0 \times \mathbb{R}.$$

Moreover, assume that there exists $h_-, h_+ : \partial r K_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ Euclidean Lipschitz functions with $h_- \leq h_+$ such that

- i) graph $(h_{\pm}) \subset \partial E$,
- *ii)* $C := \{(z,t) : z \in \partial K_0, h_-(z) \leq t \leq h_+(z)\} \subset \partial E,$
- iii) There exists $\{t_n\} \searrow 0$ such that for any $q \in \operatorname{graph}(h_+)$ and $p \in \operatorname{graph}(h_-)$,

$$\Psi_q(t_n) \notin \partial E, \qquad \Psi_p(-t_n) \notin \partial E,$$

where Ψ_q is the vertical translation of the horizontal lifting of a clockwise parametrization of $\partial(rK_0) \times \mathbb{R}$ passing through q at 0. Then, equality holds in (5.5.1) if and only if the sets E and \mathbb{B}_E coincide. *Proof.* We proof of Theorem 5.5.5 is divided into several steps. We shall use the notation used in the proof of Theorem 5.5.2.

Step 1. Equality holds in (5.5.14) and by convexity $r = \rho_0$. Moreover, equality also holds in (5.5.13) and $\pi_K(\nu_h)$ coincides with W^+ in $(\partial E \cap \{t \ge g_r\}) \setminus L$, and with W^- in $(\partial E \cap \{t \le g_r\}) \setminus L$, where ν_h is the horizontal unit normal to E. Hence $\nu_h = \lambda \nu_0$ with $\lambda > 0$ by the strict convexity of K. Since ν_0 and ν_h has unit norm we get $\nu_h = \nu_0$. By [129, Theorem 1.2], $\partial E \setminus L$ is a \mathbb{H} -regular hypersurface and by [147, Lemma 2.5] the integral curves of $J(\nu_h)$ starting from points in $(\partial E \cap \{t \ge g_r\}) \setminus L$ are contained in $\partial E \setminus L$. Such a curve is also an integral curve of U^+ or U^- . Thus, by hypothesis, the sets $r \mathbb{S}^+_{h_{r,+}}, r \mathbb{S}^+_{h_{r,-}}$ and C are contained in ∂E , where $h_{r,\pm}(x) = r^2 h_{\pm}(\frac{x}{r})$. Hence

$$|\partial E|_K \ge |r \mathbb{S}^+_{h_{r,+}}|_K + |r \mathbb{S}^-_{h_{r,-}}|_K + |C|_K.$$
(5.5.21)

Step 2. Let us denote $\varphi(v) = \int_0^{v'} |\gamma(v+u)| du$ and $\phi = h_{r,+} - h_{r,-}$. Thanks to Lemma 5.5.4 and the homogeneity of the K-perimeter, we get

$$|r\mathbb{S}^{+}_{h_{r,+}}|_{K} + |r\mathbb{S}^{-}_{h_{r,-}}|_{K} - |\partial\mathbb{B}_{\rho_{0}}|_{K} \ge r^{3} \int_{0}^{L} \phi'\varphi dv.$$
(5.5.22)

From the expression for the lateral perimeter (5.5.11), Lemma 5.5.3 and (5.5.17), we have

$$|C|_{K} = \int_{\partial K_{0}} (h_{+} - h_{-}) |\nu_{0}|_{*} d(\partial r K_{0}) \ge r^{3} \int_{0}^{L} \phi(v) |\gamma(v' + u)| dv. \quad (5.5.23)$$

Moreover, taking the derivative of φ we get $|\gamma(v'+u)| = \varphi'(v) + |\gamma(v)|$. Hence we obtain

$$\int_0^L \phi' \varphi dv + \int_0^L \phi(v) |\gamma(v'+u)| dv \ge \int_0^L \phi' \varphi dv + \int_0^L \phi \varphi' dv + \int_0^L \phi |\gamma| dv$$
$$= [\phi \varphi]_0^L + \int_0^L \phi |\gamma| dv = \int_0^L \phi |\gamma| dv. \quad (5.5.24)$$

Substituting (5.5.22) and (5.5.23) in (5.5.21) and using (5.5.24), we get

$$|\partial E|_K \ge |\partial \mathbb{B}_{\rho_0}|_K + r^3 \int_0^L \phi(v) |\gamma(v)| dv \ge |\partial \mathbb{B}_{\rho_0}|_K.$$
(5.5.25)

If equality holds then we have equality in (5.5.25) and in (5.5.19) from where we obtain that $h_+ = h_-$ and h_+ and h_- are constant. Hence $r \mathbb{S}^+_{h_{r,+}} \cup r \mathbb{S}^+_{h_{r,-}}$ is a translation of $r \mathbb{S}_K \setminus r \mathbb{S}^0_K$ and $r \mathbb{S}_K \setminus r \mathbb{S}^0_K \subseteq \partial E$.

Step 3. We claim that $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \subseteq E$. To prove this we shall show that $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \setminus L \subseteq \overline{E}$ reasoning by contradiction. If $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \setminus L \nsubseteq \overline{E}$, since $r \mathbb{S}_K = \partial \mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \subseteq \partial E$, there is a point p in the interior of $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \setminus L$ so that $p \notin \overline{E}$.

The Euclidean orthonormal projection x of p over t = 0 lies in $D \subseteq E$. Hence there is a point q in the segment $[p, x] \subseteq \mathbb{B}_{\rho_0}$ that belongs to $\partial E \setminus L$. As $\partial E \setminus L$ is \mathbb{H} -regular, the perimeter of ∂E in a small ball contained in the interior of $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \setminus L$ and centered at q is positive, and so, $|\partial E| > |\partial \mathbb{B}_{\rho_0}|$, which contradicts our assumption that equality holds in (5.5.1). This implies $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} \subseteq \bar{E}$. As $|\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0}| = |E|$ we obtain $\mathbb{B}_{\rho_0} = \bar{E}$ by the normalization of E. \Box

Remark 5.5.6. Hypothesis i), ii) and iii) in Theorem 5.5.5 holds as soon as the intersection of ∂E with $\partial r K_0 \times \mathbb{R}$ is an Euclidean Lipschitz curve.

Notes

Notes of § 5.2 1. In [154], the author obtained an expression of the mean curvature of a C^2 surface in terms of a parametrization when \mathbb{H}^1 is endowed with the left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_{\infty}$, and defined a notion of distributional mean curvature for polygonal norms.

The result in Theorem 5.2.13 includes that constant mean curvature surfaces for the sub-Riemannian area in the Heisenberg group are foliated by geodesics. This result can be found, with slight variations, in [33; 36; 34; 79; 78].

Notes of § 5.5 1. Theorem 5.5.2 differs from Theorem 3.1 in [147] in two aspects when restricted to the sub-Riemannian case. On the one hand, in Theorem 5.5.2 we consider sets with a membrane not necessarily the same as the one of the Pansu-Wulff shape, but any continuous function over the cylinder. But on the other hand, we do not characterize those sets for which equality holds in (5.5.1).

Chapter 6

Area-minimizing *t*-graphs with low-regularity in \mathbb{H}^1

This chapter is devoted to the results obtained with Giovannardi and Ritoré given in [87].

We consider (\mathbb{H}^1, K) and provide examples of entire area-minimizing horizontal graphs which are locally Lipschitz in Euclidean sense. A large number of them fail to have further regularity properties. The examples are obtained prescribing as singular set a horizontal line or a finite union of horizontal half-lines extending from a given point. Of particular interest are the conical examples invariant by the non-isotropic dilations of \mathbb{H}^1 . In the sub-Riemannian case these examples were investigated in [91] and [146].

The chapter is organized the following way. In Section 6.1 we obtain a necessary and sufficient condition, based on Theorem 5.2.1, for a surface to be a critical point of the sub-Finsler area. We assume that the surface is piecewise C^2 , composed of pieces meeting in a C^1 way along C^1 curves. This condition will allow us to construct area-minimizing examples in Proposition 6.2.3 of Section 6.2, and examples with low regularity in Proposition 6.2.4. The same construction, keeping fixed the angle at one side of the singular line, provides examples of area-minimizing cones, see Corollary 6.2.5. Finally, in Section 6.3 we provide examples of area-minimizing cones in the spirit of [91]. These examples are obtained in Theorem 6.3.2 from circular sectors of the area-minimizing cones with one singular line obtained in Corollary 6.2.5.

6.1 The first variation formula and a stationary condition

In this section we present some consequences of the first variation formula. We consider (\mathbb{H}^1, K) , where K is of class C^2_+ with $0 \in int(K)$. Using Theorem 5.2.1 we can prove the following necessary and sufficient condition for a surface S to be A_K -stationary. When a surface S of class C^1 is divided into two parts S^+, S^- by a singular curve S_0 so that S^+, S^- are of class C^2 up to the boundary, the tangent vectors Z^+, Z^- can be chosen so that they parameterize the characteristic curves as curves leaving from S_0 , see Corollary 3.6 in [33]. In this case $\eta^+ = \pi(\nu_h) = \pi(J(Z^+))$ and $\eta^- = \pi(J(Z^-))$.

Corollary 6.1.1. Let S be an oriented surface of class C^1 such that the singular set S_0 is a C^1 curve. Assume that $S \setminus S_0$ is the union of two surfaces S^+, S^- of class C^2 meeting along S_0 . Let η^+, η^- the restrictions of η to S^+ and S^- , respectively. Then S is area-stationary if and only if

- 1. $H_K = 0$, and
- 2. $\eta^+ \eta^-$ is tangent to S_0

In particular, condition $H_K = 0$ implies that $S \setminus S_0$ is foliated by horizontal straight lines.

Proof. We may apply the divergence theorem to the second term in (5.2.1) to get

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} A_K(\varphi_s(S)) = \int_{S \setminus S_0} H_K u \, dS - \int_{S_0} u \, \langle \xi, (\eta^+ - \eta^-)^\top \rangle \, dS,$$

where ξ is the outer unit normal to S^+ along S_0 . Hence the stationary condition is equivalent to H = 0 on $S \setminus S_0$ and $\langle \xi, \eta^+ - \eta^- \rangle = 0$. The latter condition is equivalent to that $\eta^+ - \eta^-$ be tangent to S_0 .

That $H_K = 0$ implies that $S \setminus S_0$ is foliated by horizontal straight lines was proven in Theorem 3.14 in [142].

Since $\nu^+ = J(Z^+)$, $\nu^- = J(Z^-)$, where Z^+ and Z^- are the extensions of the horizontal tangent vectors in S^+, S^- , we have that the second condition in Corollary 6.1.1 is equivalent to

$$\pi(J(Z^+)) - \pi(J(Z^-))$$
 is tangent to S_0 . (6.1.1)

So a natural question is, given a C^2_+ convex body K containing 0 in its interior, and a unit vector $v \in \mathbb{S}^1$, can we find a pair of unit vectors Z^+, Z^- such that (6.1.1) is satisfied? If such vectors exist, how many pairs can we get? The answer follows from next Lemma.

Lemma 6.1.2. Let K be a convex body of class C^2_+ such that $0 \in int(K)$. Given $v \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$, let $L \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be the vector line generated by v. Then, for any $u \in \partial K$, we have the following possibilities

1. The only $w \in \partial K$ such that $w - u \in L$ is w = u, or

2. There is only one $w \in \partial K$, $w \neq u$ such that $w - u \in L$.

The first case happens if and only if L is parallel to the support line of K at u.

Proof. Let T be the translation in \mathbb{R}^2 of vector u. Then T(L) is a line that meets ∂K at u. The line T(L) intersects ∂K only once when L is the supporting line of T(K) at 0; otherwise L intersects ∂K at another point $w \neq u$ so that $w - u \in L$.

Remark 6.1.3. We use Lemma 6.1.2 to understand the behavior of characteristic curves meeting at a singular point $p \in S_0$. Let Z^+, Z^- be the tangent vectors to the characteristic lines starting from p. Let ν^+, ν^- be the vectors $J(Z^+), J(Z^-)$, and L the line generated by the tangent vector to S_0 at p. The condition that S is stationary implies that $\eta^+ - \eta^- \in L$. If $w = \eta^+$ and $u = \eta^-$ are equal then $\nu^+ = \nu^-$ are orthogonal to L, which implies that Z^+, Z^- lie in L. This is not possible since characteristic lines meet tranversaly the singular line, again by Corollary 3.6 in [33].

Hence $\eta^+ \neq \eta^-$ and η^+ is uniquely determined from η^- by Lemma 6.1.2. Obviously the roles of η^+ and η^- are interchangeable.



Figure 6.1: Geometric construction to obtain $w = \eta^+$ from $u = \eta^-$ so that the stationary condition is satisfied. The case $\nu^+ = \nu^-$ cannot hold.

6.2 Examples of entire *K*-perimeter minimizing horizontal graphs with one singular line

Remark 6.1.3 implies that Z^- can be uniquely determined from Z^+ when S is a stationary surface. Let us see that this result can be refined to provide a smooth dependence of the oriented angle $\angle(v, Z^-)$ in terms of $\angle(v, Z^+)$. We use complex notation for horizontal vectors assuming that the horizontal distribution is positively oriented by v, J(v) for any $v \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$.

Lemma 6.2.1. Let K be a convex body of class C^2_+ with $0 \in int(K)$. Consider a unit vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and let $L \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be the vector line generated by v. Then, for any $\alpha \in (0,\pi)$ there exists a unique $\beta \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ such that if $Z^+ = ve^{i\alpha}, Z^- = ve^{i\beta}$, then $\pi(J(Z^+)) - \pi(J(Z^+))$ belongs to L.

Moreover the function $\beta : (0,\pi) \to (\pi,2\pi)$ is of class C^1 with negative derivative.

Proof. We change coordinates so that L is the line y = 0. We observe that $Z^+ = ve^{i\alpha}$ implies that $J(Z^+) = ve^{i(\alpha + \pi/2)}$. We define $(x, y) : \mathbb{S}^1 \to \partial K$ by

$$(x(\alpha), y(\alpha)) = \mathcal{N}_K^{-1}(v e^{i(\alpha + \pi/2)}),$$

where $\mathcal{N}_K : \partial K \to \mathbb{S}^1$ is the (outer) Gauss map of ∂K . The functions x, y are C^1 since \mathcal{N}_K is C^1 . The point $(x(\alpha), y(\alpha))$ is the only one in ∂K such that the clockwise oriented tangent vector to ∂K makes an angle α with the positive direction of the line L. A line parallel to L meets ∂K at a single point only when $\alpha + \pi/2 = \pi/2$ or $\alpha + \pi/2 = 3\pi/2$. Hence, for $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$, there is a unique $\beta \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ such that

$$(x(\beta), y(\beta)) - (x(\alpha), y(\alpha)) \in L.$$

Observe that, for $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$, we have $dy/d\alpha > 0$ and, for $\beta \in (\pi, 2\pi)$, we get $dy/d\beta < 0$. we can use the implicit function theorem (applied to $y(\beta) - y(\alpha)$) to conclude that β is a C^1 function of α . Moreover

$$rac{deta}{dlpha} = rac{dy/dlpha}{dy/deta} < 0.$$

Now we give the main construction in this section.

We fix a vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ and the line $L_v = \{\lambda v : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$. For every $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, we consider two half-lines, $r_{\lambda}^+, r_{\lambda}^- \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, extending from the point $p = \lambda v \in L_v$ with angles $\alpha(\lambda)$ and $\beta(\lambda)$ respectively. Here $\alpha : \mathbb{R} \to (0, \pi)$ is a non-increasing function and $\beta(\lambda)$ is the composition of $\alpha(\lambda)$ with the function obtained in Lemma 6.2.1. Hence $\beta(\lambda)$ is a non-decreasing function. The line L_v can be lifted to the horizontal straight line $R_v = L_v \times \{0\} \subset \mathbb{H}^1$ passing through the point (0, 0, 0), and the half-lines r_{λ}^{\pm} can be lifted to horizontal half-lines R_{λ}^{\pm} starting from the point $(\lambda v, 0)$ in the line R_v .

The surface obtained as the union of the half-lines R^+_{λ} and R^-_{λ} , for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, is denoted by $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$. Since any R^{\pm}_{λ} is a graph over r^{\pm}_{λ} and $\bigcup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}} (r^+_{\lambda} \cup r^-_{\lambda})$ covers the *xy*-plane, we can write the surface $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ as the graph of a continuous function $u_{\alpha} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. Writing $v = e^{i\alpha_0}$, the surface $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ can be parametrized by $\Psi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^3$ as follows

$$\Psi(\lambda,\mu) = \begin{cases} \left(\lambda e^{i\alpha_0} + \mu e^{i(\alpha_0 + \alpha(\lambda))}, -\mu\lambda\sin\alpha(\lambda)\right), & \mu \ge 0, \\ \left(\lambda e^{i\alpha_0} + |\mu|e^{i(\alpha_0 + \beta(\lambda))}, -|\mu|\lambda\sin\beta(\lambda)\right), & \mu \le 0. \end{cases}$$
(6.2.1)



Figure 6.2: The planar configuration to obtain the surface $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$. Here α is a constant function and K is the unit disc D. Such surfaces were called *herringbone surfaces* by Young [166] as they are the union of horizontal rays that branch out of a horizontal line.

Example 6.2.2. An special example to be considered is the sub-Riemannian cone Σ_{α} , where $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$. The projection of Σ_{α} to the horizontal plane t = 0 is composed of the line y = 0 and the half-lines starting from points in y = 0 with angles α and $-\alpha$. This cone can be parametrized, for $s \in \mathbb{R}, t \ge 0$, by

$$(u, v) \mapsto (u + v \cos \alpha, v \sin \alpha, -uv \sin \alpha)$$

when $y \ge 0$, and by

$$(u + v\cos\alpha, -v\sin\alpha, uv\sin\alpha)$$

when $y \leq 0$. A straightforward computation implies that Σ_{α} is the *t*-graph of the function

$$u_{\alpha}(x,y) = -xy + \cot \alpha \, y|y|. \tag{6.2.2}$$

Observe that

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 0} u_{\alpha}(x, y) = \begin{cases} +\infty, & y > 0, \\ 0, & y = 0, \\ -\infty, & y < 0, \end{cases}$$
(6.2.3)

so that the subgraph of Σ_{α} converges pointwise locally when $\alpha \to 0$ to a vertical half-space.

The following lemma provides some properties of u_{α} when $\alpha(\lambda)$ is a smooth function of λ .

Proposition 6.2.3. Let $\alpha \in C^k(\mathbb{R})$, $k \ge 2$, be a non-decreasing function. Then

- i) u_{α} is a C^k function in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus L_v$,
- ii) u_{α} is merely $C^{1,1}$ near L_v when $\beta \neq \alpha + \pi$.
- iii) u_{α} is C^{∞} in any open set I of values of λ when $\beta = \alpha + \pi$ on I.

- iv) $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ is K-perimeter-minimizing when $\beta = \beta(\alpha)$.
- v) The projection of the singular set of $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ to the xy-plane is L_v .

Proof. i), ii), iii) and v) are proven in Lemma 3.1 in [146].

We prove iv) by a calibration argument. We shall drop the subscript α to simplify the notation. Let E be the subgraph of u and $F \subseteq \mathbb{H}^1$ such that F = E outside a Euclidean ball centered at the origin. Let $P = \{(z,t) : \langle z,v \rangle = 0\}$, $P^1 = \{(z,t) : \langle z,v \rangle > 0\}$ and $P^2 = \{(z,t) : \langle z,v \rangle < 0\}$. We define two vector fields U^1 , U^2 on P^1 , P^2 respectively by vertical translations of the vectors $\pi(\nu_E)|_{P^1} = \eta^+$ and $\pi(\nu_E)|_{P^2} = \eta^-$. They are C^2 in the interior of the halfspaces and extend continuously to the boundary plane P. As div $(U^j)_{(z,t)}$ coincides with the sub-Finsler mean curvature of the translation of $\Sigma_{\nu,\alpha}$ passing through (z,t) as defined in (5.2.8), and this surfaces are foliated by horizontal straight lines in the interior of the halfspaces, by Theorem 5.2.13 we get

$$\operatorname{div} U^{j} = 0 \quad j = 1, 2.$$

Here div U is the Riemannian divergence of the vector field U. We apply the divergence theorem (Theorem 2.1 in [146]) to get

$$0 = \int_{F \cap P^j \cap B} \operatorname{div} U^j = \int_F \langle U^j, \nu_{P^j \cap B} \rangle |\partial (P^j \cap B)| + \int_{P^j \cap B} \langle U^j, \nu_F \rangle |\partial F|.$$

Let $C = P \cap \overline{B}$. Then, for every $p \in C$, we have $\nu_{P^1 \cap B} = J(v)$ is a normal vector to the plane P and $\nu_{P^2 \cap B} = -J(v)$, $U^1 = \eta^+$ and $U^2 = \eta^-$. Hence, by Lemma 6.2.1, we get

$$\langle U^1, \nu_{P^1 \cap B} \rangle + \langle U^2, \nu_{P^2 \cap B} \rangle = \langle \eta^+ - \eta^-, J(v) \rangle = 0 \quad p \in C.$$

Adding the above integrals we obtain

$$0 = \sum_{j=1,2} \int_{F} \langle U^{j}, \nu_{B} \rangle d|\partial B| + \int_{B \cap \operatorname{int}(P^{j})} \langle U^{j}, \nu_{F} \rangle d|\partial F|.$$
(6.2.4)

From the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the fact that $|\partial F|$ is a positive measure, we get that

$$\sum_{j=1,2} \int_{B \cap P^j} \langle U^j, \nu_F \rangle d|\partial F| \leqslant P_K(F, B).$$
(6.2.5)

In particular, if we apply the same reasoning to E, equality holds and

$$0 = \sum_{j=1,2} \int_{E} \langle U^{j}, \nu_{B} \rangle d|\partial B| + P_{K}(E, B).$$
 (6.2.6)

From (6.2.4), (6.2.5), (6.2.6) and the fact that F = E in the boundary of B, we get

$$P_K(E,B) \leqslant P_K(F,B).$$

The general properties of $\Sigma_{\nu,\alpha}$ when α is only continuous are given in the following proposition.

Proposition 6.2.4. Let $\alpha : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous and non-decreasing function. Then

- i) u_{α} is locally Lipschitz in Euclidean sense,
- ii) E_{α} is a set of locally finite perimeter in \mathbb{H}^1 , and
- iii) $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ is K-perimeter-minimizing in \mathbb{H}^1 .

Proof. i) and ii) are proven in [146], Proposition 3.2. Let

$$\alpha_{\varepsilon}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \alpha(y) \delta_{\varepsilon}(x-y) dy$$

the usual convolution, where δ is a Dirac function and $\delta_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\delta(x/\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon}$. Then α_{ε} is a C^{∞} non-decreasing function and α_{ε} converges uniformly to α on compact sets of \mathbb{R} . By Lemma 6.2.1, $\beta_{\varepsilon} = \beta(\alpha_{\varepsilon})$ is a C^1 non-decreasing function. Since β is C^1 with respect to α it follows the uniform convergence on compact sets of β_{ε} to a function $\overline{\beta}$.

Taking $F \subset \mathbb{H}^1$ so that F = E outside a Euclidean ball centered at the origin. We follow the arguents of the proof of iv) in Proposition 6.2.3 and define vector fields $\operatorname{div}(U^j_{\varepsilon})$ translating vertically $\pi(\nu_{E_{\varepsilon}})$, where E_{ε} is the subgraph of $\Sigma_{\alpha_{\varepsilon}}$, to obtain by the divergence theorem

$$\sum_{j=1,2} \int_{B \cap \operatorname{int}(P^i)} \langle U^j_{\varepsilon}, \nu_{E_{\varepsilon}} \rangle |\partial E_{\varepsilon}| = \sum_{j=1,2} \int_{B \cap \operatorname{int}(P^i)} \langle U^j_{\varepsilon}, \nu_F \rangle |\partial F|,$$

the left hand side is the K-perimeter of E_{ε} , while the right hand side is trivially bounded by the K-perimeter of F. Therefore

$$P_K(E_{\varepsilon}, B) \leqslant P_K(F, B).$$

Since E_{ε} converges uniformly in compact sets to E, we obtain the result. \Box

We study now with some detail the case when $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ is a C^{∞} surface.

Corollary 6.2.5. When α is constant, the surface $\Sigma_{\nu,\alpha}$ is a K-perimeterminimizing cone in \mathbb{H}^1 of class $C^{1,1}$. The singular set is a horizontal straight line and the regular part of $\Sigma_{\nu,\alpha}$ is a C^{∞} surface.

The following lemma extends the already known notion that in the sub-Riemannian setting the surfaces $\Sigma_{v,\pi/2}$ are C^{∞} .

Lemma 6.2.6. Let $v \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ and $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$ be fixed. If K is centrally symmetric with respect to $O = \frac{1}{2}\eta^+ + \frac{1}{2}\eta^-$ then $\beta(\alpha) = \alpha + \pi$, where $\eta^+ = \pi(J(ve^{i\alpha}))$ and $\eta^- = \pi(J(ve^{i\beta}))$.

Proof. Let K be centrally symmetric with respect to O. Then η^- is the symmetric point of η^+ . On the other hand, the convex body K - O is symmetric with respect to the origin. Then the dual norm is even and, in particular, $\pi_{K-O}(-\nu^+) = -\pi_{K-O}(\nu^+)$. Now, since a translation takes symmetric points on K - O with respect to the origin to symmetric points of K with respect to O, we get $\nu^- = -\nu^+$, that is, $\beta(\alpha) = \alpha + \pi$.

The existence of a convex body K of class C^2_+ such that $0 \in int(K)$ for which $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ is C^{∞} is studied in Corollary 6.2.7 and Proposition 6.2.8.

Corollary 6.2.7. Let $v \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ and $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$ be fixed. Then there exists a convex body K of class C^2_+ with $0 \in int(K)$ such that $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ is C^{∞} .

Proof. To construct the convex body K, fix a point $p \in \{(x, y) : \langle (x, y), ve^{i\alpha} \rangle > 0\}$ and $O \in J(L) + p \cap L$, where L is the vector line generated by v. Then any K of class C^2_+ centrally symmetric with respect to O containing the origin such that $p \in \partial K$ and $ve^{i\alpha} \perp T_p \partial K$ satisfies the hypothesis of Lemma 6.2.6, where $\eta^+ = p$ and η^- is the symmetric of η^+ with respect to O. Thus, by (*iii*) in Proposition 6.2.3 we get that $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}$ is C^{∞} .

Proposition 6.2.8. Given a convex body K of class C^2_+ with $0 \in int(K)$, there exists $v \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that $\Sigma_{v,\pi/2}$ is C^{∞} .

Proof. Let p and q be points in K at maximal distance. Then the lines through p and q orthogonal to q-p are support lines to K. Taking v = q-pand setting $p = \eta^+$ we have $q = \eta^-$, while the vectors ν^+ and ν^- are over the line L(v), that is, $Z^+ Z^-$ make angles $\pi/2$ and $3\pi/2$ with L(v).

For fixed $v \in \mathbb{R}^2$, we define the surface $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}^+$ as the one composed of all the horizontal half-lines R_{λ}^+ and $R_{\lambda}^- \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ extending from the lifting of the point $p = \lambda v \in L_v, \lambda \ge 0$, to \mathbb{H}^1 . The surface $\Sigma_{v,\alpha}^+$ has a boundary composed of two horizontal lines and its singular set is the ray $L_v^+ = \{\lambda v : \lambda > 0\}$. We present some pictures of such surfaces.



Figure 6.3: The surface $\Sigma_{\pi/3,\pi/6}^+$ associated to the norm $|\cdot|_D$, where D is the unit disk. The singular set corresponds to the purple ray of angle $e^{i\pi/3}$.



Figure 6.4: The surface $\Sigma^+_{\pi/3,\pi/6}$ associated to the *p*-norm with p = 1.5. The left part of the figure coincides with the left part of Figure 6.3, while the angle β is bigger. Notice that also the height has increased.



Figure 6.5: The surface $\Sigma_{\pi/3,\pi/6}^+$ with $\beta = \alpha + \pi$. There existence of K is granted by Corollary 6.2.7.

6.3 Area-Minimizing Cones in \mathbb{H}^1

We proceed now to construct examples of K-perimeter minimizing cones in \mathbb{H}^1 with an arbitrary finite number of horizontal half-lines meeting at the origin. The building blocks for this construction are lifting of circular sectors of the cones considered in Corollary 6.2.5.

We first prove the following result.

Lemma 6.3.1. Let K be a convex body of class C^2_+ such that $0 \in int(K)$. Let $u, w \in \mathbb{S}^1$, $\theta = \angle(u, w) > 0$. Then there exists $v \in \mathbb{S}^1$ such that the vector line L_v generated by v splits the sector determined by u and w into two sectors of oriented angles α and β such that $\alpha + \beta = \theta$. Moreover, the stationary condition $\pi(J(u)) - \pi_K(J(w)) \in L_v$ is satisfied.

Proof. Let $\nu_u = J(u)$, $\nu_w = J(w)$ and $\eta_u = \pi(\nu_u)$, $\eta_w = \pi(\nu_w)$, $\eta_u \neq \eta_w$ since π is a C^1 diffeomorphism. Thus there exists a unique line \tilde{L} passing through η_u and η_w and $L = \tilde{L} - \eta_u$ is a straight line passing though the origin. Notice that \tilde{L} splits ∂K in two connect open components ∂K_1 and ∂K_2 . There exist two points $\eta_1 \in \partial K_1$ and $\eta_2 \in \partial K_2$ such that $L + \eta_1$ (resp. $L + \eta_2$) is the support line at η_1 (resp. η_2). Setting $v_1 = N_{\partial K}(\eta_1)$ and $v_2 = N_{\partial K}(\eta_2)$ we gain that v_i for i = 1, 2 is perpendicular to L. Without loss of generality we set that $-J(v_1)$ belongs to the portion of plane identified by the θ and $-J(v_2)$ belongs to the portion of plane identified by the $2\pi - \theta$. Then we set $v = -J(v_1)$. Notice that v splits θ in two angles $\beta = \angle(u, v)$, $\alpha = \angle(v, w)$ with $\theta = \alpha + \beta$ and $L = L_v$.

Now we proceed with the construction inspired by the sub-Riemannian construction in [91]. For $k \ge 3$ consider a fixed angle θ_0 and family of positive oriented angles $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k$ such that $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_k = 2\pi$. Consider the planar vectors $u_0 = (\cos(\theta_0), \sin(\theta_0))$ and

$$u_i = (\cos(\theta_0 + \theta_1 + \dots + \theta_i), \sin(\theta_0 + \theta_1 + \dots + \theta_i)), \qquad i = 1, \dots, k.$$

Observe that $u_k = u_0$. For every $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ consider the vectors u_{i-1}, u_i and apply Lemma 6.3.1 to obtain a family of k vectors v_i in \mathbb{S}^1 between u_{i-1} and u_i . We lift the half-lines $L_i = \{\lambda v_i : \lambda \ge 0\}$ to horizontal straight lines passing through $(0, 0, 0) \in \mathbb{H}^1$, and we also lift the half-lines

$$\lambda v_i + \{\rho u_{i-1} : \rho \ge 0\}, \qquad \lambda v_i + \{\rho u_i : \rho \ge 0\},$$

to horizontal straight lines starting from $(\lambda v_i, 0)$. This way we obtain a surface

$$C_K(\theta_0, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k)$$

with the following properties

Theorem 6.3.2. The surface $C_K(\theta_0, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k)$ is K-perimeter-minimizing cone which is the graph of a C^1 function.

Proof. $C_K(\theta_0, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k)$ is a cone by construction. It is an entire graph since it is composed of horizontal lifting of straight half-lines in the *xy*-plane that covered the whole plane without interesecting themselves transversally. The *K*-perimeter-minimizing property follows in a similar way to from Proposition 2.4 in [91]. That it is the graph of a C^1 function is proven like in Proposition 3.2(4) in [91].

Example 6.3.3. A particular example of area-minimizing cones are those who uses the sub-Riemannian cones C_{α} restricted to the circular sector with $\theta \in (-\alpha, \alpha)$ as as model piece of the cone. Taking $K = D, k \ge 3$ and angle $\alpha = \pi/k$, we define

$$C(k) = C_D\left(\frac{\pi}{k}, \frac{2\pi}{k}, \dots, \frac{2\pi}{k}\right).$$

Let us denote by u_k the functions in \mathbb{R}^2 whose graph is C(k). The behaviour when k tends to infinity of u_k in a disk is analyzed in the following Proposition.

Proposition 6.3.4. The sequence u_k converge to 0 uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^2 . Moreover, the sub-Riemannian area of u_k converges locally to the sub-Riemannian area of the plane t = 0. Moreover the sub-Riemannian area of u_k converges to the one of the plane t = 0.

Proof. Since u_k is obtained by collating of u_{α} , where $\alpha = \pi/k$, we can estimate the height of u_k by the height of u_{α} . By (6.2.2), using polar coordinates (r, θ) , where $\theta \in [-\alpha, \alpha]$ and $r < r_0$, we get

$$|u_{\alpha}| \leq 2r_0^2 |\sin(\pi/k)|$$

on $D(r_0) = \overline{B}(0, r_0)$. The claim follows since $\lim_{k \to \infty} \sin(\pi/k) = 0$.

The sub-Riemannian area of the graph of u_k over $D(r_0)$ is given by

$$A_D(u_k, r_0) = \int_{D(r_0)} |\nabla u_k + (-y, x)| dx dy$$

Since the sub-Riemannian perimeter is rotationally invariant, we can decompose the above integral as k times the area of the cone C_{α} in the circular sector with $\theta \in (-\alpha, \alpha)$ and $r < r_0$. By (6.2.2), it is immediate that

$$|\nabla u_k(x,y) + (-y,x)| = 2|y|\sin^{-1}(\alpha).$$

A direct computation shows that

$$A_D(u_k, r_0) = \frac{4\pi r_0^3}{3} \frac{1 - \cos \pi/k}{(\pi/k) \sin \pi/k}.$$

Then $A_D(u_k, r_0)$ tends to $\frac{2\pi r_0^3}{3}$ as $k \to +\infty$.



Figure 6.6: The cone C(4). The singular set is composed of the red rays of angle $0, \pi/2, \pi, (3\pi)/2$, while the rays of angles $\pi/4, (3\pi)/4, (5\pi)/4), (7\pi)/4$, where two pieces of the construction meet, are depicted in cyan.



Figure 6.7: The cones C(8) and C(16). They are depicted at the same in this Figure and the previous one. As the number of angles increases, the cone produces more oscilations of smaller height.

Chapter 7

The prescribed mean curvature equation for t-graphs in \mathbb{H}^n

This chapter exposes the some of the results obtained during the stay at Università di Trento in colaboration with Giovannardi, Pinamonti and Verzellesi.

The aim of this chapter is to study the prescribed mean curvature equation for t-graphs in the sub-Finsler Heisenberg group (\mathbb{H}^n, K_0) . Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded open set, $H \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, $F \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ and $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. We consider the functional

$$\mathcal{I}(u) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u + F|_{K_{0,*}} \, dx dy + \int_{\Omega} H u \, dx dy, \qquad (7.0.1)$$

where $|\cdot|_{K_{0},*}$ denotes the dual norm of $|\cdot|_{K_{0}}$. In particular, when F(x, y) = (-y, x) the first term in (7.0.1) coincides with the sub-Finsler area of the *t*-graph of u, see [142; 69]. Moreover, if K_{0} is the Euclidean unit ball centered at the origin and H = 0 then (7.0.1) boils down to the classical area functional for *t*-graphs in Heisenberg group, see [33; 99] and references therein. We say that the graph of u has prescribed K_{0} -mean curvature H in Ω if u is a minimizer of \mathcal{I} . Indeed, the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to \mathcal{I} out of the singular set Ω_{0} , i.e. the set of points where $\nabla u + F$ vanishes, is given by

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi_{K_0}(\nabla u + F)) = H, \tag{7.0.2}$$

where π_{K_0} is a suitable 0-homogeneous function defined in (2.1.5). When we fix a boundary datum $\varphi \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, a solution to the *Dirichlet problem* for the prescribed K_0 -mean curvature equation is a minimizer u of \mathcal{I} such that $u - \varphi$ belongs to the Sobolev space $W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Our main result is Theorem 7.4.1, where we prove, under suitable regularity assumptions on the data, that there exists a Lipschitz solution to the Dirichlet problem for the prescribed K_0 -mean curvature equation when H is *constant* and satisfies

$$|H| < H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) \tag{7.0.3}$$

for each $z_0 = (x_0, y_0) \in \partial\Omega$, where $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ denotes the Finsler mean curvature vature of the boundary $\partial\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$. Notice that the mean curvature of the graph of u is computed with respect to the downward pointing unit normal and the Finsler mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$ is computed with respect to the inner unit normal. The upper bound (7.0.3) of H in terms of the Finsler mean curvature of the boundary is the Finsler analogous of the standard assumption for the solution to the Dirichlet problem for the classical mean curvature equation in the Euclidean setting as stated in [158], [84] or [83] (see also [85, Theorem 16.11]). The approach of the present chapter, based on the Schauder fixed-point theory, follows the scheme developed in [35] and extends its results both to the case of prescribed constant mean curvature $H \neq 0$ and to the sub-Finsler setting. In Theorem 7.4.1 we can not expect better regularity than Lipschitz, as exhibit in Chapter 6.

Since equation (7.0.2) is sub-elliptic degenerate and it is singular next the singular set, inspired by [35; 138], we introduce a family of elliptic approximating equations given by

div
$$\left(\pi_{K_0}(\nabla u + F) \frac{|\nabla u + F|_*^2}{(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|_*^3)^{\frac{3}{2}}}\right) = H.$$
 (7.0.4)

for each $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. To obtain this family of equations we consider a 2n + 1 dimensional convex body K_{ε} containing the origin in its interior, that converges in the Hausdorff sense to the 2n dimensional convex body K_0 as $\varepsilon \to 0$. The choice of the convex body K_{ε} is not arbitrary. Indeed, we need a specific shape in order to obtain an approximating equation well defined in the classical sense in the singular set. For $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, the convex body K_{ε} defines a Finsler norm on $T\mathbb{H}^n$ whose associated Finsler area functional is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|^3_{K_0,*} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} dx dy + \int_{\Omega} Hu \, dx dy.$$

It is easy to see that the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to this functional is elliptic and avoids singularities. Given a boundary datum $\varphi \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$, the solvability of the Dirichlet problem associated to (7.0.4) is reduced by [85, Theorem 13.8] to a priori estimates in $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ of a related family of problems. As usual the *a priori* estimates in $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ consist of three parts: estimates of the supremum of |u|, boundary estimates of the gradient of u and interior estimates of the gradient of u. Both the estimates of the supremum and the boundary estimates of the gradient are obtained by a barriers argument that depends on the Finsler distance from the boundary $\partial\Omega$. Due to technical reasons in the construction of the barriers we need to assume the strict inequality in (7.0.3), avoiding the optimal case when H coincides with $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0)$ at a given point $z_0 \in \partial\Omega$. We emphasize that these results hold even if the prescribed curvature H is non-constant and Lipschitz. When H is non-constant, in order to obtain the estimates of the supremum we assume that there exists $\delta \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} Hv \, dx dy \right| \leq (1-\delta) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|_{K_{0},*} \, dx dy \tag{7.0.5}$$

for each $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Assumption (7.0.5) is a standard sufficient condition for the estimates of the supremum of |u| (see [83] or [85]). Moreover, in analogy with the Euclidean case, we show that the sufficient condition (7.0.5) with $\delta > 0$, which is a priori stronger than the necessary condition with $\delta = 0$, is redundant when H is constant. The only crucial step where we need that H is constant is the maximum principle for the gradient of the solution that allows us to reduce the interior estimates of the gradient to its boundary estimates. Finally, once we realize that C^1 estimates are independent of the approximation parameter ε , passing to the limit as ε tends to 0 and using Arzelà-Ascoli Theorem we get the existence of a Lispchitz minimizer for the sub-Finsler Dirichlet problem.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 7.1 we introduce some preliminary definitions and results, such as the Minkowski norm, the Finsler geometry of a hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{2n} , the Heisenberg group, the sub-Finsler perimeter and the sub-Finsler functional \mathcal{I} . Section 7.2 is dedicated to the Finsler approximation by the K_{ε} convex body of the sub-Finsler convex body K_0 . Section 7.3 deals with the *a priori* estimates for the C^1 norm of the solution to the approximating elliptic equations. In particular, Proposition 7.3.4 deals with the *a priori* estimates of |u| when *H* is Lispchitz and verifies the integral condition (7.0.5), in Proposition 7.3.6 we deduce the boundary estimates of the gradient when *H* is Lispchitz, in Proposition 7.3.5 we establish the maximum principle for the gradient for *H* constant, and finally, in Proposition 7.3.8 we achieve *a priori* estimates of |u| when *H* is constant. To conclude, Section 7.4 contains the main Theorem 7.4.1.

7.1 Preliminaries

Unless otherwise specified, we let $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$, $n, d \ge 1$. Given two open sets $A, B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$, we write $A \Subset B$ whenever $\overline{A} \subseteq B$.

7.1.1 Finsler geometry of hypersurfaces in Euclidean space

Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a convex body in $C^2_+, 0 \in \operatorname{int} K$ and $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be a bounded domain with boundary $\partial \Omega = \Sigma$ of class C^2 . Let N be the inner unit normal to Σ . Then the derivative map $(W_{K,\Sigma})_p = -d_p(\pi_K \circ N) : T_p \Sigma \to T_{\pi_K(N(p))} \partial K$ is called the K-Weingarten map. Let $\gamma \subseteq \partial K$ be a differentiable curve with $\gamma(0) = \pi_K(p)$ and $\gamma'(0) \in T_{\pi_K(p)} \partial K$. By definition of π_K , the function

$$f(t) = \langle \gamma(t), p \rangle$$

has a maximum at 0 and therefore $\langle \gamma'(0), p \rangle = f'(0) = 0$, which gives $T_{\pi_K(p)}\partial K = T_p \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$. Moreover it is well known that $(dN)_q$ is an endomorphism of $T_q \Sigma$ and therefore $W_{K,\Sigma;p}$ is an endomorphism of $T_p \Sigma$. We define the *K*-mean curvature of Σ as

$$H_{K,\Sigma} = \operatorname{Trace}(W_{K,\Sigma}) = -\operatorname{div}_{\Sigma}(\pi_K \circ N),$$

where $\operatorname{div}_{\Sigma}$ is the divergence in the tangent directions to Σ . We remark that $W_{K,\Sigma}$ is neither necessarily self-adjoint nor symmetric. Let us check that $W_{K,\Sigma}$ is diagonalizable. Indeed, given a parametrization X of Σ , dN has a symmetric matrix representation S in the basis $B = \{\partial_{x_1}X, \ldots, \partial_{x_d}X\}$. On the other hand, $\pi_K = \mathcal{N}_K^{-1}$ and, since K is in C_+^2 , the matrix A which represents $d(\mathcal{N}_K^{-1})$ with respect to B is positive definite. Therefore, there exists an invertible matrix P such that $A = P^t P$. Notice that the matrices $P^t PS$ and PSP^t has the same spectrum, and equal to the spectrum of $W_{K,\Sigma}$. Since S is symmetric we can apply the criterion of Sylvester to obtain that all the eigenvalues of PSP^t are real. The eigenvalues of $W_{K,\Sigma}$ are called K-principal curvatures and the eigenvectors of $W_{K,\Sigma}$ are called K-principal directions.

7.1.1.1 Finsler distance from the boundary and the Eikonal equation

In this and the following section we want to rely on some results by [113; 112], and so we assume that K is in C^{∞}_+ , i.e. ∂K is of class C^{∞} with strictly positive principal curvatures. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be a bounded domain with boundary $\partial \Omega = \Sigma$ of class $C^{2,\alpha}$, for $0 < \alpha \leq 1$, and inner unit normal N. We shall adapt Theorem 4.26 in [130] and the remarks at the end of Section 4.5 in [130] to prove existence of a tubular neighborhood of Σ and compute the K-mean curvature of parallel hypersurfaces. The *interior signed* K-distance to Σ is the function $d_{K,\Sigma} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$d_{K,\Sigma}(p) = \begin{cases} \min\{|p-q|_K : q \in \Sigma\} & \text{if } p \in \Omega\\ -\min\{|p-q|_K : q \in \Sigma\} & \text{if } p \notin \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Throughout this chapter, we shall use the notation $B_K(p, r)$ to denote the ball of radius r > 0 in \mathbb{R}^d associated to the distance $d_{K,p}$. It is easy to check that $|p|_K = |-p|_{-K}$ for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$, so that

$$B_{-K}(p,r) = \{ q \in \mathbb{R}^d : |p-q|_K \leqslant r \}$$
(7.1.1)

for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and r > 0.

Consider the map $F: \Sigma \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^d$ given by

$$F(q,t) = q + t(\pi_K \circ N)(q).$$

For any $v \in T_q \Sigma$, we have $(dF)_{(q,t)}(v,0) = v + td(\pi_K \circ N)(q)$ and $(dF)_{(q,t)}(0,1) = (\pi_K \circ N)(q)$. Since K contains the origin,

$$\langle \pi_K(N), N \rangle > 0$$

and dF is invertible at t = 0. Thus F is locally a diffeomorphism and, being Σ a compact hypersurface, F is a diffeomorphism in a domain $\Sigma \times (-\delta, \delta)$. The set $F(\Sigma \times (-\delta, \delta))$ is called a *tubular neighborhood* of Σ . Notice that if p = F(q, t), then

$$p - q = t(\pi_K \circ N)(q) \tag{7.1.2}$$

and, taking the K-norm, we obtain that $d_{K,\Sigma}(p) = t$. We know (cf. [113]) that, under our assumptions, there exists $\bar{\delta} > 0$ such that

$$d_{K,\Sigma} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{F(\Sigma \times (-\delta, \delta))}).$$

for any $\delta < \overline{\delta}$. Given $|t| < \delta$, we let

$$\Sigma_t = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^d : p = F(q, t) \text{ for some } q \in \partial K \}.$$
(7.1.3)

Proposition 7.1.1. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be a bounded domain with boundary $\partial \Omega = \Sigma$ of class C^2 and let $F(\Sigma \times (-\delta, \delta))$ be a tubular neighborhood of Σ . The Kmean curvature of Σ_t at $p \in \Sigma_t$ is given by

$$H_{K,\Sigma_t}(p) = \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{\kappa_i(q)}{1 - t\kappa_i(q)},$$
(7.1.4)

where $q \in \Sigma$ satisfies p = F(q, t) and $\kappa_1(q), \ldots, \kappa_{d-1}(q)$ are the K-principal curvatures of Σ at q.

Proof. Let $\{e_1, \ldots, e_{d-1}\}$ be a basis of K-principal directions of Σ . Then $(dF)_{(q,t)}(e_i, 0) = (1 - t\kappa_i)e_i$. Therefore a basis of principal directions in Σ_t is $\{\frac{e_1}{1-t\kappa_1}, \ldots, \frac{e_{d-1}}{1-t\kappa_{d-1}}\}$. Since we have

$$-d(\pi_K \circ N)_q \left(\frac{e_i}{1 - t\kappa_i}\right) = \frac{\kappa_i}{1 - t\kappa_i} e_i$$

for each $i = 1, \ldots, d - 1$ we obtain the result.

Remark 7.1.2. From (7.1.4), we obtain that the K-mean curvature is increasing in t. In particular, given $q \in \Sigma$ and p = F(q,t) for t > 0, it holds that

$$H_{K,\Sigma_t}(p) \ge H_{K,\Sigma}(q). \tag{7.1.5}$$

The following Eikonal equation can be deduced using classical arguments. We include the proof for sake of completeness.

Proposition 7.1.3. It holds that

$$|\nabla d_{K,\Sigma}(p)|_{K,*} = 1 \tag{7.1.6}$$

for any p where $d_{K,\partial\Omega}$ is differentiable.

Proof. It is clear that, for any p, p' in \mathbb{R}^d , we have

$$d_{K,\Sigma}(p') \leqslant |p'-p|_K + d_{K,\Sigma}(p).$$

Taking p' = p + tv where t > 0, we get

$$d_{K,\Sigma}(p+tv) - d_{K,\Sigma}(p) \leq |tv|_K$$

Therefore,

$$\langle v, \nabla d_{K,\Sigma}(p) \rangle \leqslant |v|_K.$$
 (7.1.7)

Taking $v = \pi_K(\nabla d_{K,\Sigma}(p))$ in (7.1.7), we obtain

$$|\nabla d_{K,\Sigma}(p)|_{K,*} \leq 1.$$

On the other hand, let $\gamma(t) = F(q_0, t)$. By (7.1.2) we have that

$$d_{K,\Sigma}(\gamma(t)) = t.$$

Taking derivatives in the previous equation, we obtain

$$\langle \gamma'(t), \nabla d_{K,\Sigma}(\gamma(t)) \rangle = 1$$

Since $\gamma'(t) = (\pi_K \circ N)(q_0)$, we get that $|\gamma'(t)|_K = 1$. Using (2.1.4), we get

$$|\nabla d_{K,\Sigma}(\gamma(t))|_{K,*} \ge 1.$$

Given a tubular neighborhood \mathcal{O} of $\partial\Omega$ and $p = F(q, t) \in \Omega$, we denote $N_t(p)$ the inner unit normal to Σ_t at p. Let us explicitly compute div $(\pi_K \circ N_t)(p)$. Let us recall that, to the 0-homogeneity of π_K , we get that

$$q \cdot D\pi_K(q) = 0$$

for any $q \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In particular, taking $q = N_t$, we obtain

$$N_t \cdot D(\pi_K \circ N_t) = N_t \cdot D\pi_K(N_t) \cdot DN_t = 0,$$

which implies that

$$-\operatorname{div}(\pi_K \circ N_t)(p) = -\operatorname{div}_{\Sigma}(\pi_K \circ N_t)(p) = H_{K,\Sigma_t}(p) \ge H_{K,\partial\Omega}(q). \quad (7.1.8)$$

With the next result we better understand the relationship between the Finsler mean curvature of Σ , the Euclidean curvatures of Σ and the Euclidean principal curvatures of K.

Proposition 7.1.4. Let K be a convex body in C^2_+ , $0 \in \text{int } K$. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a bounded domain with $\partial \Omega = \Sigma$ of class C^2 and let N_q be the inner unit normal to Σ at q. Then we have

$$H_{K,\Sigma}(q) = -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{\langle D_{e_i} N_q, e_i \rangle}{k_i^K(\pi_K(N_q))}$$
(7.1.9)

where k_i^K are the Euclidean principal curvatures of ∂K and e_1, \ldots, e_{d-1} is an orthonormal basis of Euclidean principal directions of ∂K .

Proof. We shall drop the subscript for π_K . Let q in Σ and e_1, \ldots, e_{d-1} be an orthonormal basis of $\mathbb{R}^{d-1} = T_{\pi(N_q)} \partial K$ such that

$$(d\mathcal{N}_K)_{\pi(N_q)}e_i = k_i^K(\pi(N_q))e_i.$$

By hypothesis, $k_i^K > 0$ for $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$. Here \mathcal{N}_K denotes the Gauss map of ∂K . Then we have

$$H_{K,\Sigma}(q) = -\operatorname{div}_{\Sigma}(\pi(N_q)) = -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \langle D_{e_i}\pi(N_q), e_i \rangle,$$

where D is the Levi-Civita connection in \mathbb{R}^d . We claim that $D_{e_i}\pi(N_q) = d\pi(D_{e_i}N_q)$. Indeed, let $\gamma: (\epsilon, \epsilon) \to \Sigma$ such that $\gamma(0) = q$ and $\dot{\gamma}(0) = e_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$. Then we have

$$D_{e_i}\pi(N_q) = \frac{D}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}\pi(N_{\gamma(s)}) = \sum_{j=1}^d \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}\pi_j(N_{\gamma(s)})\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^d \nabla\pi_j(N_q)\frac{D}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}N_{\gamma(s)}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} = (d\pi)_{N_q}D_{e_i}N_q.$$

Moreover, since $d\pi$ is a symmetric matrix we gain

$$H_{K,\Sigma}(q) = -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \langle (d\pi)_{N_q} D_{e_i} N_q, e_i \rangle = -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \langle D_{e_i} N_q, (d\pi)_{N_q} e_i \rangle.$$
(7.1.10)

Since $\pi = \mathcal{N}_K^{-1}$ we obtain $d\pi = (d\mathcal{N}_K)^{-1}$ and

$$e_{i} = d\mathcal{N}_{K}^{-1} d\mathcal{N}_{K}(e_{i}) = d\mathcal{N}_{K}^{-1}(k_{i}^{K}(\pi(N_{q}))e_{i}) = k_{i}^{K}(\pi(N_{q}))d\pi(e_{i}),$$

by linearity. Therefore, we have $d\pi(e_i) = (k_i^K(\pi(N_q)))^{-1}e_i$. Hence, plugging this last equality in (7.1.10) we gain (7.1.9).

7.1.1.2 The Ridge of the Finsler distance

In the previous section we obtained some regularity and geometric properties of $d_{K,\partial\Omega}$ in a tubular neighborhood of $\partial\Omega$. We shall see that some of these properties holds outside a tubular neighborhood. We fix a convex body $K \in C^{\infty}_+$ and a bounded domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ with $C^{2,1}$ boundary. For any $p \in \Omega$, we let $D(p) := \{q \in \partial\Omega : d_{K,\partial\Omega}(p) = |p - q|_K\}$. Since $d_{K,\partial\Omega}$ is continuous, then clearly $D(p) \neq \emptyset$ for any $p \in \Omega$. Accordingly, we define the set

$$\Omega_1 := \{ p \in \Omega : D(p) \text{ is a singleton} \}, \tag{7.1.11}$$

and we define the *Ridge* of Ω by

$$R := \Omega \setminus \operatorname{int} \Omega_1.$$

We know, again thanks to [113], that, under our assumptions on K and Ω ,

$$d_{K \partial \Omega} \in C^{2,1}(\operatorname{int} \Omega_1 \cup \partial \Omega). \tag{7.1.12}$$

Moreover, in [112, Corollary 1.6] it is proven that the Hausdorff dimension of R is at most d-1. This fact implies that R has empty interior, so that

$$\partial(\operatorname{int}\Omega_1) = \partial\Omega \cup R. \tag{7.1.13}$$

The following result is inspired partially by [60, Lemma 3.4].

Proposition 7.1.5. Let $p \in \Omega$, let $q \in D(p)$ and let

$$(p,q) := \{tp + (1-t)q : t \in (0,1)\}.$$

Then $(p,q) \subseteq \operatorname{int} \Omega_1$ and

$$D(\gamma) = \{q\}$$
(7.1.14)

for any $\gamma \in (p,q)$.

Proof. Let p, q be as in the statement, and fix $\gamma \in (p, q)$. We already know that $D(\gamma) \neq \emptyset$. On the other hand, assume that there exists $q' \neq q$ such that $q' \in D(\gamma)$. Let us notice that p, q, q' cannot lie on the same line. Indeed, if by contradiction this was the case, then the only possibility is that p is a convex combination of γ and q'. But then the strict convexity of K would imply that

$$|\gamma - q'|_K \leq |\gamma - q|_K < |p - q|_K \leq |p - q'|_K < |\gamma - q'|_K,$$

which is a contradiction. This in particular implies that p, γ, q' do not lie on the same line. Therefore, thanks again to the strict convexity of K, we get that

$$|p - q'|_K < |p - \gamma|_K + |\gamma - q'|_K \le |p - \gamma|_K + |\gamma - q|_K = |p - q|_K,$$

a contradiction with $q \in D(p)$. Hence (7.1.14) is proved. Assume by contradiction that $\gamma \in R$. By Corollary 4.11 in [112], any point of the form $q + \lambda(\gamma - q)$ with $\lambda > 1$ has a point in $\partial\Omega$ closer than q. On the other hand, taking w the midpoint of p and γ , then by (7.1.14) it holds that $D(w) = \{q\}$. A contradiction then follows.

Let us take a point $p \in \operatorname{int} \Omega_1$, and let $q \in D(p)$. Thanks to Proposition 7.1.5, we know that

$$d_{K,\partial\Omega}(z) = |z - q|_K$$

for any z in (p,q). Recalling that $(p,q) \subseteq \operatorname{int} \Omega_1$, together with (7.1.12), and Proposition 7.1.3 it is easy to see that $\nabla d_{K,\partial\Omega}(z) \neq 0$. Thus, at least locally, the level set $\Sigma_{d_K,\partial\Omega}(p)$ is a well defined C^2 hypersurface. Reasoning as in Section 7.1.1.1 we conclude that

$$-\operatorname{div}(\pi_K \circ N_{d_K,\partial\Omega})(p) \ge H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(q) \tag{7.1.15}$$

for any $p \in \operatorname{int} \Omega_1$, where $q \in D(p)$.

7.1.2 Sub-Finsler area

Let $K_0 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a C^2_+ convex body with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$ and let $|\cdot|_{K_0}$, $|\cdot|_{K_0,*}$ and π_{K_0} be the associated left-invariant extensions to \mathcal{H}_0 (see § 2.1.2). In the following we shall write $|\cdot|_*$ and π instead of $|\cdot|_{K_0,*}$ and π_{K_0} respectively. Given a horizontal vector field U of class C^1 , we define $\pi(U)$ as the C^1 horizontal vector field satisfying

$$|U|_* = \langle U, \pi(U) \rangle$$

Proceeding as in \S 2.1.1, it is easy to see that the projection satisfies

$$\pi\left(\sum_{i}^{n} f_{i}X_{i} + g_{i}Y_{i}\right) = \mathcal{N}_{K_{0}}^{-1}\left(\frac{(f,g)}{\sqrt{|f|^{2} + |g|^{2}}}\right),$$

where $|f|^2 = \langle f, f \rangle$.

Recall that, by Proposition 2.3.4, if E has C^1 boundary ∂E , then

$$P_{K_0}(E) = \int_{\partial E} |N_h|_* d\sigma =: A_{K_0}(\partial E),$$

where N_h is the projection on the horizontal distribution \mathcal{H} of the Riemannian normal N with respect to the metric g and $d\sigma$ is the Riemannian measure of ∂E .

As a significant example, we consider a bounded open set $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ and a C^1 function $u: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$. Let $\operatorname{Gr}(u) = \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n : u(x, y) - t = 0\}$ be the graph of u. Then we have

$$N_h = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n (u_{x_i} - y) X_i + (u_{y_i} + x) Y_i}{\sqrt{1 + |\nabla u + F|^2}} \quad \text{and} \quad d\sigma = \sqrt{1 + |\nabla u + F|^2} \, dx dy,$$

where $\nabla u(x, y)$ is the Euclidean gradient of u(x, y) and F(x, y) = (-y, x). Therefore we get

$$A_{K_0}(\operatorname{Gr}(u)) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u + F|_* \, dx \, dy.$$

7.1.3 The sub-Finsler prescribed mean curvature equation

Inspired by the previous computation and the sub-Riemannian problem studied by [35] we consider the following problem. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded open set and let $F \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{2n})$, $\varphi \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ and $H \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Then we set

$$\mathcal{I}(u) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u + F|_* \, dx dy + \int_{\Omega} H u \, dx dy \tag{7.1.16}$$

for each $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ such that $u - \varphi \in W^{1,1}_0(\Omega)$. We say that $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ is a *minimizer* for \mathcal{I} if

$$\mathcal{I}(u) \leqslant \mathcal{I}(v)$$

for all $v \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ such that $v - \varphi \in W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$. In [35, Section 3] the authors investigate the first variation of the functional \mathcal{I} when $|\cdot|_*$ is the Euclidean norm $|\cdot|$, taking into account the bad beaviour of the singular set

$$\Omega_0 = \{ (x, y) \in \Omega : (\nabla u + F)(x, y) = 0 \}.$$
(7.1.17)

In the next result we derive the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to \mathcal{I} for C^2 minimizers.

Proposition 7.1.6. Let K_0 be a C^2_+ convex body such that $0 \in int(K_0)$. Let $u \in C^2(\Omega)$ be a minimizer for \mathcal{I} defined in (7.1.16). Assume that $F \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{2n})$. Let Ω_0 be the singular set defined in (7.1.17). Then u satisfies

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla u + F)) = H \tag{7.1.18}$$

in $\Omega \setminus \Omega_0$.

Proof. Given $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega \setminus \Omega_0)$, by [142, Lemma 3.2] the first variation is

given by

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}\mathcal{I}(u+sv) &= \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} |\nabla(u+sv)+F|_* \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} |\nabla u+F+s\nabla v|_* \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} \langle \nabla v, \pi(\nabla u+F)) \rangle \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega\setminus\Omega_0} v \ (H - \operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla u+F))) \ dxdy. \end{split}$$

Remark 7.1.7. When K_0 is the unit disk $D_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ centered at 0 of radius 1 we have

$$\pi_{D_0}(\nabla u + F) = \frac{\nabla u + F}{|\nabla u + F|}$$

and (7.1.18) is equivalent to

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla u + F}{|\nabla u + F|}\right) = H.$$

7.2 The Finsler approximation problem

In this section we develop the Finsler approximation scheme in order to get rid of the singular nature of equation (7.1.18). To this aim, given K_0 a convex body in C^2_+ such that $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, we denote by K_{ε} the set

$$K_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1} : \left(\frac{|t|}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} + |(x, y)|_{K_0}^{\frac{3}{2}} \leqslant 1 \right\}.$$
 (7.2.1)

Notice that $K_{\varepsilon} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n+1} \equiv T_0 \mathbb{H}^n$ (here $T_0 \mathbb{H}^n$ denotes the tangent space of \mathbb{H}^n at p = 0) is a strictly convex body with $0 \in \operatorname{int}(K_{\varepsilon})$. Moreover ∂K_{ε} is of class C^1 . Indeed it is a level set of the C^1 function

$$g_{\varepsilon}(x,y,t) := \left(\frac{|t|}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} + |(x,y)|_{K_0}^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

whose gradient never vanishes on ∂K_{ε} . Hence, the projection $\pi_{K_{\varepsilon}}$ is well defined and continuous. We shall write $|\cdot|_{\varepsilon}, |\cdot|_{\varepsilon,*}$ and π_{ε} instead of $|\cdot|_{K_{\varepsilon}}, |\cdot|_{K_{\varepsilon},*}$ and $\pi_{K_{\varepsilon}}$ respectively. The map π^{h}_{ε} is defined as the first 2n components of π_{ε} . By abuse of notation, we write $\pi^{h}_{\varepsilon}(x,y) = \pi^{h}_{\varepsilon}(x,y,-1)$ when there is no confusion.

Proposition 7.2.1. Let K_0 be a convex body in C^2_+ such that $0 \in \text{int } K_0$, and let $K_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ be the set defined in (7.2.1). Then the following assertions hold:

(i) The map $\pi^h_{\varepsilon}: \mathbb{R}^{2n} \smallsetminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ satisfies

$$\pi^h_{\varepsilon}(x,y) = \pi(x,y) \frac{|(x,y)|^2_*}{(\varepsilon^3 + |(x,y)|^3_*)^{\frac{2}{3}}}$$

- (ii) The map π_{ε}^{h} can be extended to a C^{1} map in \mathbb{R}^{2n} by setting $\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(0,0) = (0,0)$.
- (*iii*) $|(x, y, -1)|_{K_{\varepsilon}, *} = (\varepsilon^3 + |(x, y)|_*^3)^{\frac{1}{3}}.$

Proof. Let us prove that

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(x, y, -1) = (\alpha \pi(x, y), -\varepsilon(1 - \alpha^{3/2}))^{2/3}$$
(7.2.2)

for some $0 < \alpha(x, y) < 1$. Given (x, y) in $\mathbb{R}^{2n} \setminus \{0\}$, we denote by t_0 the 2n + 1 coordinate of $\pi_{\varepsilon}(x, y, -1)$ and we let $K_{t_0} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be the convex set defined by

$$K_{t_0} := \{ (x', y') : (x', y', t_0) \in K_{\varepsilon} \}.$$

Then we have

$$K_{t_0} \times \{t_0\} = \left\{ \left(\frac{|t_0|}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} + |(x', y')|_{K_0}^{\frac{3}{2}} \leqslant 1 \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ |(x', y')|_{K_0} \leqslant \left(1 - \left(\frac{|t_0|}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \right\}.$$

Hence there exists $\bar{\alpha} = \bar{\alpha}(x, y)$ such that $K_{t_0} = \bar{\alpha}K_0$ and $\pi_{t_0} = \bar{\alpha}\pi$. On the other hand, since π_{ε} is the inverse of the Gauss map, we can see that (x, y, -1) is normal to ∂K_{ε} at $\pi_{\varepsilon}(x, y, -1)$ and so (x, y) is normal to ∂K_{t_0} at $\pi_{\varepsilon}^h(x, y)$. Since K_{t_0} is strictly convex, the projection is unique and $\pi_{\varepsilon}^h = \pi_{t_0}$. Hence (7.2.2) follows. Taking the scalar product of (x, y, -1) with the curve $\beta(s) = (s\pi(x, y), -\varepsilon(1 - s^{3/2})^{2/3})$, we get

$$\langle (x, y, -1), \beta(s) \rangle = s | (x, y) |_* + \varepsilon (1 - s^{3/2})^{2/3}.$$

Notice that β is in ∂K_{ε} and $\beta(\alpha)$ is π_{ε} . Hence in $s = \alpha$ the maximum of the scalar products of (x, y, -1) with an element of K_{ε} is attained. Thus we can take derivatives in $s = \alpha$ and equal to 0, and get

$$0 = |(x,y)|_* - \varepsilon \frac{\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}}{(1-\alpha^{3/2})^{\frac{1}{3}}}$$

Then we obtain

$$\alpha = \frac{|(x,y)|_*^2}{(\varepsilon^3 + |(x,y)|_*^3)^{2/3}}$$

and we get (i). Since $|(x, y, -1)|_{K_{\varepsilon},*} = \langle (x, y, -1), \pi_{\varepsilon}(x, y, -1) \rangle$, a straightforward computation shows (*iii*). Finally, (*ii*) follows from (*i*) and the 2homogeneity of the map $\pi(\cdot) |\cdot|_*^2$. **Lemma 7.2.2.** Let $u, v \in T_0 \mathbb{H}^n$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we have

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}|u+sv|_{\varepsilon,*} = \langle v, \pi_{\varepsilon}(u)\rangle.$$
(7.2.3)

Proof. Let $f(s) = |u + sv|_{\varepsilon,*}$ and $g(s) = \langle u + sv, \pi_{\varepsilon}(u) \rangle$. Notice that $f(s) \ge g(s)$ for each $s \in \mathbb{R}$, since by definition $|u + sv|_{\varepsilon,*} \ge \langle u + sv, \pi_{\varepsilon}(u) \rangle$ and $f(0) = |u|_{\varepsilon,*} = \langle u, \pi_{\varepsilon}(u) \rangle = g(0)$. Therefore, by a standard argument f'(0) = g'(0), and the thesis follows.

Given $K_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ a convex body in C^2_+ with $0 \in \text{int}(K_0)$, and K_{ε} defined as in (7.2.1), we extend the reasoning of § 2.1.2 to define a left-invariant norm $|\cdot|_{\varepsilon}$ on $T\mathbb{H}$ by means of the equality

$$\Big|\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i X_i + g_i Y_i + hT\Big|_{\varepsilon,p} = |(f(p), g(p), h(p))|_{\varepsilon},$$

for any $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ with $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)$ and $g = (g_1, \ldots, g_n)$. Again, $|\cdot|_{\varepsilon,*}$ and π_{ε} can be extended to the tangent bundle in the usual way.

Definition 7.2.3. Given a measurable set $E \subset \mathbb{H}^n$ we say that E has finite K_{ε} -perimeter if

$$P_{K_{\varepsilon}}(E) = \sup\left\{\int_{E} \operatorname{div}(U) \ d\mathbb{H}^{n}, U \in \mathfrak{X}_{0}(\mathbb{H}^{n}), |U|_{K_{\varepsilon},\infty} \leq 1\right\} < +\infty,$$

where $|U|_{K_{\varepsilon,\infty}} = \sup_{p \in \mathbb{H}^n} |U_p|_{\varepsilon}$ and $\mathfrak{X}_0(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is the space of C^1 compactly supported vector fields in \mathbb{H}^n .

Remark 7.2.4. Notice that we are abusing the notation $P_{K_{\varepsilon}}$ since it is related to the left-invariant basis $\{X_1, Y_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_n, T\}$ of all the tangent bundle of \mathbb{H}^n instead of the horizontal distribution \mathcal{H}_0 .

Remark 7.2.5. If E has C^1 boundary ∂E , then

$$P_{K_{\varepsilon}}(E) = \int_{\partial E} |N|_{\varepsilon,*} d\sigma = A_{\varepsilon}(\partial E),$$

where N is the Riemannian normal with respect to the metric g and $d\sigma$ is the Riemannian measure of ∂E . Indeed by the divergence theorem we have

$$P_{K_{\varepsilon}}(E) = \sup \left\{ \int_{E} \operatorname{div}(U) \ d\mathbb{H}^{n}, U \in \mathfrak{X}_{0}(\mathbb{H}^{n}), |U|_{K_{\varepsilon},\infty} \leqslant 1 \right\}$$
$$= \sup \left\{ \int_{\partial E} \langle U, N \rangle \ d\mathbb{H}^{n}, U \in \mathfrak{X}_{0}(\mathbb{H}^{n}), |U|_{K_{\varepsilon},\infty} \leqslant 1 \right\}$$
$$= \int_{\partial E} |N|_{\varepsilon,*} d\sigma,$$

where the last equality can be proved proceeding exactly as in [71; 82].

7.2.1 The Finsler prescribed mean curvature equation

We are ready to derive the Finsler prescribed mean curvature equation, essentially in the same way as in the previous section. To this aim, let $\Omega \subset \{t = 0\}$ be a bounded open set and $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C^2 function. Then we have

$$N = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (u_{x_i} - y)X_i + (u_{y_i} + x)Y_i - T}{\sqrt{1 + |\nabla u + F|^2}}$$

$$d\sigma = \sqrt{1 + |\nabla u + F|^2} \, dx dy,$$

where F(x, y) = (-y, x). Therefore we get

$$A_{K_{\varepsilon}}(\operatorname{Gr}(u)) = \int_{\Omega} |(\nabla u + F, -1)|_{\varepsilon,*} \, dx \, dy.$$

Therefore, inspired by this computation and thanks to Proposition 7.2.1, given $F \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{2n})$, $\varphi \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ and $H \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, we define the approximating Finsler functional $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$ by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\varepsilon^3 + |(\nabla u + F)|^3_* \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} dx dy + \int_{\Omega} H u \, dx dy, \tag{7.2.4}$$

for any $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ such that $u - \varphi \in W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Arguing as in the previous section, and thanks to Lemma 7.2.2, we are able to deduce the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to (7.2.4). Indeed, given $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, by Lemma 7.2.2, the first variation is given by:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0}\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(u+sv) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} |(\nabla(u+sv)+F,-1)|_{\varepsilon,*} \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \frac{d}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} |(\nabla u+F,-1) + s(\nabla v,0)|_{\varepsilon,*} \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \langle (\nabla v,0), \pi_{\varepsilon}((\nabla u+F,-1)) \rangle \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla v, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u+F) \rangle \ dxdy + \int_{\Omega} Hv \ dxdy \\ &= \int_{\Omega} v(H - \operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u+F))) \ dxdy. \end{split}$$

Then the Finsler prescribed mean curvature equation for the graph of u is given by

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + F)) = H \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$
(7.2.5)

7.3 A priori estimates for the Finsler Prescribed Mean Curvature Equation

In this section we want to find classical solutions to the Finsler approximating Dirichlet problem associated to (7.2.5), that is

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}\left(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u+F)\right) = H & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = \varphi & \text{in } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(7.3.1)

where $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ is a bounded domain with $C^{2,\alpha}$ boundary for $0 < \alpha < 1$, K_0 is a convex body in $C^{2,\alpha}_+$ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$, $H \in Lip(\overline{\Omega})$, $F \in C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ and $\varphi \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$. To this aim, let us fix some notation. It is easy to see that the map $G : \mathbb{R}^{2n} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ defined by $G(p) = \pi(p)|p|^2_*$ can be extended to a 2-homogeneous and C^1 map setting G(0) = 0. Moreover, for any $i = 1, \ldots, 2n$

$$D_i(|\cdot|^3_*) = 3G_i(\cdot),$$

where $G = (G_1, \ldots, G_{2n})$. Thanks to Proposition 7.2.1, we can write (7.2.5) in the form

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\pi(\nabla u+F)\frac{|\nabla u+F|_*^2}{\left(\varepsilon^3+|\nabla u+F|_*^3\right)^2}\right) = H$$

An easy computation yields

$$\frac{1}{(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|^3_*)^{\frac{5}{3}}} \left((\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|^3_*) \operatorname{div}(G(\nabla u + F)) - 2G(\nabla u + F)(D^2u + DF)G(\nabla u + F)^T \right) = H.$$

Therefore, we can write (7.2.5) in the familiar form

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}(z, \nabla u; F) D_{i,j} u + B^{\varepsilon}(z, \nabla u; F) = H,$$

where the coefficients $A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}$ and B^{ε} are defined by

$$\begin{split} A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}(z,p;F) &:= \frac{1}{(\varepsilon^3 + |p+F|_*^3)^{\frac{2}{3}}} D_j G_i(p+F) \\ &- \frac{2}{(\varepsilon^3 + |p+F|_*^3)^{\frac{5}{3}}} G_i(p+F) G_j(p+F) \end{split}$$

and

$$B^{\varepsilon}(z,p;F) := \frac{1}{(\varepsilon^3 + |p+F|_*^3)^{\frac{2}{3}}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} D_j G_i(p+F) D_i F_j - \frac{2}{(\varepsilon^3 + |p+F|_*^3)^{\frac{5}{3}}} G(p+F) DF G(p+F)^T.$$

for any $z \in \Omega$ and $p \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. Therefore (7.2.5) is a second-order quasi-linear equation. Moreover, thanks to the computations of the previous section and *(iii)* in Proposition 7.2.1, we know that (7.2.5) is the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to the functional

$$u \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \left(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla u + F|^3_* \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} + uH \, dz.$$

Since the function $(\varepsilon^3 + |\cdot + F|^3_*)^{1/3}$ is strictly convex we get that (7.2.5) is elliptic. Finally, it is easy to see that the matrix A^{ε} is symmetric. Therefore we are in position to apply the classical theory for quasi-linear elliptic equation of [85]. In particular, we wish to rely on the following fundamental result, which is a direct consequence of [85, Theorem 13.8] and subsequent remarks.

Proposition 7.3.1. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded domain with $C^{2,\alpha}$ boundary, for some $0 < \alpha < 1$, and let $\varphi \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$. Let us assume that $A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, \cdot; \sigma F), B^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, \cdot; \sigma F) \in C^{\alpha}(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ for any $\sigma \in [0, 1]$, and that the maps

 $\sigma \mapsto A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, \cdot; \sigma F), \quad \sigma \mapsto B^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, \cdot; \sigma F)$

are continuous as maps from [0,1] to $C^{\alpha}(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n})$. If there exist a constant M > 0 such that, for any $\sigma \in [0,1]$, any solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ to the problem

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + \sigma F)) = \sigma H & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = \sigma \varphi & \text{in } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$
(7.3.2)

satisfies

$$\|u\|_{C^1(\overline{\Omega})} \leqslant M,$$

then

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + F)) = H & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = \varphi & \text{in } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$
(7.3.3)

admits a solution in $C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$.

Our aim is to prove *a priori* estimates for the C^1 norm of solutions to (7.3.2). As a consequence of this procedure we will get C^1 estimates for solutions to (7.3.3) which are uniform in $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. First of all we need to guarantee the requested regularity for the coefficients of the equation.

Lemma 7.3.2. Let K_0 be a convex body in $C^{2,\alpha}_+$ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$. Let $F \in C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$. Then there exists $0 < \beta < 1$ such that $A^{\varepsilon}_{i,j}(\cdot,\cdot;\sigma F), B^{\varepsilon}(\cdot,\cdot;\sigma F) \in C^{\beta}(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ for any $\sigma \in [0,1]$. Moreover, the maps

$$\sigma \mapsto A^{\varepsilon}_{i,j}(\cdot,\cdot;\sigma F), \quad \sigma \mapsto B^{\varepsilon}(\cdot,\cdot;\sigma F)$$

are continuous as maps from [0,1] to $C^{\beta}(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n})$.

Proof. The second statement follows easily from the definition of the coefficients. Let us prove the first statement. It is clear, thanks to our assumptions on K_0 and F, that $A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, \cdot, \sigma F)$ and $B^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, \cdot, \sigma F)$ belong to $C^0(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ for any $\sigma \in [0, 1]$. Moreover, notice that for any $i, j = 1, \ldots, 2n$

$$D_j(G_i(p)) = \begin{cases} 2|p|_*\pi_j(p)\pi_i(p) + |p|_*^2D_i\pi_j(p) & \text{if } p \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{if } p = 0 \end{cases}$$

is $C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{2n} \setminus 0)$ since ∂K_0 is $C^{2,\alpha}$. Finally, we get

$$\lim_{p \to 0} \frac{|D_j G_i|(p)}{|p|^{\alpha}} = 0.$$

Indeed, we have

$$\frac{|D_j G_i|(p)}{|p|^{\alpha}} = 2 \frac{|p|_*}{|p|^{\alpha}} |\pi_j(p)\pi_i(p) + |p|_*^2 D_i \pi_j(p)|$$

$$\leqslant 2 \frac{|p|_*^{\alpha}}{|p|^{\alpha}} |p|_*^{1-\alpha} (|\pi_j(p)\pi_i(p)| + |p|_* |D_i \pi_j(p)|)$$

$$\leqslant C |p|_*^{1-\alpha} \to 0$$

as $p \to 0$, since $\frac{|p|_*^{\alpha}}{|p|^{\alpha}}$ is bounded and the last factor in the previous inequality is 0-homogeneous, thus in particular bounded. Then D_jG_i belongs to $C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$. Since $A_{i,j}^{\varepsilon}$ and B^{ε} are obtained as composition, sum and product of Hölder functions, the conclusion follows.

Therefore we are in position to try to apply Proposition 7.3.1. First of all we want to obtain estimates for the C^0 norm of solutions to (7.3.2). In order to do this, inspired by [84], we assume that there exists $\delta \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} Hvdz \right| \leqslant (1-\delta) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|_{*}dz \tag{7.3.4}$$

for any non-negative function $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. To justify this assumption, assume that we have a function $u \in C^2(\Omega)$ which solves (7.3.1). Then, multiplying (7.3.1) by a test function $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and integrating over Ω , we get that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} Hv \, dz \right| = \left| \int_{\Omega} v \operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + F)) dz \right| \leq \int_{\Omega} \left| \langle \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + F), \nabla v \rangle \right| dz$$
$$\leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|_{*} dx. \quad (7.3.5)$$

Notice that, as already pointed out in the introduction, (7.3.4) is slightly stronger than (7.3.5). We begin by proving a technical lemma.
Lemma 7.3.3. Let $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. Then

$$\langle p, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(p+\sigma F) \rangle \geqslant |p|_{*} - 1 - |F|_{*} - |-F|_{*}$$

$$(7.3.6)$$

for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ and $z \in \overline{\Omega}$.

Proof. Let us fix $z \in \overline{\Omega}$ and $p \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. If p = 0 or $p + \sigma F = 0$, then the thesis is trivial. Therefore, assume $p, p + \sigma F \neq 0$. It is clear, recalling Proposition 7.2.1 and using the Cauchy-Schwarz formula (2.1.4), that

$$\begin{split} \langle p, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(p+\sigma F) \rangle &= \langle p+\sigma F, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(p+\sigma F) \rangle - \langle \sigma F, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(p+\sigma F) \rangle \\ &\geqslant \frac{|p+\sigma F|_{*}^{3}}{\left(\varepsilon^{3}+|p+\sigma F|_{*}^{3}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}}} - \left(\frac{|p+\sigma F|_{*}^{3}}{\varepsilon^{3}+|p+\sigma F|_{*}^{3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} |\sigma F|_{*} \\ &\geqslant \frac{|p+\sigma F|_{*}^{3}}{\left(\varepsilon^{3}+|p+\sigma F|_{*}^{3}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}}} - |F|_{*}. \end{split}$$

Hence, noticing that

$$|p + \sigma F|_* \geqslant |p|_* - |-\sigma F|_* \geqslant |p|_* - |-F|_*$$

by the triangle inequality, it suffices to prove that

$$\frac{|p+\sigma F|_*^3}{(\varepsilon^3+|p+\sigma F|_*^3)^{\frac{2}{3}}} \ge |p+\sigma F|_* - 1.$$
(7.3.7)

When $|p + \sigma F|_* \leq 1$ (7.3.7) is trivial. Therefore let us assume $|p + \sigma F|_* > 1$. Notice that (7.3.7) is equivalent to

$$|p + \sigma F|_*^{\frac{9}{2}} \ge (|p + \sigma F|_* - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}} (\varepsilon^3 + |p + \sigma F|_*^3).$$

Since $a^p - b^p \ge (a - b)^p$ when 0 < b < a and p > 1, it is enough to check that

$$|p + \sigma F|_{*}^{9/2} \ge (|p + \sigma F|_{*}^{3/2} - 1)(\varepsilon^{3} + |p + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})$$

= $\varepsilon^{3}|p + \sigma F|_{*}^{3/2} + |p + \sigma F|_{*}^{9/2} - \varepsilon^{3} - |p + \sigma F|_{*}^{3},$

which is clearly true since $|p + \sigma F|_* > 1$ and $\varepsilon < 1$.

Proposition 7.3.4. Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and K_0 be a convex body in $C^{2,\alpha}_+$ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded open set, $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$, $H \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and $F \in C^0(\overline{\Omega})$. If condition (7.3.4) is satisfied then there exists a constant $C_1 = C_1(n, K_0, \Omega, \varphi, F, \delta) > 0$, independent of $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, such that, for any solution $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ to (7.3.2), it holds that

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leqslant C_1.$$

Proof. Let us notice that (7.3.6), the equivalence between $|\cdot|_*$ and the Euclidean norm and the boundedness of F allow to find constants $a_0, a_2 > 0$, independent of $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, such that

$$\langle p, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(p+\sigma F) \rangle \ge a_{0}|p|-a_{2}$$

for any $z \in \Omega$ and $p \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. This fact, together with the boundedness of H, suggests to relay on [85, Lemma 10.8] to limit ourselves to estimate $\|u\|_{L^1(\Omega)}$. Indeed, it is not difficult to show that [85, Lemma 10.8] remains true when condition (10.23) of [85] allows a positive coefficient multiplying |p|. Moreover, its proof can be easily adapted to achieve estimates from above of $\sup_{\Omega} -u$ in terms of $\|u^-\|_{L^1(\Omega)}$ for any solution of Qu = 0 where Q is defined in (10.5) of [85]. In the end it suffices to estimate $\|u^+\|_{L^1(\Omega)}$ and $\|u^-\|_{L^1(\Omega)}$. We only estimate $\|u^+\|_{L^1(\Omega)}$, being the other case analogous. Moreover, up to replacing u by $u - \|\varphi\|_{\infty,\partial\Omega}$, we can assume that $u \leq 0$ in $\partial\Omega$. Let us set $v = u^+$. Then it is clear that $v \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$, and moreover ∇v exists in the classical sense for almost every $z \in \Omega$. Therefore, since u is in particular a weak solution to

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + \sigma F)) = \sigma H,$$

it follows that

$$\int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla v, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h} (\nabla u + \sigma F) \rangle dz = -\int_{\Omega} v \sigma H dz.$$
(7.3.8)

We claim that

$$\langle \nabla v, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + \sigma F) \rangle \geqslant |\nabla v|_{*} - 1 - |F|_{*} - |-F|_{*}$$
(7.3.9)

holds in any point where ∇v exists in the classical sense. Indeed, in such points ∇v is either 0 or ∇u . In the first case (7.3.9) is trivial, while in the second case it follows from Lemma 7.3.3. It is well known that, since $v \ge 0$ and $v \in W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$, there exists a sequence of non-negative functions $(v_k)_k \subseteq C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ converging to v strongly in $W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Moreover, thanks to (7.3.4) it holds that

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} H v_k dz\right| \leqslant (1-\delta) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v_k|_* \, dz.$$

Hence, passing to the limit in the previous equation, and recalling that $|\cdot|_*$ is equivalent to the Euclidean norm, we conclude that (7.3.4) holds for v.

Combining this information with (7.3.8) and (7.3.9) we get that

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \int_{\Omega} -\langle \nabla v, \pi_{\varepsilon}^{h} (\nabla u + \sigma F) \rangle \, dz - \int_{\Omega} v \sigma H \, dz \\ &\leqslant \int_{\Omega} -|\nabla v|_{*} + 1 + |F|_{*} + |-F|_{*} \, dz + \left| \int_{\Omega} v H \, dz \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{\Omega} -|\nabla v|_{*} + 1 + |F|_{*} + |-F|_{*} + (1-\delta) |\nabla v|_{*} \, dz \\ &\leqslant \int_{\Omega} 1 + |F|_{*} + |-F|_{*} - \delta |\nabla v|_{*} \, dz, \end{split}$$

which implies

$$\delta \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|_* \, dz \leqslant \int_{\Omega} 1 + |F|_* + |-F|_* \, dz$$

Thanks to the Poincaré inequality and the equivalence between $|\cdot|_*$ and the Euclidean norm, we conclude that there exists a constant c_1 , independent of $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. Such that

$$\int_{\Omega} u^+ \, dz \leqslant c_1$$

Since in the same way we can achieve an estimate for u^- , the thesis follows.

The next step is to achieve gradient estimates, again in the C^0 norm, for solutions to (7.3.2). As customary in this framework, we want to reduce ourselves to boundary gradient estimates via a suitable maximum principle. To this aim, arguing as in [35], we need to assume the existence of scalar functions $f_1, \ldots, f_{2n} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ such that

$$D_k F_i = D_i f_k$$
 for any $i, k = 1, \dots, 2n.$ (7.3.10)

Thanks to this assumption, the following maximum principle, which is the Finsler counterpart of [35, Proposition 4.3], holds.

Proposition 7.3.5. Let K_0 be a convex body in $C^{2,\alpha}_+$ for $0 < \alpha < 1$ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded domain. Let $F \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ be such that (7.3.10) holds. Let H be a constant. Let $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ be a solution to (7.3.2). Then

$$\|\nabla u\|_{\infty,\Omega} \leqslant \|\nabla u\|_{\infty,\partial\Omega} + 2\|f\|_{\infty,\Omega},\tag{7.3.11}$$

where $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_{2n})$ is as in (7.3.10).

Proof. Fix $\sigma \in [0,1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$. Let $v \in C_c^2(\Omega)$ and fix $k \in \{1,\ldots,2n\}$. Then, multiplying (7.3.2) by $D_k v$, using Proposition 7.2.1, integrating over Ω , integrating by parts and exploiting the properties of F, it holds that

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \int_{\Omega} \left(\operatorname{div} \left(\pi (\nabla u + \sigma F) \frac{|\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}}{(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right) - \sigma H \right) D_{k} v \, dz \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\pi (\nabla u + \sigma F) \frac{|\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}}{(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right) D_{k} v \, dz \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{2n} \int_{\Omega} \left(\pi_{i} (\nabla u + \sigma F) \frac{|\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}}{(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right) D_{i} D_{k} v \, dz \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{2n} \int_{\Omega} \left(\pi_{i} (\nabla u + \sigma F) \frac{|\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}}{(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right) D_{k} D_{i} v \, dz \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{2n} \int_{\Omega} D_{k} \left(\pi_{i} (\nabla u + \sigma F) \frac{|\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}}{(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla u + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right) D_{i} v \, dz \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} \int_{\Omega} a_{i,j}^{\varepsilon,\sigma} (x, \nabla u) D_{k} (D_{j} u + \sigma F_{j}) D_{i} v \, dz \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} \int_{\Omega} a_{i,j}^{\varepsilon,\sigma} (x, \nabla u) D_{j} (D_{k} u + \sigma f_{k}) D_{i} v \, dz, \end{split}$$

where

$$a_{i,j}^{\varepsilon,\sigma}(x,p) = \frac{D_j(G_i)(p+\sigma F)(\varepsilon^3 + |p+\sigma F|_*^3) - 2G_i(p+\sigma F)G_j(p+\sigma F)}{(\varepsilon^3 + |p+\sigma F|_*^3)^{\frac{5}{3}}}.$$

Therefore we proved that

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} \int_{\Omega} a_{i,j}^{\varepsilon,\sigma}(x,\nabla u) D_j(D_k u + \sigma f_k) D_i v \, dz = 0$$
(7.3.12)

for any $v \in C_c^2(\Omega)$. Arguing as in [35, Proposition 4.3] it is easy to show that (7.3.12) actually holds for any $v \in C_c^1(\Omega)$. Therefore we proved that $D_k u + \sigma f_k$ is a weak solution to the linear elliptic equation

$$\operatorname{div}(a_{i,j}^{\varepsilon,\sigma}D_jw) = 0.$$

Hence, being $a_{i,j}^{\varepsilon,\sigma}(x,\nabla u)$ bounded over Ω , thanks to [85, Theorem 8.1] with $b_i, c_i, d = 0$ we can conclude that

$$\|\nabla u + \sigma f\|_{\infty,\Omega} \leqslant \|\nabla u + \sigma f\|_{\infty,\partial\Omega},$$

which in particular implies that

$$\|\nabla u\|_{\infty,\Omega} \leq \|\nabla u\|_{\infty,\partial\Omega} + 2\|f\|_{\infty,\Omega}.$$
(7.3.13)

Finally we are left to provide boundary gradient estimates for solutions to (7.3.2). Therefore, inspired by [84], we have to impose some constraints on the values of H depending on the Finsler mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$. More precisely, we require that

$$|H|(z_0) < H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) \tag{7.3.14}$$

for any $z_0 \in \partial \Omega$, where $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ is the K_0 -mean curvature as defined in § 7.1.1. Here and in the rest of this section we assume that K_0 is a convex body in C^{∞}_+ such that $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$, since we need to apply the results of § 7.1.1.1 and § 7.1.1.2.

Proposition 7.3.6. Let K_0 be a convex body in C^{∞}_+ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be an open and bounded set with $C^{2,\alpha}$ boundary, for some $0 < \alpha < 1$. Let $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$, $F \in C^0(\overline{\Omega})$ and $H \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega)$ satisfying (7.3.14). Finally, assume that there exists a constant $\tilde{C}_1 = \tilde{C}_1(n, K_0, \Omega, \varphi, F, H) > 0$, independent of $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, such that, for any solution $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ to (7.3.2), it holds that

$$\|u\|_{\infty,\Omega} \leqslant \tilde{C}_1. \tag{7.3.15}$$

Then, there exists a constant $C_2 = C_2(n, K_0, \Omega, \varphi, F, \tilde{C}_1, H) > 0$, independent of $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, such that, for any solution $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ to (7.3.2), it holds that

$$\|\nabla u\|_{\infty,\partial\Omega} \leqslant C_2. \tag{7.3.16}$$

Proof. First of all we notice that, being $\partial\Omega$ compact and $H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ continuous, (7.3.14) implies the existence of a positive constant C_3 such that

$$|H(z_0)| \leqslant H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) - 2C_3 \tag{7.3.17}$$

for any $z_0 \in \partial \Omega$. In order to prove this result we use a barriers argument as in [85, Chapter 14]. Therefore, for any $z_0 \in \partial \Omega$, we have to find a neighborhood \mathcal{N} of z_0 in Ω and two functions $w^+, w^- \in C^2(\mathcal{N})$, called *upper barrier* and *lower barrier* respectively, such that

$$w^+(z_0) = w^-(z_0) = \sigma\varphi(z_0),$$
$$w^-(z) \le u(z) \le w^+(z)$$

for any $z \in \partial \mathcal{N}$,

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F)) \leqslant \sigma H$$

for any $z \in \mathcal{N}$ and

$$\operatorname{div}(\pi^h_{\varepsilon}(\nabla w^- + \sigma F)) \geqslant \sigma H$$

for any $z \in \mathcal{N}$. In this proof we deal only with the upper barrier, being the other case analogous. In order to find an upper barrier, we consider a tubular neighborhood \mathcal{O} of $\partial\Omega$ and we let $\Gamma_{\mu} := \{x \in \overline{\Omega} : d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(x) < \mu\}$, where $\mu > 0$ is small enough to ensure that $\Gamma_{\mu} \in \mathcal{O}$ and $d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ denotes the Finsler distance from the boundary. We define $w^+ : \Gamma_{\mu}\mathbb{R}$ by $w^+(z) := kd_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) + \sigma\varphi(z)$, where k > 0 has to be chosen. First, thanks to (7.1.12), $w^+ \in C^2(\overline{\Gamma_{\mu}})$, and for any $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$ there exists a unique $z_0 \in \partial\Omega$ such that $d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) = |z - z_0|_{K_0}$. Moreover, it is clear that $w^+(z_0) = \sigma\varphi(z_0)$ for any $z_0 \in \partial\Omega$. Thanks to (7.3.15), if we choose

$$k \geqslant \frac{\tilde{C}_1 + \|\varphi\|_{\infty,\Omega}}{\mu},$$

it follows that $w^+(z) \ge u(x)$ for any $z \in \Omega$ with $d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) = \mu$, and so we conclude that $u(z) \le w^+(z)$ for any $z \in \partial\Gamma_{\mu}$. We are left to show that w^+ is a subsolution to (7.3.2). Therefore it suffices to show that

$$(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla w^+ + \sigma F|^3_*)^{\frac{5}{3}} (\operatorname{div}(\pi^h_{\varepsilon}(\nabla w^+ + \sigma F)) - \sigma H) \leqslant 0$$

on Γ_{μ} . Taking $k > \sup_{\Omega} |-F|_*$, (7.1.6) ensures that $k \nabla d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) + \sigma F(z) \neq 0$ for any $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$ and $\sigma \in [0, 1]$. Let us notice that Proposition 7.2.1 and a simple computation imply that

$$\begin{split} (\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{5}{3}} \operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F)) \\ &= (\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{5}{3}} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\pi(\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F)|\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}}{(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{3}{3}}}\right) \\ &= (\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3}) \underbrace{\operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F)|\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{2})}_{A} \\ &+ (\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{5}{3}} \\ &\underbrace{|\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{2}\langle \pi(\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F), \nabla\left(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3}\right)^{-\frac{2}{3}}\right)\rangle}_{B}. \end{split}$$

We estimate separately A and B. In the following computations we let $d := d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}$ and $R_{\sigma} := \sigma \nabla \varphi + \sigma F$. We are going to exploit the fact that, thanks to the homogeneity properties of the equation, the contribution of R_{σ} as $k \to \infty$ is negligible. Let us notice that by (7.1.6) and (2.1.6) we get

$$\pi(\nabla d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}) \cdot D^2 d_{K_0,\partial\Omega} = 0. \tag{7.3.18}$$

Hence, thanks to (7.1.6), (7.3.18), the 1-homogeneity of $|\cdot|_*$, the 0-homogeneity

of π , the -1-homogeneity of $D\pi$ and the properties of $|\cdot|_*$, it holds that

$$\begin{split} A = &|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_{*}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2n} D_{i} \left(\pi_{i}(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma})\right) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{2n} \pi_{i}(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma})D_{i} \left(|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_{*}^{2}\right) \\ = &|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_{*}^{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} D_{i}\pi_{j}(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma})(kD_{ij}d + D_{i}R_{\sigma,j}) \\ &+ 2|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_{*}\pi(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}) \cdot (kD^{2}d + DR_{\sigma}) \cdot \pi(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma})^{T} \\ = &k^{2} \left|\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k}\right|_{*}^{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} D_{i}\pi_{j} \left(\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k}\right) \left(D_{ij}d + \frac{D_{i}R_{\sigma,j}}{k}\right) \\ &+ 2k^{2} \left|\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k}\right|_{*} \pi \left(\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k}\right) \cdot \left(D^{2}d + \frac{DR_{\sigma}}{k}\right) \cdot \pi \left(\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k}\right)^{T} \\ = &k^{2}(1 + o(1))(\operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla d)) + o(1)) \\ &+ 2k^{2}(1 + o(1))(\pi(\nabla d) \cdot D^{2}d \cdot \pi(\nabla d)^{T} + o(1)) \\ = &k^{2}\operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla d)) + o(k^{2}), \end{split}$$

which allows to infer that

$$(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla w^+ + \sigma F|^3_*)A = k^5 \operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla d)) + o(k^5)$$

as $k \to \infty$, where $o(k^2)$ is uniform with respect to $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$, $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ and $\sigma \in [0,1]$. Now, exploiting the same properties as above, we estimate B.

$$\begin{split} (\varepsilon^3 + |k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_*^3)^{\frac{5}{3}}B \\ &= -2|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_*^4 \langle \pi(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}), \nabla(|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_*) \rangle \\ &= -2|k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}|_*^4 \pi(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma}) \cdot (kD^2d + DR_{\sigma}) \cdot \pi(k\nabla d + R_{\sigma})^T \\ &= -2k^5 \left| \nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k} \right|_*^4 \pi \left(\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k} \right) \cdot \left(D^2d + \frac{DR_{\sigma}}{k} \right) \cdot \pi \left(\nabla d + \frac{R_{\sigma}}{k} \right)^T \\ &= -2k^5(1 + o(1))(\pi(\nabla d) \cdot D^2d \cdot \pi(\nabla d)^T + o(1)) \\ &= -2k^5(1 + o(1))o(1) \\ &= o(k^5). \end{split}$$

as $k \to \infty$ and uniformly with respect to $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$, $\sigma \in [0,1]$ and $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$. Finally, it is easy to see that

$$-(\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{5}{3}}\sigma H \leq (\varepsilon^{3} + |\nabla w^{+} + \sigma F|_{*}^{3})^{\frac{5}{3}}|H| = k^{5}|H| + o(k^{5})$$

as $k \to \infty$ and uniformly with respect to $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$. In the end we get that

$$(\varepsilon^3 + |\nabla w^+ + \sigma F|^3_*)^{\frac{5}{3}} (\operatorname{div}(\pi^h_{\varepsilon}(\nabla w^+ + \sigma F)) - \sigma H) \leqslant k^5 (\operatorname{div}(\pi(\nabla d)) + |H|) + o(k^5)$$

as $k \to \infty$ and uniformly with respect to $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$.

Now, let $z \in \Gamma_{\mu}$ and let $z_0 \in \partial \Omega$ be such that $d(z) = |z - z_0|_{K_0}$. Thanks to the Lipschitz continuity of H and the equivalence between $|\cdot|_{K_0}$ and the Euclidean norm, there exists a constant C_4 such that

$$|H|(z) = |H|(z_0) + |H|(z) - |H|(z_0) \le |H|(z_0) + C_4 d(z) \le |H|(z_0) + C_4 \mu$$
(7.3.19)

Hence, thanks to Remark 7.1.4, (7.1.8) and (7.3.17), we conclude that

$$div(\pi(\nabla d))(z) + |H|(z_0) + C_4\mu = div_{\Sigma_{d(z)}}(\pi(\nabla d))(z) + |H|(z_0) + C_4\mu$$

$$\leq div_{\partial\Omega}(\pi(\nabla d))(z_0) + |H|(z_0) + C_4\mu$$

$$= -H_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) + |H|(z_0) + C_4\mu$$

$$\leq -C_3 < 0,$$

provided that $\mu \leq \frac{C_3}{C_4}$. Hence we found an upper barrier, from which the thesis follows.

Remark 7.3.7. Assume that n = 1, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ and $K_0 \in C^2_+$ be a convex body of \mathbb{R}^2 . If (7.3.14) holds then Ω is strictly convex. Indeed, by Proposition 7.1.4 we have

$$0 \leq |H| < -\frac{\langle D_{e_1} N_{z_0}, e_1 \rangle}{k^{K_0}(\pi(N_{z_0}))} = \frac{k^{\partial \Omega}(z_0)}{k^{K_0}(\pi(N_{z_0}))}$$

where k^{K_0} and $k^{\partial\Omega}$ are the Euclidean geodesic curvature of ∂K and $\partial\Omega$. Since k^{K_0} is strictly positive we obtain $k^{\partial\Omega}(z_0) > 0$, hence Ω is strictly convex.

To conclude this section, inspired by [158] we want to show that, in the particular case in which H is constant, then we can exploit (7.3.14) in order to obtain uniform estimates of the function, without requiring the validity of (7.3.4). Again, in order to apply the results of § 7.1.1.1 and § 7.1.1.2, we assume that K_0 is a convex body in C^{∞}_+ such that $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$ and $\partial\Omega$ belongs to $C^{2,1}_-$.

We denote by $B_K(p,r)$ the ball of radius r > 0 in \mathbb{R}^d associated to the distance $d_{K,p}$ and R the Ridge of Ω as defined in §7.1.1.1 and §7.1.1.2 respectively.

Proposition 7.3.8. Let K_0 be a convex body in C^{∞}_+ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded domain with $C^{2,1}$ boundary, let $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ and

let H be a constant which satisfies (7.3.14). There exists a constant $C_1 = C_1(n, K_0, \Omega, \varphi, H, F) > 0$, independent of $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, such that, for any solution $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ to (7.3.2), it holds that

$$\|u\|_{\infty,\Omega} \leqslant C_1.$$

Proof. Let us define the function $v : \operatorname{int} \Omega_1 \mathbb{R}$ by

$$v(z) := \sup_{\partial \Omega} |\varphi| + k d_{K_0, \partial \Omega}(z)$$

for any $z \in \Omega_1$, where k > 0 has to be chosen and Ω_1 is the set defined in (7.1.11). We already know (cf. (7.1.12)) that $v \in C^2(\operatorname{int} \Omega_1)$. We repeat the computations of the proof of Proposition 7.3.6, avoiding (7.3.19) thanks to the fact that H is constant, to find k > 0, independent of $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ and $z \in \Omega_1$, such that v is a subsolution to (7.3.2) on $\operatorname{int} \Omega_1$. Therefore, arguing as in the proof of [85, Theorem 10.7], it follows that w := u - v is a weak supersolution on $\operatorname{int} \Omega_1$ to a linear elliptic equation of the form

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2n} D_i(a_{i,j}(z)D_jw(z)) + \sum_{i=1}^{2n} c_i(z)D_iw(z) = 0.$$

Hence, thanks to [85, Theorem 8.1] and recalling (7.1.13), it follows that

$$\sup_{\Omega_1} (u-v) \leqslant \sup_{\partial \Omega \cup R} ((u-v)^+).$$

Noticing that $u - v \leq 0$ on $\partial \Omega$ and that $\overline{\operatorname{int} \Omega_1} = \overline{\Omega}$, we obtain that

$$u(z) - v(z) \leqslant \sup_{\Omega} (u - v) = \sup_{\Omega_1} (u - v) \leqslant \sup_{\partial \Omega_1} ((u - v)^+) = \sup_{R} ((u - v)^+)$$

for any $z \in \Omega$. We are left to show that $\sup_R((u-v)^+) \leq 0$. Indeed, assume by contradiction that $\sup_R((u-v)^+) > 0$. Since R is compact, there exists $z_0 \in R$ such that

$$u(z_0) - v(z_0) = \sup_R ((u - v)^+) = \sup_R (u - v).$$

Moreover, z_0 is a maximum point for u - v on $\overline{\Omega}$. Let us fix $y_0 \in \partial\Omega$ such that $d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) = |z_0 - y_0|_{K_0}$. Then, thanks to Proposition 7.1.5, it is easy to see that

$$d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) = |z - y_0|_{K_0} \tag{7.3.20}$$

for any z belonging to (y_0, z_0) , the segment connecting y_0 and z_0 . Let now $\nu := \frac{y_0 - z_0}{|y_0 - z_0|}$. By (7.3.20) it holds that $v(z) < v(z_0)$ for any $z \in (y_0, z_0)$, and moreover

$$D_{\nu}^{+}v(z_{0}) := \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{v(z_{0} + h\nu) - v(z_{0})}{h} < 0.$$
(7.3.21)

Since z_0 is a maximum point of u - v, it holds in particular that $D_{\nu}^+ u(z_0) \leq D_{\nu}^+ v(z_0)$, which implies, together with (7.3.21), that $D_{\nu}^+ u(z_0) = D_{\nu} u(z_0) < 0$. This proves that $Du(z_0) \neq 0$. Since then z_0 is a regular point for u, the level set $\{z \in \Omega : u(z) = u(z_0)\}$ is locally a C^2 hypersurface. Therefore there exists a small Euclidean ball B_{eu} such that B_{eu} is tangent to the level set at z_0 and moreover $B_{eu} \subseteq \{z \in \Omega : u(z) \ge u(z_0)\}$. Now, since by our assumptions the Finsler balls relative to $-K_0$ are uniformly convex and C^2 , there exists $\eta > 0$ and $x_0 \in \Omega$ such that

$$\overline{B_{-K_0}(x_0,\eta)} \subseteq \{z \in \Omega : u(z) \ge u(z_0)\}$$

$$(7.3.22)$$

and $B_{-K_0}(x_0, \eta)$ is tangent to B_{eu} at z_0 . Indeed, fix a Finsler ball tangent to B_{eu} at z_0 relative to $-K_0$, say B_F . On one hand, the principal curvatures of ∂B_{eu} at z_0 are fixed. On the other hand, noticing that the principal curvatures of a C_+^2 convex set admit a positive lower bound, we can dilate and translate B_F to make the curvature of B_F as big as we want to ensure that (7.3.22) holds. Notice that

$$d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) \ge d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0) \tag{7.3.23}$$

for any $z \in B_{-K_0}(x_0, \eta)$. Indeed, if by contradiction there exists $z \in \overline{B_{-K_0}(x_0, \eta)}$ such that $d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) < d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0)$, then (7.3.22) would imply

$$u(z) - kd_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) \ge u(z_0) - kd_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z) > u(z_0) - kd_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0),$$

a contradiction with the maximality of z_0 . Let now $w_0 \in \partial \Omega$ be such that $d_{K,\partial\Omega}(x_0) = |x_0 - w_0|_{K_0}$, and let b_0 be the unique point of intersection between $\partial B_{-K_0}(x_0, \eta)$ and the segment joining w_0 and x_0 . Then by (7.1.1), (7.3.20), (7.3.23), the choice of b_0 and the strict convexity of K_0 , it holds that

$$d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(x_0) = |x_0 - w_0|_{K_0} = |x_0 - b_0|_{K_0} + |b_0 - w_0|_{K_0}$$

= $\eta + d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(b_0) \ge \eta + d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0).$

On the other hand, (7.1.1) and the triangle inequality imply

$$d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(x_0) \leq |x_0 - y_0|_{K_0} \leq |x_0 - z_0|_{K_0} + |z_0 - y_0|_{K_0} = \eta + d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(z_0).$$

Putting together the previous inequalities we get that

$$d_{K_0,\partial\Omega}(x_0) = |x_0 - y_0|_{K_0} = |x_0 - z_0|_{K_0} + |z_0 - y_0|_{K_0}, \qquad (7.3.24)$$

from which in particular we conclude, exploiting again the strict convexity of K_0 , that x_0 lies on (y_0, x_0) . Therefore, thanks to this fact, the first equality in (7.3.24) and Proposition 7.1.5, we conclude that $z_0 \in int \Omega_1$, which is a contradiction. In the end we proved that

$$\sup_{\Omega} u \leq \sup_{\partial \Omega} |\varphi| + k \max_{\overline{\Omega}} d_{K_0, \partial \Omega}$$

Since the converse estimate can be obtained in a similar way, the thesis is proved. $\hfill \Box$

7.4 Existence of Lipschitz minimizer for the sub-Finsler functional I

Thanks to the *a priori* estimates of the previous section, together with Proposition 7.3.1 and the uniformity of the estimates with respect to $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, we are in position both to solve the Finsler Prescribed Mean Curvature Equation and to pass to the limit and find a solution to the Sub-Finsler Prescribed Mean Curvature equation.

Theorem 7.4.1. Let $K_0 \in C^{\infty}_+$ be a convex body such that $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a bounded domain with $C^{2,1}$ boundary. Let $\varphi \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$, for $0 < \alpha < 1$, and let $F \in C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ be such that (7.3.10) is satisfied. Assume that H is a constant such that (7.3.14) holds. Then, for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$, the exists a function $u_{\varepsilon} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ which solves (7.3.1). Moreover, there exists a constant M > 0, independent of $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$, such that any solution u_{ε} to (7.3.1) satisfies

$$\sup_{\Omega} |u_{\varepsilon}| + \sup_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}| \le M.$$
(7.4.1)

Finally, there exists a Lipschitz continuous minimizer $u_0 \in Lip(\overline{\Omega})$ for \mathcal{I} with $u_0 = \varphi$ on $\partial\Omega$.

Proof. Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. By Proposition 7.3.8, Proposition 7.3.5 and Proposition 7.3.6, there exists a constant M > 0 such that, for any $\sigma \in [0, 1]$, any solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ to the problem (7.3.2) satisfies

$$\sup_{\Omega} |u| + \sup_{\Omega} |\nabla u| \leqslant M.$$

Then by Proposition 7.3.1 there exists a solution $u_{\varepsilon} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\bar{\Omega})$ to

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(\pi_{\varepsilon}^{h}(\nabla u + F)) = H & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = \varphi & \text{in } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Again by Proposition 7.3.8, Proposition 7.3.5 and Proposition 7.3.6, we have that

$$\sup_{\Omega} |u_{\varepsilon}| + \sup_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}| \le M, \tag{7.4.2}$$

where the constant M > 0 is uniform in $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. Let $\{\varepsilon_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset (0, 1)$ be a sequence such that $\varepsilon_j \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$. Since M is uniform in ε by (7.4.2) we gain that $\sup_{\Omega} |u_{\varepsilon_j}| \leq M$ and that for any $x, y \in \Omega$

$$|u_{\varepsilon_j}(x) - u_{\varepsilon_j}(y)| \leqslant M|x - y|.$$
(7.4.3)

Then, by Ascoli-Arzelà theorem there exists $u_0 \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $u_{\varepsilon_j} \to u_0$ uniformly in $\overline{\Omega}$. It is clear that $u = \varphi$ on $\partial\Omega$. Moreover, taking the limit as $j \to 0$ in (7.4.3), we gain that

$$\sup_{x \neq y} \frac{|u_0(x) - u_0(y)|}{|x - y|} \le M,$$

thus u_0 is Lipschitz. We claim that u_0 is a minimizer for \mathcal{I} defined in (7.1.16). Indeed, we have that $||u_{\varepsilon_j}||_{W^{1,1}(\Omega)} \leq M|\Omega|$, $||u_0||_{W^{1,1}(\Omega)} \leq M|\Omega|$ and u_{ε_j} converge to u_0 in $L^1(\Omega)$. Moreover, the function $(p, (x, y)) \to |p + F(x, y)|_*$ is positive, continuous and convex in p. Therefore, by [132, Theorem 4.1.2] \mathcal{I} , is lower semicontinuous with respect to the strong L^1 -topology, from which we have that

$$\mathcal{I}(u_0) \leqslant \liminf_{i \to \infty} \mathcal{I}(u_{\varepsilon_j}). \tag{7.4.4}$$

For each $v \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ such that $v - \varphi \in W^{1,1}_0(\Omega)$, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}(u_{\varepsilon_j}) &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon_j} + F|_* \, dz + \int_{\Omega} H u_{\varepsilon_j} \, dz \\ &\leqslant \int_{\Omega} (\varepsilon_j^3 + |\nabla u_{\varepsilon_j} + F|_*^3)^{\frac{1}{3}} \, dz + \int_{\Omega} H u_{\varepsilon_j} \, dz \\ &\leqslant \int_{\Omega} (\varepsilon_j^3 + |\nabla v + F|_*^3)^{\frac{1}{3}} \, dz + \int_{\Omega} H v \, dz \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon_j |\Omega| + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v + F|_* \, dz + \int_{\Omega} H v \, dz, \end{aligned}$$
(7.4.5)

where we have used the fact that the Dirichlet solution $u_{\varepsilon_j} \in C^{2\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ is a minimizer for the functional $v \to \int_{\Omega} (\varepsilon_j^3 + |\nabla v + F|_*^3)^{\frac{1}{3}} + \int_{\Omega} Hv$ for each $v \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ s.t. $v - \varphi \in W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Passing to the limit in (7.4.5) and taking into account (7.4.4), we obtain $\mathcal{I}(u_0) \leq \mathcal{I}(v)$ for each $v \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ s.t. $v - \varphi \in W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)$.

Remark 7.4.2. A deeper look to [113; 112] suggests that it should be possible to prove that the aforementioned results still hold only assuming that K_0 is a convex body in $C_+^{2,\alpha}$ with $0 \in \operatorname{int} K_0$, for some $0 < \alpha < 1$. Accordingly, it is reasonable that in Theorem 7.4.1 the regularity of ∂K_0 can be weakened to $C^{2,\alpha}$, for some $0 < \alpha < 1$.

Appendix A

Alternative proof of Theorem 2.3.3

Given a measure μ , we say that a family of measurable functions H is *PCU*stable if for every family $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$ of $C^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ that forms a partition of unity at all p in \mathbb{R}^d , and every subset $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ in H, then $\sum_i \alpha_i v_i$ is an element of H.

A normal convex integrad is a measurable function $j : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty, -\infty\}$ such that for every p in Ω , $j(p, \cdot)$ is convex and lower semicontinuous.

The family

$$H = \{g \in C_c^1(V; \mathbb{R}^k) : |g|_{K, +\infty} \leqslant 1\}$$

is PCU-stable, since

$$|\sum_{i\in I} \alpha_i(p)g_i(p)| = \sum_{i\in I} \alpha_i(p)|g_i(p)| \leq 1.$$

We consider the normal convex functional

$$j(p,z) = -\langle z, \nu_h(p) \rangle.$$

Given p in \mathbb{R}^d , let us prove that

$$\inf_{g \in -H} j(p, g(p)) = -|\nu_h(p)|_{-K,*}.$$

It is clear from the definition of the norm that $|g|_K = |-g|_{-K}$. Thus, for $g \in -H$ we have

$$-\langle g, \nu_h \rangle \geqslant -|\nu_h|_{-K,*}.$$

On the other hand, let $\varphi \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^k)$ such that $\varphi(p) = 1$ and $0 \leq \varphi(q) \leq 1$ for every $q \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Therefore the function $\varphi \pi_{-K}(\nu_h)$ is in $C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^k)$ and $|\varphi \pi_{-K}(\nu_h)|_{-K,+\infty} \leq 1$. Moreover,

$$\langle \varphi(p)\pi_{-K}(\nu_h(p)), \nu_h(p) \rangle = |\nu_h(p)|_{-K,*}.$$

Taking the infimum in H, we get

$$\inf_{g \in H} g(p) \leqslant |\nu_h(p)|_*.$$

Therefore, by Theorem 1 in [20], we get

$$\sup_{\nu \in H} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle U, \nu_h \rangle d|\partial E| = \inf_{\nu \in -H} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} -\langle U, \nu_h \rangle d|\partial E|$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} -|\nu_h|_{-K,*} d|\partial E| = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nu_h|_{K,*} d|\partial E|.$$

By (2.3.3) and the definition of perimeter, we get (2.3.5).

Bibliography

- [1] U. Abresch and H. Rosenberg. A Hopf differential for constant mean curvature surfaces in $\mathbf{S}^2 \times \mathbf{R}$ and $\mathbf{H}^2 \times \mathbf{R}$. Acta Math., 193(2):141–174, 2004.
- [2] L. J. Alías, M. Dajczer, and H. Rosenberg. The Dirichlet problem for constant mean curvature surfaces in Heisenberg space. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 30(4):513-522, 2007.
- [3] F. J. Almgren, Jr. Existence and regularity almost everywhere of solutions to elliptic variational problems among surfaces of varying topological type and singularity structure. Ann. of Math. (2), 87:321–391, 1968.
- [4] L. Ambrosio. Some fine properties of sets of finite perimeter in Ahlfors regular metric measure spaces. Adv. Math., 159(1):51-67, 2001.
- [5] L. Ambrosio, F. Serra Cassano, and D. Vittone. Intrinsic regular hypersurfaces in Heisenberg groups. J. Geom. Anal., 16(2):187-232, 2006.
- [6] G. Antonelli, E. Bruè, M. Fogagnolo, and M. Pozzetta. On the existence of isoperimetric regions in manifolds with nonnegative Ricci curvature and Euclidean volume growth. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 61(2):Paper No. 77, 40, 2022.
- [7] G. Antonelli, E. Pasqualetto, and M. Pozzetta. Isoperimetric sets in spaces with lower bounds on the Ricci curvature. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 220:Paper No. 112839, 59, 2022.
- [8] A. A. Ardentov, E. Le Donne, and Y. L. Sachkov. Sub-Finsler geodesics on the Cartan group. *Regul. Chaotic Dyn.*, 24(1):36–60, 2019.
- [9] Z. M. Balogh, A. Kristály, and K. Sipos. Geometric inequalities on Heisenberg groups. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 57(2):Paper No. 61, 41, 2018.
- [10] J. a. L. Barbosa and M. do Carmo. Stability of hypersurfaces with constant mean curvature. *Math. Z.*, 185(3):339–353, 1984.

- [11] J. L. Barbosa, M. do Carmo, and J. Eschenburg. Stability of hypersurfaces of constant mean curvature in Riemannian manifolds. *Math.* Z., 197(1):123-138, 1988.
- [12] D. Barilari, U. Boscain, E. Le Donne, and M. Sigalotti. Sub-Finsler structures from the time-optimal control viewpoint for some nilpotent distributions. J. Dyn. Control Syst., 23(3):547–575, 2017.
- [13] D. Barilari and L. Rizzi. Sub-Riemannian interpolation inequalities. Invent. Math., 215(3):977–1038, 2019.
- [14] V. Barone Adesi, F. Serra Cassano, and D. Vittone. The Bernstein problem for intrinsic graphs in Heisenberg groups and calibrations. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 30(1):17–49, 2007.
- [15] C. Bavard and P. Pansu. Sur le volume minimal de R². Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 19(4):479-490, 1986.
- [16] S. G. Bobkov. The Brunn-Minkowski inequality in spaces with bitriangular laws of composition. volume 179, pages 2–6. 2011. Problems in mathematical analysis. No. 61.
- [17] S. G. Bobkov and M. Ledoux. From Brunn-Minkowski to Brascamp-Lieb and to logarithmic Sobolev inequalities. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 10(5):1028-1052, 2000.
- [18] E. Bombieri, E. De Giorgi, and E. Giusti. Minimal cones and the Bernstein problem. *Invent. Math.*, 7:243-268, 1969.
- [19] C. Borell. The Brunn-Minkowski inequality in Gauss space. Invent. Math., 30(2):207-216, 1975.
- [20] G. Bouchitté and M. Valadier. Integral representation of convex functionals on a space of measures. J. Funct. Anal., 80(2):398-420, 1988.
- [21] H. J. Brascamp and E. H. Lieb. On extensions of the Brunn-Minkowski and Prékopa-Leindler theorems, including inequalities for log concave functions, and with an application to the diffusion equation. J. Functional Analysis, 22(4):366-389, 1976.
- [22] H. Busemann. The isoperimetric problem for Minkowski area. Amer. J. Math., 71:743-762, 1949.
- [23] R. Caccioppoli. Misura e integrazione sugli insiemi dimensionalmente orientati. II. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. (8), 12:137-146, 1952.

- [24] L. Capogna, G. Citti, and M. Manfredini. Regularity of noncharacteristic minimal graphs in the Heisenberg group ℍ¹. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 58(5):2115-2160, 2009.
- [25] L. Capogna, G. Citti, and M. Manfredini. Smoothness of Lipschitz minimal intrinsic graphs in Heisenberg groups \mathbb{H}^n , n > 1. J. Reine Angew. Math., 648:75–110, 2010.
- [26] L. Capogna, D. Danielli, and N. Garofalo. The geometric Sobolev embedding for vector fields and the isoperimetric inequality. *Comm. Anal. Geom.*, 2(2):203-215, 1994.
- [27] L. Capogna, D. Danielli, S. D. Pauls, and J. T. Tyson. An introduction to the Heisenberg group and the sub-Riemannian isoperimetric problem, volume 259 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2007.
- [28] C. Carathéodory. Untersuchungen über die grundlagen der thermodynamik. Math. Ann., 67(3), 1909.
- [29] L. Cesari. Sulle funzioni a variazione limitata. Ann. Scuola Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (2), 5(3-4):299-313, 1936.
- [30] I. Chavel. Isoperimetric inequalities, volume 145 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001. Differential geometric and analytic perspectives.
- [31] J.-H. Cheng, H.-L. Chiu, J.-F. Hwang, and P. Yang. Umbilicity and characterization of Pansu spheres in the Heisenberg group. J. Reine Angew. Math., 738:203-235, 2018.
- [32] J.-H. Cheng and J.-F. Hwang. Uniqueness of generalized p-area minimizers and integrability of a horizontal normal in the Heisenberg group. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 50(3-4):579-597, 2014.
- [33] J.-H. Cheng, J.-F. Hwang, A. Malchiodi, and P. Yang. Minimal surfaces in pseudohermitian geometry. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 4(1):129-177, 2005.
- [34] J.-H. Cheng, J.-F. Hwang, A. Malchiodi, and P. Yang. A Codazzi-like equation and the singular set for C¹ smooth surfaces in the Heisenberg group. J. Reine Angew. Math., 671:131–198, 2012.
- [35] J.-H. Cheng, J.-F. Hwang, and P. Yang. Existence and uniqueness for p-area minimizers in the Heisenberg group. Math. Ann., 337(2):253– 293, 2007.

- [36] J.-H. Cheng, J.-F. Hwang, and P. Yang. Regularity of C¹ smooth surfaces with prescribed *p*-mean curvature in the Heisenberg group. *Math. Ann.*, 344(1):1–35, 2009.
- [37] W.-L. Chow. Über Systeme von linearen partiellen Differentialgleichungen erster Ordnung. Math. Ann., 117:98–105, 1939.
- [38] G. Citti, G. Giovannardi, and M. Ritoré. Variational formulas for submanifolds of fixed degree. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 60(6):Paper No. 233, 44, 2021.
- [39] G. Citti and A. Sarti. A cortical based model of perceptual completion in the roto-translation space. J. Math. Imaging Vision, 24(3):307–326, 2006.
- [40] c. Cobzaş. Functional analysis in asymmetric normed spaces. Frontiers in Mathematics. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2013.
- [41] D. Cordero-Erausquin, R. J. McCann, and M. Schmuckenschläger. A Riemannian interpolation inequality à la Borell, Brascamp and Lieb. *Invent. Math.*, 146(2):219–257, 2001.
- [42] L. J. Corwin and F. P. Greenleaf. Representations of nilpotent Lie groups and their applications. Part I, volume 18 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990. Basic theory and examples.
- [43] B. Daniel. Isometric immersions into 3-dimensional homogeneous manifolds. Comment. Math. Helv., 82(1):87–131, 2007.
- [44] D. Danielli, N. Garofalo, and D. M. Nhieu. Sub-Riemannian calculus on hypersurfaces in Carnot groups. Adv. Math., 215(1):292–378, 2007.
- [45] D. Danielli, N. Garofalo, and D. M. Nhieu. A notable family of entire intrinsic minimal graphs in the Heisenberg group which are not perimeter minimizing. *Amer. J. Math.*, 130(2):317–339, 2008.
- [46] D. Danielli, N. Garofalo, and D.-M. Nhieu. A partial solution of the isoperimetric problem for the Heisenberg group. Forum Math., 20(1):99–143, 2008.
- [47] D. Danielli, N. Garofalo, D. M. Nhieu, and S. D. Pauls. Instability of graphical strips and a positive answer to the Bernstein problem in the Heisenberg group ℍ¹. J. Differential Geom., 81(2):251-295, 2009.
- [48] D. Danielli, N. Garofalo, D.-M. Nhieu, and S. D. Pauls. The Bernstein problem for embedded surfaces in the Heisenberg group H¹. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 59(2):563-594, 2010.

- [49] G. David and S. Semmes. Quasiminimal surfaces of codimension 1 and John domains. *Pacific J. Math.*, 183(2):213–277, 1998.
- [50] E. De Giorgi. Su una teoria generale della misura (r-1)-dimensionale in uno spazio ad r dimensioni. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 36:191–213, 1954.
- [51] E. De Giorgi. Nuovi teoremi relativi alle misure (r-1)-dimensionali in uno spazio ad r dimensioni. *Ricerche Mat.*, 4:95–113, 1955.
- [52] E. De Giorgi. Sulla proprietà isoperimetrica dell'ipersfera, nella classe degli insiemi aventi frontiera orientata di misura finita. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Mem. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Sez. Ia (8), 5:33-44, 1958.
- [53] E. De Giorgi. Frontiere orientate di misura minima. Editrice Tecnico Scientifica, Pisa, 1961. Seminario di Matematica della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa, 1960-61.
- [54] G. De Philippis and A. De Rosa. The anisotropic Min-Max theory: Existence of anisotropic minimal and CMC surfaces. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2205.12931, May 2022.
- [55] A. De Rosa and R. Tione. Regularity for graphs with bounded anisotropic mean curvature. *Inventiones Mathematicae*, (2), 2022.
- [56] A. Dinghas. Über einen geometrischen Satz von Wulff für die Gleichgewichtsform von Kristallen. Z. Kristallogr., Mineral. Petrogr., 105(Abt. A.):304-314, 1944.
- [57] M. P. do Carmo. *Riemannian geometry*. Mathematics: Theory & Applications. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1992. Translated from the second Portuguese edition by Francis Flaherty.
- [58] S. Don, L. Lussardi, A. Pinamonti, and G. Treu. Lipschitz minimizers for a class of integral functionals under the bounded slope condition. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 216:Paper No. 112689, 27, 2022.
- [59] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy. Measure theory and fine properties of functions. Textbooks in Mathematics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, revised edition, 2015.
- [60] W. D. Evans and D. J. Harris. Sobolev embeddings for generalized ridged domains. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 54(1):141-175, 1987.
- [61] H. Federer. Geometric measure theory. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., New York, 1969.

- [62] H. Federer. The singular sets of area minimizing rectifiable currents with codimension one and of area minimizing flat chains modulo two with arbitrary codimension. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 76:767–771, 1970.
- [63] H. Federer and W. H. Fleming. Normal and integral currents. Ann. of Math. (2), 72:458–520, 1960.
- [64] A. Figalli. Optimal transport: old and new. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 47(4):723-727, 2010.
- [65] W. H. Fleming. On the oriented Plateau problem. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo (2), 11:69-90, 1962.
- [66] I. Fonseca. The Wulff theorem revisited. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A, 432(1884):125-145, 1991.
- [67] I. Fonseca and S. Müller. A uniqueness proof for the Wulff theorem. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 119(1-2):125-136, 1991.
- [68] V. Franceschi, G. P. Leonardi, and R. Monti. Quantitative isoperimetric inequalities in ℍⁿ. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 54(3):3229–3239, 2015.
- [69] V. Franceschi, R. Monti, A. Righini, and M. Sigalotti. The isoperimetric problem for regular and crystalline norms in H¹. arXiv:2007.11384, 22 Jul 2020.
- [70] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni, and F. Serra Cassano. Meyers-Serrin type theorems and relaxation of variational integrals depending on vector fields. *Houston J. Math.*, 22(4):859–890, 1996.
- [71] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni, and F. Serra Cassano. Rectifiability and perimeter in the Heisenberg group. Math. Ann., 321(3):479-531, 2001.
- [72] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni, and F. Serra Cassano. Regular hypersurfaces, intrinsic perimeter and implicit function theorem in Carnot groups. *Comm. Anal. Geom.*, 11(5):909-944, 2003.
- [73] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni, and F. Serra Cassano. Regular submanifolds, graphs and area formula in Heisenberg groups. Adv. Math., 211(1):152– 203, 2007.
- [74] M. Galli. First and second variation formulae for the sub-Riemannian area in three-dimensional pseudo-Hermitian manifolds. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 47(1-2):117–157, 2013.
- [75] M. Galli. On the classification of complete area-stationary and stable surfaces in the subriemannian Sol manifold. *Pacific J. Math.*, 271(1):143–157, 2014.

- [76] M. Galli. The regularity of Euclidean Lipschitz boundaries with prescribed mean curvature in three-dimensional contact sub-Riemannian manifolds. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 136:40–50, 2016.
- [77] M. Galli and M. Ritoré. Existence of isoperimetric regions in contact sub-Riemannian manifolds. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 397(2):697–714, 2013.
- [78] M. Galli and M. Ritoré. Area-stationary and stable surfaces of class C^1 in the sub-Riemannian Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 . Adv. Math., 285:737–765, 2015.
- [79] M. Galli and M. Ritoré. Regularity of C¹ surfaces with prescribed mean curvature in three-dimensional contact sub-Riemannian manifolds. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 54(3):2503-2516, 2015.
- [80] S. Gallot. Inégalités isopérimétriques et analytiques sur les variétés riemanniennes. Number 163-164, pages 5–6, 31–91, 281 (1989). 1988. On the geometry of differentiable manifolds (Rome, 1986).
- [81] R. J. Gardner. The Brunn-Minkowski inequality. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 39(3):355-405, 2002.
- [82] N. Garofalo and D.-M. Nhieu. Isoperimetric and Sobolev inequalities for Carnot-Carathéodory spaces and the existence of minimal surfaces. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 49(10):1081–1144, 1996.
- [83] M. Giaquinta. Regolarità delle superfici BV(Ω) con curvatura media assegnata. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. (4), 8:567–578, 1973.
- [84] M. Giaquinta. On the Dirichlet problem for surfaces of prescribed mean curvature. *Manuscripta Math.*, 12:73–86, 1974.
- [85] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger. Elliptic partial differential equations of second order. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. Reprint of the 1998 edition.
- [86] G. Giovannardi. Higher dimensional holonomy map for rules submanifolds in graded manifolds. Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces, 8(1):68–91, 2020.
- [87] G. Giovannardi, J. Pozuelo, and M. Ritoré. Area-minimizing horizontal graphs with low-regularity in the sub-Finsler Heisenberg group ℍ¹. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2204.03474, Apr. 2022.
- [88] G. Giovannardi and M. Ritoré. Regularity of Lipschitz boundaries with prescribed sub-Finsler mean curvature in the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 . J. Differential Equations, 302:474–495, 2021.

- [89] G. Giovannardi and M. Ritoré. The Bernstein problem for Euclidean Lipschitz surfaces in the sub-Finsler Heisenberg group ℍ¹. arXiv eprints, page arXiv:2105.02179, May 2021.
- [90] E. Giusti. On the equation of surfaces of prescribed mean curvature. Existence and uniqueness without boundary conditions. *Invent. Math.*, 46(2):111–137, 1978.
- [91] S. N. Golo and M. Ritoré. Area-minimizing cones in the Heisenberg group H. Ann. Fenn. Math., 46(2):945–956, 2021.
- [92] E. Gonzalez, U. Massari, and I. Tamanini. On the regularity of boundaries of sets minimizing perimeter with a volume constraint. *Indiana* Univ. Math. J., 32(1):25–37, 1983.
- [93] M. Gromov. Carnot-Carathéodory spaces seen from within. In Sub-Riemannian geometry, volume 144 of Progr. Math., pages 79–323. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1996.
- [94] H. Hadwiger and D. Ohmann. Brunn-Minkowskischer Satz und Isoperimetrie. Math. Z., 66:1-8, 1956.
- [95] P. Hajł asz and P. Koskela. Sobolev met Poincaré. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 145(688):x+101, 2000.
- [96] J. Heinonen and P. Koskela. Quasiconformal maps in metric spaces with controlled geometry. Acta Math., 181(1):1-61, 1998.
- [97] R. K. Hladky and S. D. Pauls. Variation of perimeter measure in sub-Riemannian geometry. Int. Electron. J. Geom., 6(1):8–40, 2013.
- [98] L. Hörmander. Hypoelliptic second order differential equations. Acta Math., 119:147–171, 1967.
- [99] A. Hurtado, M. Ritoré, and C. Rosales. The classification of complete stable area-stationary surfaces in the Heisenberg group ℍ¹. Adv. Math., 224(2):561–600, 2010.
- [100] A. Hurtado and C. Rosales. Area-stationary surfaces inside the sub-Riemannian three-sphere. Math. Ann., 340(3):675-708, 2008.
- [101] D. Jerison. The Poincaré inequality for vector fields satisfying Hörmander's condition. Duke Math. J., 53(2):503-523, 1986.
- [102] N. Juillet. Geometric inequalities and generalized Ricci bounds in the Heisenberg group. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (13):2347-2373, 2009.
- [103] A. W. Knapp. Lie groups beyond an introduction, volume 140 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, second edition, 2002.

- [104] H. Knothe. Contributions to the theory of convex bodies. Michigan Math. J., 4:39-52, 1957.
- [105] E. Le Donne. A metric characterization of Carnot groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 143(2):845-849, 2015.
- [106] E. Le Donne. A primer on Carnot groups: homogenous groups, Carnot-Carathéodory spaces, and regularity of their isometries. Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces, 5(1):116-137, 2017.
- [107] E. Le Donne. Lecture notes on sub-Riemannian geometry. Le Donne's website, 2021.
- [108] G. P. Leonardi and S. Masnou. On the isoperimetric problem in the Heisenberg group Hⁿ. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 184(4):533-553, 2005.
- [109] G. P. Leonardi and S. Rigot. Isoperimetric sets on Carnot groups. Houston J. Math., 29(3):609-637, 2003.
- [110] G. P. Leonardi, M. Ritoré, and E. Vernadakis. Isoperimetric inequalities in unbounded convex bodies. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 276(1354):1–86, 2022.
- [111] G. P. Leonardi and G. Saracco. The prescribed mean curvature equation in weakly regular domains. NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., 25(2):Paper No. 9, 29, 2018.
- [112] Y. Li and L. Nirenberg. The distance function to the boundary, Finsler geometry, and the singular set of viscosity solutions of some Hamilton-Jacobi equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 58(1):85–146, 2005.
- [113] Y. Li and L. Nirenberg. Regularity of the distance function to the boundary. *Rend. Accad. Naz. Sci. XL Mem. Mat. Appl.* (5), 29:257– 264, 2005.
- [114] F. Maggi. Sets of finite perimeter and geometric variational problems, volume 135 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2012. An introduction to geometric measure theory.
- [115] V. Magnani and D. Vittone. An intrinsic measure for submanifolds in stratified groups. J. Reine Angew. Math., 619:203-232, 2008.
- [116] A. I. Mal'cev. On a class of homogeneous spaces. Izvestiya Akad. Nauk. SSSR. Ser. Mat., 13:9–32, 1949.
- [117] U. Massari. Esistenza e regolarità delle ipersuperfice di curvatura media assegnata in Rⁿ. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 55:357–382, 1974.

- [118] W. H. Meeks, III, P. Mira, J. Pérez, and A. Ros. Constant mean curvature spheres in homogeneous three-manifolds. *Invent. Math.*, 224(1):147-244, 2021.
- [119] A. C. G. Mennucci. On asymmetric distances. Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces, 1:200-231, 2013.
- [120] A. C. G. Mennucci. Geodesics in asymmetric metric spaces. Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces, 2(1):115-153, 2014.
- [121] E. Milman. The quasi curvature-dimension condition with applications to sub-Riemannian manifolds. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 74(12):2628– 2674, 2021.
- [122] A. Mondino and S. Nardulli. Existence of isoperimetric regions in non-compact Riemannian manifolds under Ricci or scalar curvature conditions. *Comm. Anal. Geom.*, 24(1):115–138, 2016.
- [123] R. Montgomery. A tour of subriemannian geometries, their geodesics and applications, volume 91 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002.
- [124] R. Monti. Brunn-Minkowski and isoperimetric inequality in the Heisenberg group. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math., 28(1):99–109, 2003.
- [125] R. Monti. Heisenberg isoperimetric problem. The axial case. Adv. Calc. Var., 1(1):93–121, 2008.
- [126] R. Monti and M. Rickly. Convex isoperimetric sets in the Heisenberg group. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 8(2):391-415, 2009.
- [127] R. Monti and F. Serra Cassano. Surface measures in Carnot-Carathéodory spaces. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 13(3):339–376, 2001.
- [128] R. Monti, F. Serra Cassano, and D. Vittone. A negative answer to the Bernstein problem for intrinsic graphs in the Heisenberg group. *Boll.* Unione Mat. Ital. (9), 1(3):709-727, 2008.
- [129] R. Monti and D. Vittone. Sets with finite H-perimeter and controlled normal. Math. Z., 270(1-2):351-367, 2012.
- S. Montiel and A. Ros. Curves and surfaces, volume 69 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; Real Sociedad Matemática Española, Madrid, second edition, 2009. Translated from the 1998 Spanish original by Montiel and edited by Donald Babbitt.

- [131] F. Morgan. Geometric measure theory. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988. A beginner's guide.
- [132] C. B. Morrey, Jr. Multiple integrals in the calculus of variations. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008. Reprint of the 1966 edition [MR0202511].
- [133] A. Nagel, E. M. Stein, and S. Wainger. Balls and metrics defined by vector fields. I. Basic properties. Acta Math., 155(1-2):103-147, 1985.
- [134] S. Nardulli. Generalized existence of isoperimetric regions in noncompact Riemannian manifolds and applications to the isoperimetric profile. Asian J. Math., 18(1):1–28, 2014.
- [135] S. Nicolussi and F. Serra Cassano. The Bernstein problem for Lipschitz intrinsic graphs in the Heisenberg group. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 58(4):Paper No. 141, 28, 2019.
- [136] P. Pansu. Une inégalité isopérimétrique sur le groupe de Heisenberg.
 C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 295(2):127-130, 1982.
- [137] P. Pansu. An isoperimetric inequality on the Heisenberg group. Number Special Issue, pages 159–174 (1984). 1983. Conference on differential geometry on homogeneous spaces (Turin, 1983).
- [138] S. D. Pauls. Minimal surfaces in the Heisenberg group. Geom. Dedicata, 104:201–231, 2004.
- [139] A. Pinamonti, F. Serra Cassano, G. Treu, and D. Vittone. BV minimizers of the area functional in the Heisenberg group under the bounded slope condition. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 14(3):907– 935, 2015.
- [140] A. Pinamonti, F. Serra Cassano, G. Treu, and D. Vittone. BV minimizers of the area functional in the Heisenberg group under the bounded slope condition. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 14(3):907– 935, 2015.
- [141] J. Pozuelo. A direct proof of the Brunn-Minkowski inequality in nilpotent Lie groups. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 515(2):Paper No. 126427, 15, 2022.
- [142] J. Pozuelo and M. Ritoré. Pansu-Wulff shapes in H¹. Advances in Calculus of Variations, 2021.
- [143] P. K. Rashevskii. About connecting two points of complete nonholonomic space by admissible curve. Uch. Zapiski Ped. Inst. Libknexta, 2:83-94, 1938. in Russian.

- [144] E. R. Reifenberg. Solution of the Plateau Problem for *m*-dimensional surfaces of varying topological type. Acta Math., 104:1–92, 1960.
- [145] M. Ritoré. Constant geodesic curvature curves and isoperimetric domains in rotationally symmetric surfaces. Comm. Anal. Geom., 9(5):1093-1138, 2001.
- [146] M. Ritoré. Examples of area-minimizing surfaces in the sub-Riemannian Heisenberg group ℍ¹ with low regularity. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 34(2):179–192, 2009.
- [147] M. Ritoré. A proof by calibration of an isoperimetric inequality in the Heisenberg group ℍⁿ. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 44(1-2):47-60, 2012.
- [148] M. Ritoré. Isoperimetric inequalities in Riemannian manifolds. Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, to appear.
- [149] M. Ritoré and A. Ros. Stable constant mean curvature tori and the isoperimetric problem in three space forms. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 67(2):293-305, 1992.
- [150] M. Ritoré and C. Rosales. Existence and characterization of regions minimizing perimeter under a volume constraint inside Euclidean cones. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 356(11):4601–4622, 2004.
- [151] M. Ritoré and C. Rosales. Area-stationary surfaces in the Heisenberg group ℍ¹. Adv. Math., 219(2):633-671, 2008.
- [152] M. Ritoré and J. Yepes Nicolás. Brunn-Minkowski inequalities in product metric measure spaces. Adv. Math., 325:824–863, 2018.
- [153] C. Rosales. Complete stable CMC surfaces with empty singular set in Sasakian sub-Riemannian 3-manifolds. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 43(3-4):311-345, 2012.
- [154] A. P. Sánchez. A Theory of Sub-Finsler Area in the Heisenberg Group. PhD thesis, Tutfs University, 2017.
- [155] A. Sarti, G. Citti, and J. Petitot. The symplectic structure of the primary visual cortex. *Biol. Cybernet.*, 98(1):33-48, 2008.
- [156] R. Schneider. Convex bodies: the Brunn-Minkowski theory, volume 151 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second expanded edition, 2014.

- [157] H. A. Schwarz. Gesammelte mathematische Abhandlungen. Band I, II. Chelsea Publishing Co., Bronx, N.Y., 1972. Nachdruck in einem Band der Auflage von 1890.
- [158] J. Serrin. The problem of Dirichlet for quasilinear elliptic differential equations with many independent variables. *Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc.* London Ser. A, 264:413-496, 1969.
- [159] J. Steiner. Sur le maximum et le minimum des figures dans le plan, sur la sphère et dans l'espace en général. Second mémoire. J. Reine Angew. Math., 24:189-250, 1842.
- [160] T. Tao. The Brunn-Minkowski inequality in nilpotent groups. Tao's Blog Entry, 16 Sep 2011.
- [161] T. Tao. Spending symmetry. Tao's Wordpress, 14 Feb 2017.
- [162] J. E. Taylor. Crystalline variational problems. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 84(4):568-588, 1978.
- [163] N. T. Varopoulos. Fonctions harmoniques sur les groupes de Lie. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 304(17):519–521, 1987.
- [164] N. T. Varopoulos, L. Saloff-Coste, and T. Coulhon. Analysis and geometry on groups, volume 100 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [165] È. B. Vinberg, editor. Lie groups and Lie algebras, III, volume 41 of Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994.
- [166] R. Young. Harmonic intrinsic graphs in the Heisenberg group. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2012.09754, Dec. 2020.
- [167] R. Young. Area-minimizing ruled graphs and the Bernstein problem in the Heisenberg group. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2105.08890, May 2021.